
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Special Meeting 
Date: Thursday, 18 April 2013 
Time: 
 

6.15 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 3 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
Contact Officer: Andrew Mossop 
Tel: 0151 691 8501 
e-mail: andrewmossop@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
AGENDA 
 
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any 

disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests in connection with 
any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state the 
nature of the interest. 
 

2. MINUTES  
 
 The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 

matters called in will be reported at the meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted. 
 

IMPROVEMENT AND GOVERNANCE 
 
3. REVISIONS TO THE CONSTITUTION (Pages 1 - 242) 
 
FINANCE 
 
4. FINANCIAL MONITORING 2012/13 - REVENUE (MONTH 11) (Pages 

243 - 268) 
 
5. FINANCIAL MONITORING 2012/13 - CAPITAL (MONTH 11) (Pages 

269 - 282) 
 
6. PLANNING THE BUDGET PROCESS FOR THE NEXT BUDGET 

ROUND 2014-17 (Pages 283 - 296) 

Public Document Pack



 
7. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 

(PART 1)  
 
 To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent. 

 
8. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 

PUBLIC  
 
 The following items contain exempt information. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion. 
 

9. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2)  

 
 To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent. 

 
 
 



WIRRAL COUNCIL  

Cabinet 
18 APRIL 2013 
 

SUBJECT: Revisions to the Constitution 

WARD/S AFFECTED: All 

REPORT OF: The Chief Executive 

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER:  

The Leader 

KEY DECISION   No 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report sets out proposals for amending the Council’s constitution to ensure 
that it remains both lawful and fit for purpose. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 
2.1 The council’s constitution was adopted in 2000, in the light of the changes 

introduced by the Local Government Act 2000. This introduced the Cabinet 
system of governance to local authorities. 

 
2.2 This report does not explore whether or not the Cabinet system is the 

appropriate model for the council. It is written on the basis that the Council 
retains a cabinet form of government with significant changes to its scrutiny 
arrangements and area governance. A constitution legally consistent with those 
arrangements is proposed. 

 
2.3 In the last year a number of failures of governance have been addressed by the 

Council. In the course of looking at those matters a commitment has been 
given, through the Council’s Improvement Plan, to review the Council’s 
constitution and scheme of delegation. The Peer Challenge also stressed the 
importance of the constitutional review and specifically a new scheme of 
delegation and member/officer protocols that clarify the demarcation between 
Member and Officer roles and responsibilities. 

 
2.4 The revised constitution is attached with a summary of the amendments from 

the last version set out in Appendix 1. The principles underlying the review 
have been: 

 
• To only make changes where necessary. 
• To ensure compliance with the legal requirements for a Cabinet and 

Leader model of government in the council. 
• To give effect to assurances given to the Improvement Board in relation to 

Delegations in particular. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



• To follow the principles set out in article 1 of the constitution, (set out in 
detail in paragraph 2.23 below). 

 
2.5 The legal framework for the constitutional arrangements is set out in detail 

below. There have been departures from the prescribed arrangements in the 
past, and the need to return to a legal position is explained. 

 
The Executive 
 
2.6 From 2000 the Council has operated executive arrangements. The form of 

executive arrangement is a "Leader and Cabinet executive". In the context of 
executive arrangements, the functions of a local authority are required to be 
divided into "executive" and “non-executive” (also known as "council") 
functions; the former being exercised by the leader, and the cabinet, the latter 
by full council or committees of the Council. 

 
2.7 The division of functions is determined partly by statute, and partly by the 

authority itself, in accordance with the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000/2853). 

 
• The "council" functions under the Regulations cover determination of the 

authority's "policy framework" (strategic policies and plans) and annual 
budget (albeit this can be shared with the Cabinet); the authority's 
constitution; matters concerning licences, approvals, or consents, and 
their enforcement; or, electoral arrangements. The most notable service 
provided by a council, rather than by the executive, is development 
control. 

 
• The executive functions comprise all functions not allocated to the council 

by the regulations, and other functions where the authority has discretion 
and chooses to exercise them through the executive. The main provision 
of services (e.g. housing, adult social care, children's services, waste, 
roads and traffic, leisure services) will generally be executive functions. 

 
2.8 The Leader is not directly-elected, but is chosen by the full council. He or she 

may be removed by the full council.  The Leader formally discharges the 
executive functions of the council, by delegating them to councillors whom he 
or she appoints to the cabinet; or to committees of the cabinet, or (as in the 
case of the great majority of routine or professional functions) to officers. 

 
The important issues to note are that: 

 
• There is strict division of role and functions, defined by statute, between 

the Cabinet and Council. 
• The Council appoints the Leader. 
• The Leader appoints his/her cabinet members. 
• The Leader determines the responsibilities of the cabinet members 

(portfolios). 
• The Leader determines the level and nature of delegations to: 

o The Cabinet 
o Cabinet Members (Portfolio Holders) 

Page 2



o Officers 
o Area Committees 

 
2.9 In the current constitution this arrangement has become confused and the 

proposed amendments seek to restore the legal position. In particular it seeks 
to restore the nature of the Leader’s responsibilities and accountability. 

 
2.10 This does give a lot of power to a ‘Leader and Cabinet’. However, strong 

scrutiny arrangements holding members of the cabinet to account combined 
with questions and answers at full council provide public accountability and 
checks and balances. 

 
Scrutiny 
 
2.11 Local authorities operating executive arrangements (otherwise known as a 

‘Leader and Cabinet’), must make provision for overview and scrutiny 
committees with the following powers to: 

 
• review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 

with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the 
executive; 

• make reports or recommendations to the authority (i.e. the full council) or 
the executive with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive; 

• review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection 
with the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the 
executive; 

• make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive with 
respect to the discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility 
of the executive; or 

• make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive on 
matters which affect the authority's area or the inhabitants of that area. 

 
2.12 Wirral’s existing constitution confuses scrutiny committees with decision 

making committees. The proposed revisions simplify arrangements and allow 
members undertaking scrutiny to operate in whatever reasonable manner 
they feel appropriate, depending on the matter in hand. 

 
2.13 The scrutiny function has been reviewed to ensure that it is a vital component 

of good governance. and that it harnesses the potential for significantly 
improving the quality of council decision-making, service provision and cost-
effectiveness.  

 
2.14 The proposal is to have three overview and scrutiny committees to be known as 

Policy and Performance Committees, to be aligned with the three strategic 
directorates. There is to be one Co-ordinating Committee responsible for 
overseeing arrangements and allocating cross cutting activities. There will be a 
team of three dedicated Scrutiny officers. It is further proposed that nominated 
senior officers will be assigned to support scrutiny proposals on a cross 
departmental basis. 

 

Page 3



Full Council 
 
2.15 The majority of the council procedures are similar to most councils, there are 

however significant local variations. The council’s procedure rules have clearly 
evolved over time to deal with the complexities of minority and coalition 
administrations, together with elections by thirds.  

 
2.16 There are local provisions which set out arrangements for “objections, 

amendments and comments notified by political groups…” etc.  Notices of 
motion, with a managed process of written amendments, have come to 
dominate the business of the council.  There is very limited challenge to Council 
functions and no opportunity to hold the Cabinet to account. 

 
2.17 The proposed changes to the council procedure are designed: 
 

• To restore the power of members. 
• To improve the spontaneity of questions and discussion: 
• To ensure the Leader and Cabinet Members are accountable to the 

council. 
• To help Council focus attention on the matters which are of most 

relevance to its responsibilities. 
• Introduce a filtering process for notices of motion, modelled on good 

practice in other councils. 
• Clarify the treatment of notices of motion, so that they are not mixed up 

with the other business of the Council. 
• Restore proceedings at Full Council to the arrangements seen in most 

other councils. 
 
2.18 The proposals are: 
 

2.18.1 To introduce written reports to be presented by the Leader, Cabinet 
Members and Chairs of Policy and Performance Committees at the 
Council meeting. The respective lead member can then be questioned 
without notice on those reports by any other member. It is proposed 
that this will essentially be the first significant part of the meeting. The 
rights of minority groups to a fair share of the question time will be 
protected. 

 
2.18.2 To clearly set out those matters which require an explicit Council 

decision, either by way of a recommendation from the Cabinet or 
Committee or which go directly to the council with a report from 
officers. 

 
2.18.3 That the process for notifying amendments, comments etc on the 

minutes is substantially removed. Comments will come by way of 
questions. Amendments to minutes where a decision has already been 
taken under delegated power is not appropriate. There are other 
constitutional ways to challenge through scrutiny and call-in (in 
exceptional cases). 

 

Page 4



2.18.4 That notices of motion will be referred in the first instance to the 
responsible body. For example a notice relating to a cabinet matter will 
be referred to the Leader for him/her to respond and if necessary invite 
the individual member to address the Cabinet. Any subsequent debate 
at Council (if necessary) would then take place with a report from 
Cabinet. Notices will no longer be the primary business of Full Council.  
This process can be varied for matters of urgency. 

 
2.18.5 That papers for Council will be simplified with only one set of papers 

supporting the summons, (as is usual in most councils). 
 

2.18.6 That the Council meeting in the Autumn will be a ‘Policy Council’ to 
consider and approve the forward plan and the planning framework in 
preparation for the forthcoming budget proposals. 

 
2.18.7 The order of business at a council meeting would then be: 
 

  (a) to choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
are absent; 

 
  (b) to receive the Mayor's announcements; 
 
  (c) to deal with any business required by statute to be done before 

any other business; 
 
  (d) to receive petitions without debate in accordance with Standing 

Order 21; 
 
  (e) to deal with questions from members of the public in 

accordance with the procedure set out in Appendix 1 to these 
standing orders; 

 
  (f) to approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last 

meeting of the Council; 
 
  (g) to dispose of business (if any) remaining from the previous 

meeting; 
 
  (h) To receive the written reports of the Leader and the Executive 

Members and the Chairs of the Policy & Performance 
Committees and receive questions and answers on any of those 
reports. 

 
  (i) To consider any recommendations of the Leader/Executive and 

committees which require the approval of the Council; 
 
  (j) To consider any other business specified in the summons;  
 
  (k) to deal with questions in accordance with Standing Order 11; 
 
 

Page 5



  (l) to deal with any references from the Policy and Performance 
Committees; 

 
  (m) to consider and decide upon active petitions referred to Council 

for debate under Standing Order 34(1); on a motion to be 
formally moved by the Mayor and duly seconded to note the 
contents of the petition. 

 
  (n) to deal with any other business, if any, specified in the 

Summons. 
 
  (o) to consider any notices of motion submitted in accordance with 

Standing Order 7 which the Council agrees should be debated 
rather than being referred to the Leader or the appropriate 
committee(s), 

 
Delegations 
 
2.19 The current scheme of delegation has arisen over time and comprises a long 

list of matters which officers can do. Broadly speaking if it is not in the list an 
officer needs authority to proceed. The thresholds vary from delegation to 
delegation with no apparent consistency.  Small matters can be reserved 
exclusively to members while on the other hand large issues can be delegated 
to officers.  The various differences are difficult to reconcile, and would often 
seem to be ad hoc decisions taken in the past to deal with a particular concern. 

 
2.20 The somewhat haphazard nature of the delegations and lack of consistency 

make it difficult for officers to conduct their business effectively and efficiently.  
Perhaps more importantly it makes it difficult to hold officers to effective 
account. 

 
The proposal is to: 
 

• Clearly separate the executive and council delegations. 
• The Leader will decide from time to time what to delegate to whom in the 

way of executive functions, these will be exercised by officers as 
executive functions and recorded as necessary in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000. 

• The Council will delegate non regulatory matters, other than those 
expressly reserved to council, to officers. 

• Regulatory matters such as licensing, planning and trading standards and 
environmental health will remain substantially unchanged. 

• Officers will be accountable to the Policy and Performance Committees 
and the Leader and Cabinet for how they exercise the council and 
executive delegations. 

 
Constituency Committees 
 
2.21 The Council is currently considering future arrangements for Constituency 

Committees co-terminus with constituency boundaries. The revisions in the 

Page 6



constitution reflect this proposal. These would be statutory area committees, 
which are committees established to discharge functions in respect of part of 
the local authority area and whose members are elected for divisions or wards 
falling wholly or part within that part. They will each be supported by a Strategic 
Director assisted by dedicated officers. 

 
2.22 In relation to area committees the Leader and Cabinet and Council have power 

to delegate executive and council functions respectively to area committees.  
The constitution is written to allow this mechanism to be used to delegate 
functions, as appropriate, when the area Constituency Committee arrangement 
is established.  

 
2.23 When the detail of this arrangement is settled and agreed the constitution may 

need to amended to reflect any additional changes. 
 
Keeping Under Review  
 
2.24 The constitution is a living document which needs to be kept under review to 

reflect changes in the council and changes in the way the council delivers 
services and does business. In order to ensure: 

 
• Any changes agreed work as anticipated; 
• Minor changes can be agreed and reflected in the document; 
• The effective working of constitutional arrangements is kept under review. 

 
It is recommended that the Standards Committee is renamed the Standards 
and Constitutional Oversight Committee and terms of reference are extended 
to include: 
 

1. To keep the councils constitutional arrangements under review and to 
make such recommendations to the council as it considers appropriate for 
ways in which it should be amended in order to better achieve the 
purposes set out in Article 1, (set out below at paragraph 2.23). 

2. To oversee and agree such minor changes to the council’s constitutional 
arrangements as are recommended by the Monitoring Officer from time to 
time. 

 
It is further proposed that the Leader’s Board keep the effectiveness of the 
changes under review at their regular meetings. 

 
Relevant Considerations 
 
2.25 The current constitution states at Article 1 that its purpose is to: 
 

(1) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in 
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 

 
(2) support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local authority 

decision making; 
 

(3) help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 

Page 7



 
(4) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

 
(5) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to 

public account; 
 

(6) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were 
directly involved; 

 
(7) ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identified to 

local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and 
 

(8) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 
 
When considering these proposals this list of objectives should be borne in mind. 
 
3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
 
3.1 The current constitution has provisions which are inconsistent with the legal 

framework relating to a cabinet model of governance. This presents a risk of 
challenge unless amended. 

 
3.2 Delegations in the current scheme are unclear and inconsistent which presents 

a risk of challenge. 
 
4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 None 
 
5.0 CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 This report is informed by the views of the Improvement Board, members and 

officers as set out above. 
 
5.2 These proposals have been informed by the feedback from members from the 

five ‘Member Events’ held over the last six months focussed around the 
improvement agenda.  These events have included specific events dealing with 
the role of scrutiny, the role of the local councillor and on 4 April an opportunity 
for detailed discussions and feedback by all members around these proposals. 
The collated feedback from that session and responses to the questionnaire 
are attached as appendix 2. 

 
5.3 The views of the Democracy Working Party which has met on a number of 

occasions have helped inform these proposals.  
 
5.4 The Audit and Risk Management Committee have been expressly consulted on 

the changes to Financial Procedures and Contract Standing Orders, their 
recommendations will be presented to this meeting.  

 

Page 8



5.5 The views of all members will be formally invited before the council meeting 
and those views will be collated and reported to the meeting where this 
recommendation is considered. 

 
6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
 
6.1 None 
 
7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 
 
7.1 The Constituency Committees will provide a strong platform for engaging and 

involving these groups in the future.  
 
8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
 
8.1 While the proposals will require a different level and nature of support to that 

currently provided, that support will come from within existing resources which 
will be realigned to meet the new requirements. 

 
9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  As set out in the report. 
 
10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality 
 
 No because there is no relevance to equality. 
 
11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1  None 
 
12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1  None 
 
13.0  RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

That the Cabinet recommend to Full Council: 
 
13.1 To adopt the revised constitution set as appendix 3 to this report. 
 
13.2 To note that additional consequential changes will need to be made over the 

next year in the light of experience of operating the new Policy and 
Performance Committees and Constituency Committee arrangements. 

 
13.3 The Council to rename the Standards Committee the Standards and 

Constitutional Oversight Committee. 

Page 9



 
13.4 The Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee to have these 

additional responsibilities: 
13.4.1 To keep the councils constitutional arrangements under review and to 

make such recommendations to the council as it considers appropriate 
for ways in which the constitution should be amended in order better to 
achieve the purposes set out in Article 1, (set out below at paragraph 
2.23). 

13.4.2 To oversee and agree such minor and changes to the council’s 
constitutional arrangements as are recommended by the Monitoring 
officer from time to time. 

 
14.0  REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
14.1  To ensure the Constitution remains lawful and fit for purpose 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Stephen Gerrard 
  
 telephone  (0151) 691 8569 
 email stephengerrard@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL 
 
Key Acts 
 
Local Government Act 2000 
 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
 
Key Subordinate Legislation 
 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000/2853) 
 
Local Authorities (Mayoral Elections) (England and Wales) Regulations 2007/1024 
 
Local Authorities (Referendums) (Petitions) (England) Regulations 2011/2914 
 
Local Authorities (Conduct of Referendums)(England) Regulations 2012/323 
 
Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) Regulations 2012/1020 
 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012/2089 
 
Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) 
Order 2012/1022 
 
 

Page 10



 
BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY 
 
Briefing Note  Date 

  

 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

  

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of Amendments 
 

Part Number  Description of revisions 
Article 4 
The Full Council 

Affirming Leader’s responsibility to appoint Cabinet Members and Deputy in accordance with 
statutory provisions 
 

Article 6 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 

To be amended to reflect the proposals for scrutiny arrangements.   Four overview and scrutiny 
committees, comprising a Co-ordinating Committee and three Policy and Performance Committees.  
The three Policy and Performance Committees are to be aligned with the three strategic 
directorates and the Co-ordinating Committee is to be responsible for overseeing arrangements 
and allocating cross cutting activities. 
 

Article 7 
The Executive 

To affirm the responsibility of the Leader to appoint Cabinet Members and arrange delegations as 
he/she thinks appropriate in accordance with statutory provisions 
 

Article 9 
Standards Committee 

1. To amend the delegations to the Standards Committee and to rename it the Standards and 
Constitutional Oversight Committee, to allow the committee to oversee minor amendments 
to the constitution. 

 
2. The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chief Executive will have the power to amend 

the constitution to reflect the organisational and legislative changes subject to reporting 
changes to a meeting of the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee.  All other 
changes to the Articles of Constitution will remain with the Full Council. 

 
Article 10 
Area Committees and 
Forums 

Revised to reflect the creation of 4 area committees, to be known as Constituency Committees, co-
terminus with the constituency areas. 

Article 12 
Officers 

To be amended to reflect new management structure 

P
age 13



Article 13 
Decision making 

Raise the key decision threshold to £500K to reflect cost changes since 2000 when introduced and 
reflecting practice in similar authorities. 
 

Table 1 
Responsibility for 
Local Choice 
Functions 

Local choice functions – these are unchanged 

Table 2 
Responsibility for 
council functions 

Responsibility for council functions.  Apart from amendment to terms of reference of Employment 
and Appointment Committee to reflect previous changes this remains un-amended. 

Table 3 
Responsibility for 
Executive functions 

Confirms that responsibility for executive functions not otherwise assigned by statute or assigned 
as a local choice decision.  (No changes are proposed to current local choicer arrangements). 

Table 4  Statutory and 
Advisory Bodies 
 

Unchanged 

Part 3 Schedule 1 
Cabinet Portfolios 

To make clear that this is a leader decision.  For the moment unchanged but will need to be 
confirmed by leader upon appointment after AGM. 
 

Part 3 Schedule 2  
Scheme of Delegation 
of Non-Executive 
Functions to 
Committees 

Amendments to the terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management to give them  
 

• the delegated responsibility to oversee and agree appropriate robust arrangements for 
Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules. 

• Responsibility for discharging the council’s responsibility as trustee with respect to sundry 
trust to allow decisions to be taken in a timely and regulated fashion. 

 
Otherwise, substantially unchanged apart from some house keeping changes. 
 
 

P
age 14



Part 3 Schedule 3 
Delegations to 
Advisory and 
Statutory Committees  

Unchanged 

Part 3 Schedule 4 
Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers 
 

Divided into parts A and B,  
• Scheme of Delegation of Non-Executive Functions to Officers  
• Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions to Officers 
 

Part 3 Schedule 4A Revised scheme of non-executive delegations to officers of powers other than those reserved to 
Council.  Licensing, planning and other regulatory delegations are left substantially unchanged. 
 

Part 3 Schedule 4B It is for each leader to decide what they wish to delegate when appointed and from time to time 
thereafter.  The current model scheme delegates powers other than those reserved but it will be up 
to each leader to decide if they wish to adopt that or a revised approach. 
 

Schedule 5 
Delegation to 
individual cabinet 
members 

It is for each leader to decide what they wish to delegate when appointed and from time to time 
thereafter.  The current model is the one adopted by the current leader. 

Delegation to 
Planning Officer by 
Council 

A clarification to confirm that preparatory steps for neighbourhood plans can be taken by Chief 
Officer in consultation with relevant members to ensure final neighbourhood plans can be 
determined by Full Council in a timely fashion.  
  

The Employment and 
Appointments 
Committee 

The role of the Committee to be revised as set out. 

Part 4 
Council Procedure 
Standing orders 

To introduce written reports by the Leader, Cabinet members and Chairman of Committees with 
questions without notice. 

 

P
age 15



 To clearly set out those matters which require an explicit Council decision 
 
To remove the process for notifying amendments, comments etc on the minutes is substantially 
removed.   
 
That notices of motion will be referred in the first instance to the responsible body. Any subsequent 
debate at council (if necessary) would then take place with a report. Notices will no longer be the 
primary business of Council.   
 
That papers for Council will be simplified. 
 
That the Council meeting in the Autumn will be a ‘Policy Council’. 
 
The order of business at a Council meeting to be revised. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny  
procedure rules 

In future to be the responsibility of the Co-ordinating Committee to settle and agree from time to 
time. 
 

Petition Scheme Simplified in the light of less prescriptive legislative changes. 
 

Members Role 
descriptions 

A new proposal to help provide some clarity about what members can expect of different roles 
within the council and the support that will attach to that role. This will be an annex to the Protocol 
on Member/Officer Relations. 
 

A number of codes and policies have been removed from the constitution as a tidying up process, while remaining in force 
they have been put in more appropriate places. 

P
age 16



 1 

MEMBER SEMINAR – CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT FEEDBACK 
 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report provides a breakdown and analysis of the feedback received from Elected 
Members on proposals around the Council’s constitution, scrutiny arrangements and 
constituency committees. The feedback was gathered at a seminar held on April 4th 
2013 and an associated questionnaire distributed to all Members. 

 
1.2 Notes and views gathered at the seminar are presented within this report, alongside 

feedback gathered from the questionnaire.  
 
2.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

2.1 38 Elected Members responded to the questionnaire, and 32 Members attended the 
seminar. The political make up of questionnaire responses is shown as follows: 

 

Party 
No of 
Seats 

% of 
Council 

No of 
Responses 

% of 
Response 

Labour 37 56% 26 68% 
Conservative 22 33% 6 16% 
Liberal 7 11% 6 16% 
 66  38  

 
2.2 The table above demonstrates that, while 58% of Members completed a 

questionnaire, 68% of those members were Labour Members (56% of total Members 
are Labour Members), therefore the responses are underrepresented in terms of the 
views of Conservative Members and slightly over represented in terms of Liberal 
Democrat Members.   

 
2.3 The questionnaire further asked Members to identify the ward which they represent, 

which are shown below based on the Parliamentary Constituency they form part of. 
These results demonstrate that Members from Birkenhead and Wallasey 
constituencies provided the highest level of response to the questionnaire. 

 

Constituency No of 
Responses 

Birkenhead 13 
Wallasey 11 
West Wirral 8 
South Wirral 6 

 
3.0 WORKSHOP ONE: THE FUTURE OF SCRUTINY 
 
3.1 The first set of questions, and workshop at the seminar, focussed on the role of 

Scrutiny within the Council. Members were supplied with a report outlining suggested 
changes, focussing on the implementation of ‘policy and performance’ committees 
which would replace the current set of OSC arrangements. 
 
A number of Members submitted their views during the opening of the seminar that 
they believed that a return to the Committee System would be most appropriate the 
Council moving forward.  

Page 17



 2 

3.2 Question One: 
  

What key difference would you like the new arrangements to make? 
 

 This question was included in both the questionnaire and as a key topic for discussion 
for the workshops at the Members seminar.  

 
Feedback received from both the questionnaire and the workshop sessions were 
broadly similar, in that it covered the following topics: 
 

� Opportunities to review and scrutinise policy prior to decision making  and hold the 
executive to account 

� Cabinet Members to attend to hear the views of the Committee on the pre-scrutiny of 
policies 

� Ensure the quality of Council services through mystery shopping and exploring best 
practice elsewhere  

� Opportunities for focussed in depth reviews and task and finish work  
� Clear and consistent approach to work programmes and scrutiny reviews – work 

programme to be determined by Committee members 
� Align the Committees work programme with the Cabinet forward plan 
� Change of culture to trust Officers to deliver and effectively hold them to account 
� Enjoy and benefit from the scrutiny experience 
� Focus on the core business of the Council 
� Clarity of Councillor’s roles in the Policy & Performance Committees and Councillor 

ownership of the review work  
� Communicate committees role to Council employees and support Councillors with 

the right information 
� Committees to be less political and to facilitate scrutiny reviews which breakdown 

party lines 
� Focus more on local issues that local people feel strongly about  
� Process to be led by Councillors and not officers 
� Effective scrutiny of partner organisations on their performance 
� Committees should be proactive rather than reactive 
� Members should respect the work of the Committees and their recommendations 
� Facilitate timely discussions on local and national policy and effectively 

communicate the impact to local residents 
� Enable the work of the committees to support Cabinet to make better decisions 

 
 
3.3 Question Two: 
 

The new model proposes 12 Members per committee. Is this? 
 

Feedback from the Questionnaire: 
 

Answer Options Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Too many? 16.0% 4 
Too few? 0.0% 0 
About right? 84.0% 21 

 

Page 18



 3 

The chart above demonstrates that 83.3% of Members answering this question 
believe that 12 Members per committee is ‘about right’, and no Members believe it is 
too few. A number of Members also made comments about this question, with the 
following points emerging as the main themes: 
 

� The membership of committees should be based on interests, abilities and 
experience of Members, and not be based on ‘making up the numbers’ 

� All Members not part of Cabinet should have a role in ‘scrutiny’ 
� Members should be allowed more freedom to concentrate on Ward issues and 

become ‘Community Champions’ 
� Members not on main committees should be allocated to ‘task and finish’ 

groups on specific tasks or areas of policy 
 
3.4 Question Three: 
 

Policy and Performance Committees can improve the quality of decision making by: 
 

Answer Options Agree Disagree Don't 
know 

Response 
Count 

Holding the Executive to 
account 25 0 2 27 

Holding Partners to account 23 0 2 25 
Horizon-scanning scrutiny 20 1 2 23 
Policy Development and 
Review 25 0 0 25 

Pre-decision scrutiny 25 0 0 25 
Post-decision scrutiny 17 3 1 21 
In-depth reviews 22 0 4 26 
Performance management 
and improvement 19 0 2 21 

 
The chart demonstrates that most Members believe all of the options provided could 
be improved through policy and performance committees. A number of Members 
made further comments to this question, the main themes emerging were: 
 

� Members must not be overloaded, and time must be used effectively. 
� Pre-decision scrutiny is important, to ensure the system is pro-active and not 

re-active 
� We must utilise the skills and abilities of Members to the highest level  

 
3.5 Question Four: 
 

How can Policy and Performance Committee Members time be used most effectively? 
Please rate 1 – 6 (1 being most important). 

 
 This question was included in both the questionnaire and as a key topic for discussion 

for the workshops at the Members seminar.  
 

Feedback from Questionnaire: 
 

Page 19



 4 

Answer Options 1 2 3 4 5 6 Average 
Rating 

In-depth reviews 7 2 4 3 1 7 3.42 
Mystery shopping 4 1 6 2 6 3 3.64 
Committee meetings in the Town Hall 2 3 9 4 2 3 3.43 
Task & Finish Rapid Reviews 6 3 2 3 3 8 3.72 
Meeting service users in their communities 8 2 1 0 3 10 3.75 
Working with partners to maximise 
outcomes 7 3 0 3 4 7 3.63 

 
The table displays the average rank each option was given by Members, and 
demonstrates a mixed view from Members as to the best use of the committees’ time, 
with an almost equal number of Members stating each individual option was either the 
best or worst use of their time within policy and performance committees. A number of 
Members also made comments on this question, the main themes to emerge included: 
 

� Quality officer support is needed for the committees to be effective 
� Gathering information and undertaking detailed reviews into policy and services 
� Moving the meetings away from the Town Hall and getting the community and 

front line staff more involved in the process 
 
Feedback from the Workshops 
 

The following themes were discussed: 
 

� Focussed agendas with fewer items – prioritise six to eight work reviews annually 
� Cross cutting reviews, for example Adults and Children’s social care 
� Create task and finish groups with all party members which report to the wider 

committee  
� Effective support from Council officers 
� Provide opportunities for all Councillors to give their views on the committee 
� Provide clear and transparent information including the performance of Council 

services 
� Gather evidence as opposed to sitting in committee meetings 
� Implement robust project management arrangements 
� Bring in experts and evidence from outside bodies 
� Engage and consult with users of Council services to understand the customer 

perspective 
� Ability to questions Cabinet Members on projects and reports 
� Training may be required to support Councillors in the new arrangements and match 

Councillors skills with work areas 
 

3.6 Question Five: 
 
What information do Policy and Performance Committee Members need to hold 
Cabinet to account? 
 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Performance 96.4% 27 
Financial 96.4% 27 

Page 20



 5 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Complaints 75.0% 21 
Risk 85.7% 24 
Other (please state) 25.0% 7 

 
This chart demonstrates that there is no clear consensus on one overall priority for 
what is needed, but does demonstrate agreement that financial and performance 
related information is important. Members who commented on this question stated 
that: 
 

� The Corporate Plan and departmental work plans, as well as the ability to 
request any information they require from departments and teams. 

� Information which demonstrates value for money, along with comparative and 
benchmarking data 

� Information on future policy requirements and clarity on the future role of Audit 
within the Council  

 
3.7 Question Six: 

 
Should Cabinet Members attend Policy and Performance Committee meetings? 

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Always 48.3% 14 
Never 0.0% 0 
Sometimes 51.7% 15 

 
 

The chart demonstrates that while Members believe Cabinet Members should attend, 
there is a mixed view on whether they should attend always or only on occasion or 
when required. The comments made by Members in this area further support both of 
these views. 
 

4.0  CONSTITUENCY COMMITTEES 
 
4.1 The first set of questions, and workshop at the seminar, focussed on the proposals 

around the implementation of Constituency Committees. Members were supplied with 
a report outlining suggested changes. 

 
4.2 Question One: 
 

Should all Councillors be Members of Constituency Committees? 
 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Yes 85.7% 24 
No 10.7% 3 
Maybe 3.6% 1 

 
The chart demonstrates that the majority of Members believe all Members should be 
on the Committee. This view is supported by comments to this question, a number of 

Page 21



 6 

which suggest that a potential alternative would be one Member per Ward being on 
the Committee, which would be rotated between Members within each Ward.  
 

4.3 Question Two: 
 

Should Community Representatives / Groups be Members of Constituency 
Committees? 

 
 This question was included in both the questionnaire and as a key topic for discussion 

for the workshops at the Members seminar.  
 

Feedback from Questionnaire: 
 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Yes 62.1% 18 
No 0.0% 0 
Maybe 37.9% 11 

 
 

The chart shows that no Members believe community representatives should not be 
part of the Committee. Members made a number of comments on this question, which 
can be summarised as follows: 
 

� Community reps must be ‘true’ community reps, and represent constituted and 
representative groups.  

� Community reps could be called on as and when necessary, rather than being 
a full time member of the committee.  

 
 Feedback from the Workshop 
 

� There should be involvement / representation from the community and other 
public service providers 

� Community representatives require a mandate from the local community and 
should not represent marginal or self interests 

� A voting system will be required for electing community representatives 
� Councillors should represent local interest effectively – Councillors are elected 

and accountable to local communities whereas community representatives are 
not 

� Constituency Committees need to operate significantly differently to Area Forums 
� Engage with the wider community with meetings orientated around social events 

to attract more local interest from all parts of Wirral’s communities 
� Hold the committees in different locations to ensure they are accessible to all 

local residents  
� A range of formats will be required to advertise and communicate the meetings 
� Full consideration of equality and diversity within local communities 
� Learn from others – for example voluntary, community and faith groups 
� Terms of reference need to clarify voting procedures for community 

representatives with clear legal framework and guidance 
� Additional resources could be allocated to the committees from other public 

sector organisations and voluntary, community and faith groups 

Page 22



 7 

� Opportunities should be provided for smaller community group meetings to 
enable all parts of the community to have their say  

� One community representative per ward should be a member of the committee 
� Ensure effective training is provided to community representatives 

 
4.4 Question Three: 
 

Should community representatives / groups have voting rights as Constituency 
Committee Members on non-financial matters?  

 

Answer Options Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Yes 48.3% 14 
No 17.2% 5 
Maybe 34.5% 10 

 
 The chart shows that most members either agree or are undecided on this issue, with 

the comments received from the question further strengthening this view. Members 
stated similar views to the previous question, regarding ensuring community reps are 
truly representative, and other Members stating that they should be allowed to vote 
but careful thought needs to be given into the mechanism and protocol.  

 
4.5 Question Four: 
 

As well as constituency committees, what other forums should be in place for 
communities to discuss local issues with their Councillors? 

 

Answer Options Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Public Meetings 96.6% 28 
Surgeries 93.1% 27 
Email 89.7% 26 
Telephone 86.2% 25 
Online channels 62.1% 18 
Other (please state) 17.2% 5 

 
 The chart demonstrates that members agree that many of the suggested forums were 

beneficial to engage with communities. Comments were received stating that all 
possible methods for engaging with communities should be in place.  

 
4.6 Question Five: 
 

How should we be working with partner organisations to engage with local 
communities? 

 
Members made a number of suggestions in this area, with some highlighting that in 
their areas this already works extremely well. The main themes from the other 
suggestions include: 
 

� Scheduling regular, joint public meetings to talk with communities 
� Working together with partners on specific problems and issues in local 

communities 

Page 23



 8 

� Sharing financial resources, and implementing ‘match’ funding to tackle joint 
responsibilities 

� Sharing community networks and contacts to ensure the highest levels of 
engagement 

 
4.7 Question Six: 
 

£50,000 will be devolved per Committee in 2013/2014 to focus on reducing 
inequalities – which priorities should this budget be allocated to? 

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Small Grants Programme 46.4% 13 
Spent on Constituency Plan 
Priorities 

75.0% 21 

Other (Please State) 3.6% 1 
 

The chart shows that most Members believe funding for committees should be spent 
on priorities in that area. Comments in this area suggested that the funding should be 
flexible according to local need, as defined by the committee.  
 

4.7 Question Seven: 
 

This question was focussed on at the workshop session with Members but was not 
included in the Questionnaire.  
 
What should the role of Councillors be on Constituency Committees? 

  
 The following themes were discussed: 
 

� Act as community champions to promote community interests and address real 
problems 

� Engage and facilitate local communities to inform and shape policy decisions 
through  

� Promote and encourage local residents and communities to be involved 
� Galvanise local residents and represent all issues not just marginal interests 
� Foster good relationships with the voluntary, community and faith sector 
� Listen to users of Council services and use these findings to inform plans and 

decisions 
� Take decisions on financial matters 
� A strong chairperson will be required and consider a rotation system for 

Councillors to be represented on the committees 
� One Councillor from each ward should be represented on the Constituency 

Committee 
� Clear terms of reference for the constituency committees with clear objectives 

and purpose 
� Develop a constituency plan based on local priorities – annual general meeting to 

agree the plan and priorities 
� Clear policies in place for consulting local residents 
� Clear governance arrangements for decision making – all Councillors present for 

decisions 

Page 24



 9 

� Effective officer support will be required for the committees including audit 
arrangements 

� Appropriate time will be required to establish the committees to ensure effective 
governance arrangements are in place and to develop a constituency plan 

� Visit other local authorities to learn from their experiences 
� Committees will require delegated powers to have real power and influence 
� Chair and vice chair should be elected and accountable with job descriptions and 

clear expectations 
� Chair should rotated with community representatives also provided the 

opportunity to chair meetings 
� Concern that the size of the committees will be too big to reflect the differences 

within the area 
  
5.0  COUNCIL CONSTITUTION 
 
5.1 The final set of questions, and workshop at the seminar, focussed on developing and 

updating the Council’s constitution. Members were provided a report outlining a series 
of proposals for changes to the Council meeting itself and the constitution.  

 
5.2 Question One: 
 

What time should Council meetings start? Currently 6.15pm or 7pm for AGM   
 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
2.00pm 10.7% 3 
4.00pm 3.6% 1 
5.00pm 14.3% 4 
6.00pm 42.9% 12 
6.15pm 28.6% 8 
Other (please state) 0.0% 0 

 
The chart shows that most Members would prefer Council to start at 6pm, or to keep 
to the current start time of 6.15pm. Concern was expressed at the suggestion of 
earlier start times due to Councillors being in full time employment and the impact it 
would have on the ability for the public to attend the meetings.  
 

5.3 Question Two: 
 

How do you feel Council meetings could be made to be a more positive experience? 
 
 This question was included in both the questionnaire and as a key topic for discussion 

for the workshops at the Members seminar.  
 

Feedback from Questionnaire: 
 
Members made a number of comments in this area, which primarily focussed on two 
main areas: 
 

� Improving Debate: Members believed that by reducing the number of notices of 
motion before Council, and amending the agenda to ensure only items within 

Page 25



 10 

the Council’s sphere of influence were debated, would improve the debate and 
usefulness of the meetings. 

� Tackling Behaviour: Members also stated that meetings could be more useful if 
the behaviour within the Chamber was improved and personal and political 
attacks on fellow Members were stopped.  

 
Feedback from the Workshops: 
 
The following themes were discussed: 

 
� Provide an opportunity to debate and challenge real issues that affect Wirral 

residents in order that the Council considers how to inform and deliver services 
effectively 

� Debate issues that the Council has power to decide on – facilitate relevant and 
meaningful discussions 

� Less political point scoring and less personal and petty comments 
� Councillors to sign up to a code of conduct and discipline Councillors for 

unacceptable behaviour 
� Introduce new system for questioning Cabinet Members 
� Provide effective officer support for Portfolio Holders to report progress 
� Opportunity for questions to be responded to in writing where appropriate 
� Introduce time limits for each report 
� Provide live coverage of Council meetings to ensure that full meetings are shown 

in context 
� Switch off mobile phones ban the use of twitter and facebook in Council meetings 
� Reduce notices of motions which are currently the focus of the Council meeting 

with the majority not debated  
� More time given to the seconder of notices of motion to debate 

 
5.4 Question Three: 
 

How do you feel that Council could become more relevant and better serve local 
residents? 

 
 This question was included in both the questionnaire and as a key topic for discussion 

for the workshops at the Members seminar.  
 

Feedback from Questionnaire: 
 

Comments in this area focussed on improving engagement with the community all 
round, and also providing more focussed (but less) training events. Members also 
mentioned frequently the need for making Council debates relevant to the Council and 
local area, and using the meetings to hold Cabinet Members to account. A number of 
Members also stated that public attendance should be encouraged more through 
more promotion of the meetings.  
 
Feedback from the Workshops: 
 
The following themes were discussed: 
 

� Deal with relevant issues not limited to scoring political points 
� Articulate clearly the case for the local councillor with a clear role description to 

demonstrate to local residents the scope of the work and activity of a Councillor 

Page 26



 11 

� Focus on Council business rather than national issues 
� Enable Policy & Performance Committees and Constituency Committees to 

share important findings to Council and areas of good practice  
� Ensure the Council is customer focussed and the public are involved in 

decision making 
� Create the right environment for local residents to participate and ensure 

everyone is able to take part 
� Gain the trust and confidence of local residents 

 
5.5 Question Four 
 

Would you find it useful if the Council introduced an annual ‘Policy Council’ to debate 
and agree Council priorities to feed into the budget process? 

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Yes 76.9% 20 
No 0.0% 0 
Maybe 23.1% 6 

 
The chart shows that no Members disagree with this proposal, and comments made 
by Members in the questionnaire further support this view.  

 
5.6 Question Five: 
 

Do Council meetings effectively hold the Council leader, Cabinet Member and Chairs 
to account? 

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Yes 3.8% 1 
No 73.1% 19 
Sometimes 23.1% 6 

 
The chart shows that most Members do not believe Council meetings hold the Leader 
or Chairs to account. Comments left in the questionnaire supports this view, with many 
commenting that the current format of the meeting does not allow for effective 
questioning or scrutiny of the relevant portfolio holders, Chairs or Leader.  
 

5.7 Question Six 
 

Should the Leader, Cabinet Members and Chairs of Policy and Performance 
Committees prepare and present reports to Council to facilitate questions from Elected 
Members? 

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Yes 92.0% 23 
No 0.0% 0 
Maybe 8.0% 2 

 

Page 27



 12 

The chart shows that almost all Members believe that this proposal is appropriate. 
Comments received alongside this question all demonstrate strong support.  

 
5.8 Question Seven: 
 

Should the Mayor be given the discretion to extend time for speakers? Currently this is 
a decision for Council.  

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Count 
Yes 22.2% 6 
No 44.4% 12 
Maybe 33.3% 9 

 
The chart demonstrates that most Councillors either disagree or are unsure that the 
Mayor should be given this discretion.  
 

5.9 Question Eight 
 

How can Council procedures be improved for debating notices of motion? 
 
Comments in this area focussed on reducing the number, through introducing a strict 
limit on the number allowed per meeting. More suggestions focussed on re-ordering 
the agenda to introduce Notices of Motion last, and also introducing a triage system to 
prioritise the order in which they are debated. A number of Members also commented 
that Notices of Motion should only be permitted where there is a clear link to Council 
business.  
 

5.10 Question Nine 
 

Should Council normally refer notices of motion to the responsible body before 
debate? 

 
Answer Options 
 
 

Response 
Percent 

Response 
Count 

Yes 55.6% 15 
No 3.7% 1 
Maybe 40.7% 11 

 
The chart shows the majority of Members in agreement with this proposal, with only 
one disagreeing. Comments received in relation to this proposal also show support.  
 

6.0 PLENARY AND OVERALL COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS 
 
6.1 At the event a discussion took place regarding the merits of the Cabinet versus 

Committee system and a desire expressed by some to return to the Committee 
system.  It was acknowledged that there continue to be differing views from 
Councillors, however the event was intended to provide all Councillors with an 
opportunity to engage and inform the proposed revisions to the Council’s constitution 
and decision making arrangements.   

 

Page 28



 13 

6.2 There were also comments on the positive discussions that had taken place at the 
event across all the workshops and how this differed from the debate at Council 
meetings. The event was considered to be successful due to the format and venue 
which provided a relaxed environment and was less confrontational than standard 
Council meetings. 

 
6.3 It was commented that behaviour and trust are important elements of full Council and 

it was considered that the new structures should support improvements in behaviour 
at Council meetings. 

 
6.4 The level of support available from officers for the new arrangements was considered 

to be an important element in implementing the proposals, and a commitment was 
given to ensure that there is effective resource in place.  It was commented that the 
new arrangements must demonstrate and give Councillors the confidence that it 
serves them and local residents effectively. 

 
6.5 The event concluded with comments that generally focussed on the importance of 

Councillors being well informed and trained to run the Council and serve local 
residents.  It was also commented that the necessary steps must be taken to address 
issues and deliver improvements to the Council that local people deserve.  

 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 1 

 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF 

WIRRAL 

CONSTITUTION OF THE 
COUNCIL 
 

Contents 
 
 
Part 1 - Summary and Explanation 3 
 
Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution       
  
 
 Article  1 - The Constitution      
 7 
 Article  2 - Members of the Council     
 8 
 Article  3 - Citizens of the Council     
 10 
 Article  4 - The Full Council      
 11 
 Article 5 - Chairing the Council     
 13 
 Article 6 - Policy and Performance Committees   
 14 
 Article  7 - The Cabinet       
 17 
 Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Committees   
 20 
 Article  9 - The Standards Committee     
 21 
 Article     10 - Area Committees      
 28 
 Article     11 - Joint Arrangements      
 29 
 Article     12 – Officers       
 31 
 Article     13 - Decision Making      
 35 
 Article     14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters   
 37 

Page 31



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 2 

 Article     15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution   
 38 
 Article     16 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication 
                        of the Constitution      
 39 
 Schedule  1 Description of Executive Arrangements   
 40 
 
Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions      
 41 
 
 Table 1 Responsibility for Local Choice Functions  
 42 
 Table 2 Responsibility for Council Functions   
 45 
 Table 3 Responsibility for Executive Functions   
 51 
 Table 4 Statutory and Advisory Bodies    
 52 
 Schedule 1 Cabinet Portfolios      
 56 
 Schedule 2 Scheme of Delegation of (Non-Executive)  
   Functions to Committees     
 57 
 Schedule 3 Delegation to Advisory and Statutory Committees 
 72 
 Schedule 4A Scheme of Non Executive Delegation of Functions to 
Officers 73 
 Schedule 4B Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions to Officers  
 87 
 Schedule 5 Delegation of functions to individual Cabinet members 
 91 
 
Part 4 - Rules of Procedure       
  
 
 Council Procedure Rules – Standing Orders    
 92 
 Access to Information Procedure Rules     
 118 
 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules   
 131 
 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules     
 135 
 Financial Regulations       
 142 
 Contract Procedure Rules       
 188 
 Officer Employment Procedure Rules      
 201 

Page 32



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 3 

 
Part 5 - Codes and Protocols 
  
 Members’ Code of Conduct      
 206 
 Officers’ Code of Conduct       
 212 
 Protocol on Member/Officer Relations     
 215 
 Policy On Unreasonably Persistent Complainants   

 220 
 Policy On Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour   

 220 
 Code of Corporate Governance      

 231 
 Councillor Call for Action        

 242 
 Scrutiny of the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership   

 248 
 Petition Scheme        
 254 
 Scrutiny Call-In Guidelines       
 259 
 
Part 6 - Members’ Allowances Scheme      
 266 
 
 

Page 33



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 4 

THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 
 
 
Wirral Borough Council’s constitution sets out how the Council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that 
these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.  Some of the 
processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to 
choose. 
 
The Constitution is divided into 16 articles which set out the basic rules 
governing the Council’s business.  More detailed procedures and codes of 
practice are provided in separate rules and protocols later on in the document.  
These rules and protocols may be changed more frequently. 
 
What’s in the Constitution? 
 
Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to exercising all its powers 
and duties in accordance with the law and this Constitution. 
 
Articles 2 - 16 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the 
Council operate.  These are: 
 

• Members of the Council (Article 2) 
   

• Citizens and the Council (Article 3) 
 

• The Council meeting (Article 4) 
 

• Chairing the Council (Article 5) 
 

• Overview and scrutiny of decisions (Article 6). 
 

• The Executive (Article 7) 
 

• Other Committees (Article 8) 
 

• The Standards Committee (Article 9) 
 

• Area Forums (Article 10) 
 

• Joint arrangements (Article 11) 
 

• Officers (Article 12) 
 

• Decision making (Article 13) 
 

• Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14) 
 

• Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 15) 

Page 34



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 5 

 
• Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 16) 

 
 
 
 
HOW THE COUNCIL OPERATES 
 
The Council is composed of 66 Councillors with one third elected three years 
in four.  Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward.  
The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a 
special duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote for them.   
 
Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high 
standards in the way they undertake their duties.  The Standards Committee 
trains and advises them on the code of conduct. 
 
All Councillors meet together as the Council.  Meetings of the Council are 
normally open to the public.  Here Councillors decide the Council’s overall 
policies and set the budget each year.  The Council will appoint the Leader 
and Cabinet (the Executive) and hold the Executive to account.  There will be 
an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions at Council 
meetings. 
 
 
HOW DECISIONS ARE MADE 
 
The Executive and its Committee is the part of the Council which is 
responsible for most day-to-day decisions.  The Executive is made up of the 
Leader, who is elected by all Councillors and a Cabinet of 9 Councillors 
appointed by the Leader.  When major decisions are to be discussed or 
made, these are published in the Executive’s Forward Plan in so far as they 
can be anticipated.  If these major decisions are to be discussed with Council 
officers at a meeting of the Executive, this will generally be open for the public 
to attend except where personal or confidential matters are being discussed.  
The Executive has to make decisions which are in line with the Council’s 
overall policies and budget.  If it wishes to make a decision which is outside 
the budget or policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a 
whole to decide.  Throughout this constitution document the terms “Leader 
and Cabinet” or “Cabinet” are used rather than “Executive”.   
 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
There are four Policy and Performance committees who support the work of 
the Executive and the Council as a whole.  They allow citizens to have a 
greater say in Council matters by holding public inquiries into matters of local 
concern.  These lead to reports and recommendations which advise the 
Cabinet and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service 
delivery.  These Committees also monitor the decisions of the Cabinet.  They 

Page 35



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 6 

can ‘call in’ a decision which has been made by the Cabinet or the Executive 
Board but not yet implemented.  This enables them to consider whether the 
decision is appropriate.  They may recommend that the Cabinet reconsider 
the decision.  They may also be consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on 
forthcoming decisions and the development of policy. 
 
 
CONSTITUENCY COMMITTEES 
 
In order to give local citizens a greater say in Council affairs four constituency 
committees have been created.  These are primarily consultative.  They 
involve Councillors and community representatives for each particular area 
and are held in public. 
 
 
COUNCIL STAFF 
 
The Council has people working for it (called ‘officers’) to give advice, 
implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  
Some officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the 
law and uses its resources wisely.  A code of practice governs the 
relationships between officers and members of the Council. 
 
 
CITIZENS’ RIGHTS 
 
Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council.  These are 
set out in more detail in Article 3.  Some of these are legal rights, whilst others 
depend on the Council’s own processes.   
 
Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a 
parent of a school pupil, they have additional rights.  These are not covered in 
this Constitution. 
 
Citizens have the right to: 
 

• vote at local elections if they are registered; 
   

• contact their local Councillor about any matters of concern to them; 
 

• obtain a copy of the Constitution; 
 

• attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees except 
where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being 
discussed; 

 
• petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of Executive;  

 
• submit petitions generally to Councillors or officers on matters of local 

concern; 

Page 36



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 7 

 
• participate in the Council’s question time and contribute to investigations 

by the Policy and Performance committees; 
 

• find out, from the Leader and Cabinet’s forward plan, what major 
decisions are to be discussed by the Cabinet or decided by the Cabinet 
or officers, and comment accordingly; 

 
• see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made 

by the Council and Cabinet, either on paper or electronically where 
reports and decision records are displayed on the Council’s website; 

 
• complain to the Council about any of the Council’s services; 

 
• complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its 

procedures properly.  However, they should only do this after using the 
Council’s own complaints process; 

 
• complain to the Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which they think 

shows that a Councillor has not followed the Council’s Code of 
Conduct; and  

 
• inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the 

external auditor . 
 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work.  For further 
information on your rights as a citizen, please contact the Head of Law and 
Member Services, Town Hall, Brighton Street, Wallasey, Wirral, CH44 8ED, 
telephone number 0151-638 7070, who can let you have a statement of your 
right to inspect agendas and reports and attend meetings. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 8 

 

Article 1 - The Constitution 
 
 
1.1 Powers of the Council 
 
 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with 

the law and this Constitution. 
 
1.2 The Constitution 
 
 This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of Wirral 

Borough Council. 
 
1.3 Purpose of the Constitution 
 
 The purpose of the Constitution is to: 
 
 (1) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community 

in partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 
 
 (2) support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local 

authority decision making; 
 
 (3) help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 
 
 (4) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
 
 (5) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-

makers to public account; 
 
 (6) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which 

they were directly involved; 
 
 (7) ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly 

identified to local people and that they explain the reasons for 
decisions; and 

 
 (8) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the 

community. 
 
1.4 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 
 
 Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different 

courses of action, the Council will always choose that option which it 
thinks is closest to the purposes stated above. 

 
 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution 

as set out in Article 15. 

Page 38



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 9 

 

Article 2 - Members of the Council 
 
 
2.1 Composition and eligibility 
 
 (a) Composition - The Council will comprise 66 members, 

otherwise called Councillors.  Three Councillors will be elected 
by the voters of each ward in accordance with a scheme drawn 
up by the Local Government Commission and approved by the 
Secretary of State.   

 
 (b) Eligibility - Only registered voters of Wirral Borough or those 

living or working there will be eligible to hold the office of 
Councillor. 

 
 
2.2 Election and terms of Councillors 
 
 Election and terms - The ordinary election of a third (or as near as 

may be) of all Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May in 
each year except that in 2013 and every fourth year after there will be 
no regular election.  The terms of office of Councillors will be four years 
starting on the fourth day after being elected and finishing on the fourth 
day after the date of the regular election four years later. 

 
 
2.3 Roles and functions of all Councillors 
 
 (a) Key roles - All Councillors will: 
 
  (i) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a 

number of strategic and corporate management 
functions;  

 
  (ii) represent their communities and bring their views into the 

Council’s decision-making process, i.e. become the 
advocate of and for their communities; 

 
  (iii) deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for 

constituents in resolving particular concerns or 
grievances; 

 
  (iv) balance different interests within the ward and represent 

the ward as a whole; 
 
  (v) be involved in decision-making; 
 
  (vi) be available to represent the Council on other bodies;  

Page 39



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 10 

 
  (vii) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics; and 
 
  (viii) take part in member development and training. 
 
 
 (b) Rights and duties 
 
  (i) Councillors will have such rights of access to such 

documents, information, land and buildings of the Council 
as are necessary for the proper discharge of their 
functions and in accordance with the law. 

 
  (ii) Councillors will not make public information which is 

confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council 
or divulge information given in confidence to anyone 
other than a Councillor or officer entitled to know it. 

 
  (iii) For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” 

information is defined in the Access to Information Rules 
in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 
2.4 Conduct 
 
 Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and 

the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this 
Constitution, and comply with any reasonable request of the Council’s 
Standards Committee. 

 
 
2.5 Allowances 
 
 Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the 

Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

Page 40



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 11 

 

Article 3 - Citizens and the Council 
 
 
3.1 Citizens’ Rights 
 
 Citizens have the following rights.  Their rights to information and to 

participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 (a) Voting and petitions - Citizens on the electoral roll for the area 

have the right to vote and sign a petition to request a 
referendum for an elected mayor form of Constitution. 

 
 (b) Information - Citizens have the right to: 
 
  (i) attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its 

Committees, except where confidential or exempt 
information is likely to be disclosed and the meeting is 
therefore held in private; 

 
  (ii) find out from the Forward Plan what key decisions will be 

taken by the Cabinet and when; 
 
  (iii) see reports and background papers, and any records of 

decisions made by the Council and the Cabinet; and 
 
  (iv) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views 

known to the external auditor. 
 
 (c) Participation - Citizens have the right to participate in the 

Council’s question time and contribute to investigations by 
Policy and Performance Committees.  Citizens have the right to 
submit petitions to Councillors or officers about matters that are 
of local concern. 

 
 (d) Complaints - Citizens have the right to complain to: 
 
  (i) the Council itself under its complaints scheme; 
 
  (ii) the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints 

scheme;  
 
  (iii) the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillors’ 

Code of Conduct. 
 
3.2 Citizens’ responsibilities 
 

Page 41



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 12 

(a) Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or 
officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, 
Councillors or officers. 

 
(b) Citizens are legally required to register to vote and actively encouraged 

to exercise their vote as part of their commitment to citizenship and 
local democracy. 

Page 42



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 13 

 

Article 4 - The Full Council 
 
 
4.1 Meetings 
 
 The full Council will decide the Council’s budget and policy framework. 
 
 (a) Policy Framework - The policy framework means the following 

plans and strategies: 
 

• Council’s Corporate Plan;  

• Children and Young People’s Plan; 

• Sustainable Community Strategy; 

• Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy; 

• Licensing Authority Policy Statement & Statement of 

Principles 

• Local Transport Plan; 

• Plans and strategies which together comprise the Local 
Development Framework;  

 
• Youth Justice Plan;  

 
 (b) Budget - The budget includes the allocation of financial 

resources to different services and projects, proposed 
contingency funds, the Council tax base, setting the Council tax 
and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting 
of virement limits.   

 
 (c) Housing Land Transfer - Housing Land Transfer means the 

approval or adoption of applications (whether in draft form or 
not) to the Secretary of State for approval of a programme of 
disposal of 500 or more properties to a person under the 
Leasehold Reform Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 
or to dispose of land used for residential purposes where 
approval is required under section 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 
1985. 

 
4.2 Functions of the full Council 
 
 Only the Council will exercise the following functions: 

Page 43



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 14 

 
 (a) adopting and changing the Articles of the Constitution; 
 
 (b) approving or adopting the policy framework, the budget and any 

application to the Secretary of State in respect of any Housing 
Land Transfer;   

 
 (c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules, making decisions about any 
matter in the discharge of an Executive function which is 
covered by the policy framework or the budget where the 
decision maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be 
contrary to the policy framework or contrary to, or not wholly in 
accordance with, the budget; 

 
 (d) appointing the Leader;  
  
 (e) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for 

committees, deciding on their composition and making 
appointments to them; 

 
 (f) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the 

appointment is an Executive function or has been delegated by 
the Council; 

 
 (g) adopting an allowances scheme; 
 
 (h) changing the name of the area or conferring the title of Honorary 

Alderman or the Freedom of the Borough; 
 
 (i) confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; 
 
 (j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws 

and promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or 
personal Bills; 

 
 (k) all local-choice functions set out in Part 3 of the Constitution 

which the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather 
than the Executive; and  

 
 (l) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 
 
4.3 Council meetings 
 
 There are three types of Council meeting: 
 
 (a) the annual meeting; 
 
 (b) the ordinary meetings; 
 

Page 44



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 15 

 (c) extraordinary meetings; 
 
 and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure 

Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 
4.4 Responsibility for functions 
 
 The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of the Constitution setting 

out the responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Executive. 

Page 45



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 16 

 

Article 5 - Chairing the Council 
 
 
THE MAYOR 
 
5.1 Role and function of the Mayor 
 
 The Mayor and Deputy Mayor will be elected by the Council annually.  

The Mayor and, in his/her absence, the Deputy Mayor will have the 
following responsibilities: 

 
 (1) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to 

interpret the Constitution when necessary; 
 
 (2) to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can 

be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of 
Councillors and the interests of the community; 

 
 (3) to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of 

matters of concern to the local community and the place at 
which members who are not on the Executive or do not hold 
committee chairs are able to hold the Executive and committee 
chairs to account; 

 
 (4) to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 
 
 (5) to act as the Borough’s first citizen and to attend such civic and 

ceremonial functions as the Council and or he/she determines 
appropriate. 

 

Page 46



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 17 

 

Article 6 – Policy and Performance 
committees 
 
6.1 Appointment 
 
The council will annually constitute and appoint four Policy and Performance 
Committee, comprising at least seven councillors, to discharge the functions 
conferred by the Local Government Act 2000 for overview and scrutiny, as 
subsequently amended and associated regulations.    
 
6.2 The four committees will be comprised as follows: 
 

(i) One committee known as the coordinating Committee which will be 
responsible for: 

 
a. Determining the Overview and Scrutiny Rules and operational 

protocols set out in Part 4 insofar as they have not otherwise 
been determined by statute or reserved to the Council. 

b. Determining the overall work programme of the Policy and 
Performance Committees, including ensuring there is an overall 
planned approach to in-depth reviews generated by the 3 
committees. 

c. Allocating responsibilities to the Policy and Performance 
Committeeswhere there is ambiguity or a matter is the concern 
of more than one committees. 

d. Considering any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants 
including matters referred by constituency committees and 
councillor calls for action, and exercise the right to call in, for 
reconsideration, decisions made but not yet implemented by the 
Cabinet. 

e. Approving an overview and scrutiny forward work programme, 
including the programme of any sub-committees it appoints so 
as to ensure that committees’ and sub-committees’ time is 
effectively and efficiently utilised. 

 
(ii) Three committees, to be called Policy and Performance 

Committees, responsible for scrutinising the work of the three 
strategic directorates in accordance with the approved overview 
and scrutiny forward work programme at 6.2(i)(e) above. 

 
6.3 The Policy and Performance Committees will: 
 

(i) perform all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the 
council, including 

 

Page 47



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 18 

(a) the review or scrutiny of decisions made, or other action taken, 
in connection with the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive, 

 
 (ii) The power of an Policy and Performance committee to review or 

scrutinise a decision made but not implemented includes power 
 
  (a) to recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the 

person who made it, or 
 
  (b) to arrange for its function under subsection 6.3(ii)(a), so 

far as it relates to the decision, to be exercised by the 
authority. 

 
  (c)  to make reports or recommendations to the council or the 

executive with respect to the discharge of any functions 
which are the responsibility of the executive, 

 
  (d) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action 

taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions 
which are not the responsibility of the executive, 

 
  (e) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or 

the executive with respect to the discharge of any 
functions which are not the responsibility of the executive, 

 
  (f)  to make reports or recommendations to the authority or 

the executive on matters which affect the authority's area 
or the inhabitants of that area, 

 
 (iii) appoint such sub-committees, task groups and representatives 

on major project boards as it considers appropriate to fulfil those 
functions 

 
 (iv) make reports and recommendations to the Full Council and the 

Cabinet and any relevant partner in connection with the 
discharge of any functions 

 
 (v) foster and encourage an inclusive, structured, non-partisan and 

non-adversarial approach to overview and scrutiny which is 
reliant on evidence rather than anecdote 

 
 (vi) In addition to the above the Policy and Review Committee 

responsible for health scrutiny will: 
 
  (a) review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, 

provision and operation of health services in The 
Borough, including significant change to service provision 
and those jointly commissioned or delivered by the 
council 

Page 48



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 19 

 
  (b) require the attendance of an officer of a local NHS body 

to answer questions and provide explanations about the 
planning, provision and operation of health services in the 
Borough 

 
  (c) require a local NHS body to provide information about the 

planning, provision and operation of health services in the 
Borough, subject to the exemptions outlined in the Health 
and Social Care Act 2001 

 
  (d) participate in cross-boundary overview and scrutiny of 

health services with other local authorities; including the 
establishment of joint committees; or the delegation of 
functions to another local authority 

 
  (e) report to the secretary of state for health: 
 
   (i) where the committee is concerned that 

consultation on substantial variation or 
development of services has been inadequate 

 
   (ii) where the committee considers that the proposal is 

not in the interest of the local health service. 
 
  (f) maintain an overview of the council’s responsibilities and 

role in relation to health and wellbeing 
 
 (vii) The Co-ordinating Committee shall appoint at least two but not 

more than five parent governor representatives to any Forum 
dealing with education matters.  When the Forum deals with 
other matters, these representatives shall not vote on those 
other matters, though they may stay in the meeting and speak.  

 
6.4 Finance 
 
The Co-ordinating Committee will exercise overall responsibility for the 
finances made available to it. 
 
6.5 Proceedings of Policy and Performance Committees 
 
The Co-ordinating Committee  and Forums will conduct their proceedings in 
accordance with the overview and scrutiny procedure rules set out in Part 4 of 
this constitution. 

Page 49



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 20 

Article 7 - The Cabinet 
 

THE ROLE OF THE CABINET 
 
7.1 Role 
 
The Cabinet will carry out all of the local authority’s functions that are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under 
this Constitution. 
 
 
7.2 Form and composition 
 
 The Cabinet will consist of the –   
 
 (i) The Leader of the Council ( “the Leader”); and 
 (ii) at least two but not more than nine Councillors (“other Cabinet 

Members”) appointed from time to time by the Leader, none of 
whom may be either the Mayor or Deputy Mayor at any time 
while being the Leader or other Cabinet Members  

 
7.3 Leader 
 
(i) The Leader will be a Councillor elected to the position of Leader by the 

Council at the Annual Meeting of the Council following elections, if any. 
 
 
(iii) The Leader will hold office as such until or unless – 
 
 (a)  he/she resigns from the office; or 

(b)  he/she is suspended from being a Councillor pursuant to Part III 
(Conduct of local government members and employees) of the 
Local Government Act 2000,   

(c)  he/she ceases to be a Councillor (whether or not by virtue of any                   
enactment relating to the duration, expiry of the term of office or 
retirement of councillors) [see Note below]; or 

(d)  The Council passes a resolution expressly to remove him/her 
from the office of Leader  

 
7.4 Other Cabinet Members. 
 
(i)   Other Cabinet Members shall be appointed and their portfolios and 

functions shall be determined from time to time by the Leader. 
 
(ii)   The power of appointment by the Leader as respects other Cabinet 

Members shall include the power to remove any of them from the 
Cabinet and to determine whether or not to appoint one or more other 

Page 50



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 21 

Councillors in their places (subject in all such  circumstances to the 
limitations upon numbers in paragraph 7.2 (ii) above)  

 
 
(iii)   The Leader may from time to time appoint a Cabinet Member to be 

his/her deputy and the person so appointed shall be known and 
referred to as the Deputy Leader of the Council (“the Deputy Leader”). 

 
(iv) The power of appointment by the Leader of the Deputy Leader shall 

include power to remove him/her from the office of Deputy Leader and 
to determine whether or not to appoint another Cabinet Member 
thereto. 

 
(vi) Subject to paragraphs (i), (ii), (iv) and (v) above, a Cabinet Member 

shall hold office as such until or unless - 
 
 (a) he/she resigns from such office; or 
 (b) he/she is suspended from being a councillor pursuant to Part III 

(Conduct of Local Government Members and Employees) of the 
Local Government Act 2000) (although he/she shall be eligible 
to resume such office on appointment by the Leader at the 
expiry of the period of suspension); or 

 (c) he/she is no longer a Councillor, whether or not by virtue of any 
enactment relating to the duration, expiry of the term of office or 
retirement of councillors” 

 
7.5 Proceedings of the Cabinet 
 

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the 
Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
7.6 Responsibility for functions 
 
(i) The Leader may discharge any executive function, or 
 
(ii)  may arrange for the discharge of any of those functions – 
 
 (a)  by the executive, 
 (b)  by another member of the executive, 
 (c)  by a committee of the executive, 
 (d)  by an area committee, or 
 (e)  by an officer of the authority. 
(iii)  Where any functions may be discharged by the cabinet, then, unless 

the leader otherwise directs, the cabinet may arrange for the discharge 
of any of those functions – 

 
 (a)  by a committee of the executive, 
 (b)  by an area committee, or 
 (c)  by an officer of the authority 
 

Page 51



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 22 

(iv)  where any functions may be discharged by a member of the cabinet, 
then, unless leader otherwise directs, the member who may discharge 
the functions may arrange for the discharge of any of those functions – 

 
by an area committee, or 
by an officer of the authority. 

 
(v)  Where any functions may be discharged by an area committee, then, 

unless the leader otherwise directs, the committee may arrange for the 
discharge of any of those functions by an officer of the authority. 

 
(vi)  Any arrangements made by the leader, executive, member or 

committee for the discharge of any functions by an executive, member, 
committee or officer are not to prevent the leader, executive, member 
or committee by whom the arrangements are made from exercising 
those functions. 

 
(vii)  In this section “area committee”, means 

 
(a)  a committee or sub-committee established to discharge 

functions in respect of part of the area of the authority, and  
(b)  the members of the committee or sub-committee are members 

of the authority are elected for electoral divisions or wards which 
fall wholly or partly within that part.  

 
7.7 Responsibility for Executive functions when no Leader is in post and no 

quorate Cabinet is in office 
 
(i) This paragraph shall apply for any period during which; 
 
 (a)   no Councillor holds the position of Leader; and 
 (b)  Fewer than three Councillors (or such other number of 

Councillors as from time to time shall be the quorum for a 
meeting of the Cabinet) hold the position of Cabinet Member 

 
(ii)  In the circumstances to which sub-paragraph (i) above applies, the 

Chief Executive (or in his/her absence, the Deputy Chief Executive) in 
consultation with the leaders of all political groups represented on the 
Council, shall have delegated authority to act in respect of any 
Executive Function, provided that the Chief Executive or Deputy Chief 
Executive (as the case may be) is of the opinion that to delay acting 
until after the likely conclusion of the period specified in sub-paragraph 
(i) above would not be in the public interest 

 
(iii) All decisions or other action taken by the Chief Executive or the Deputy 

Chief Executive pursuant to sub-paragraph (ii) above shall be promptly 
set out in a written record which shall include the reasons for the 
decision or other action and the conclusions as to the public interest 
which caused such decision or other action to be taken AND all such 
records shall be submitted to the Councillor who next holds the position 

Page 52



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 23 

of Leader as soon as is reasonably practicable after his or her election 
as Leader. 

 

Page 53



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 24 

 
   

Article 8 - Regulatory and other  
                  committees 
 
 
8. Regulatory and other committees 
 
8.1 The Council will appoint the committees set out in the left hand column 

of Table 2 (Responsibility for Council Functions) in Part 3 of this 
Constitution to discharge the functions described in column 3 of that 
table. 

 
8.2 Proceedings of regulatory or other committees:  the committees will 

conduct their proceedings in accordance with the relevant provisions of 
the Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 

Page 54



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 25 

 

 
Article 9 - The Standards Committee 
 
 
9.1  Standards Committee 
 

The Council meeting will establish a Standards Committee, to be 
known as the Standard and Constitutional Oversight Committee. 

 
9.2  Composition 
 

(a)  Membership  
The Standards Committee will be composed of: 

 
• nine Members, not more than one of whom is a member of the 
Executive (other than the Leader) and 

 
• three persons who are not Members or officers of the Council 
(independent persons). 

 
(b)  Independent persons 

Independent members will not be entitled to vote at meetings. 
 

(c)  Chairing the Committee 
The committee chairperson shall be determined by the 
Standards Committee at its first meeting in the Municipal Year. 

 
9.3  Role and Function 
 

The Standards Committee will:- 
 

(a)  promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members, 
Co-Opted Members and church and parent governor 
representatives; 

 
(b)  to advise and recommend to Council the adoption, revision or 

replacement of the Code(s)_of Conduct for Members, Co-Opted 
Members and Officers.  

 
(c)  assist the Members and Co-Opted Members and church and 

parent governor representatives to observe the Members’ Code 
of Conduct; 

 
(d)  monitor and review the complaints made under the Members 

Code of Conduct; including the operation of the Members’ Code 
of Conduct; 

 

Page 55



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 26 

(e)  advise, train or arrange to train Members, Co-Opted Members 
and church and parent governor representatives on matters 
relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

 
(f)  establish, amend or revise arrangements under which 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council 
has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members can be investigated (which shall 
include but not limited to developing and adopting procedures 
and protocols and authorising the Council’s Monitoring Officer to 
make such changes to the arrangements as are considered 
necessary for the effective and timely investigation of 
allegations. 

 
(g)  establish, amend or revise arrangements under which decisions 

on allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the 
Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct can be made (which shall include 
but not limited to developing and adopting procedures and 
protocols and authorising the Council’s Monitoring Officer to 
make such changes to the arrangements as are considered 
necessary for effective and timely decision making. 

 
(h)  support the Monitoring Officer in the exercise of that Officer’s 

ethical standards functions, in particular the duty to establish 
and maintain registers of interests for the Council. 

 
(j)  in relation to Members or Co-Opted Members or church and/or 

parent governor representatives with pecuniary interests, 
putting in place arrangements to grant dispensations, in 
appropriate cases, from the restrictions on speaking and/or 
voting.  

 
(j)  to exercise all other functions of the Council in relation to ethical 

standards, in particular those under Chapter 7 of the Localism 
Act 2011. 

 
(k)  monitoring and reviewing as necessary the operation of whistle-

blowing procedures; 
 
(l)  considering reports arising from external inspections, audit 

investigations, Ombudsman investigations where 
maladministration is found, legal challenges and other sources 
which cast doubt on the honesty or integrity of the Council or its 
Members; 

 
(m)  to consider and make recommendations on such other matters 

as the Committee itself thinks appropriate or which are referred 
to it by Council, which further the aim of promoting and 
maintaining the highest standards of conduct within the Council; 

Page 56



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 27 

 
(n)  approve the payment of compensation involving sums in excess 

of £5,000 (or less, if considered appropriate) to settle 
complaints of maladministration. 

 
(o)  establishing such sub-committees and/or panel as are required 

to discharge its role and the functions as set out in these Terms 
of Reference;- 

 
 (p) To keep the councils constitutional arrangements under review 

and to make such recommendations to the council as it 
considers appropriate for ways in which it should be amended in 
order better to achieve the purposes set out in Article 1, (set out 
below at paragraph 2.23). 

 
 (q) To oversee and agree such minor and consequential changes to 

the councils constitutional arrangements as are recommended 
by the Monitoring officer from time to time. 

 
10.0 Establishment of Panels 
 
(a)  The Standards Committee will establish a: 
 
Standards Panel; and a 
 
Standards Appeals Panel 
 
Terms of Reference of the Standards Panel   

 
1. The Standards Panel will: 
  

(a) Consider only those allegations that an elected or co-opted Member 
of the Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members that are specified in the 
arrangements established under paragraph 9.3(f) above. 

 
(b) Consider and take into account the views of at least one 

independent person before making a decision on an allegation 
(falling within its remit) that the Members’ Code of Conduct has 
been breached. 

 
(b) The Standards Panel after consideration of a complaint may 

(pursuant to paragraph 9.3(g) above):- 
 

(i) ask for additional information on the allegation before 
reaching a decision; 

 
(ii) determine that no action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation(s) made; 
 

Page 57



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 28 

(i) determine that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been 
proved to have been breached;   

 
(c) Where the Standards Panel determines that the Members’ Code of 

Conduct has been breached, it may: 
 
(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning 

letter to the Member reminding him/her of the need to 
comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant 

(whether verbally or in writing) for breaching the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. Should the Member in 
question fail or refuse to do so promptly, the Monitoring 
Officer shall report this fact to the Member’s Political 
Group Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the 

Standards Committee for reference/consideration; and/or 
 

(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that 
disciplinary action should be taken against the Member in 
question and/or that he/she be removed from all (or 
some) outside bodies to which the Member has been 
appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 

Member in question who shall be required to attend. 
Should the Member fail to attend the training arranged, 
the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the 
Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the 
recommendation shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group 
Leader; in the event that the Members in question are both the Political Group 
Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the recommendation shall be 
referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson.  
 

(d) Where the Standards Panel determines that the Members’ Code 
of Conduct has NOT been breached, it may: 

 
(i) recommend, subject to the agreement of the Member 

against whom the allegation(s) has been made, that a 
Council media statement be issued upon the Council’s 
website detailing the nature and outcome of the 
investigation into the allegations made and the decision 
of the Panel. 

 

Page 58



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 29 

(ii) subject to the agreement of the Member against whom 
the allegation(s) has been made, report the Panel’s 
decision to a public meeting of the Standards Committee; 

 
(e) The Standards Panel shall also consider under Sections 1 and 2 

of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989: - 
 

(a)  any application received from any officer of the Council 
for exemption from political restriction in respect of the 
post held by that officer and may direct the Council that 
the post shall not be considered to be a politically 
restricted post and that the post be removed from the list 
maintained by the Council under Section 2(2) of that Act; 
and  

 
b) upon the application of any person or otherwise, consider 

whether a post should be included in the list maintained 
by the Council under Section 2(2) of the 1989 Act, and 
may direct the Council to include a post in that list. 

 
6. Composition 
 

The Standards Panel shall comprise of 3 Members (one Member from 
each of the three main political parties) who shall be members of the 
Council’s Standards Committee (unless an Alternate Member is 
nominated (see below)). 
 
The spokesperson for each political group may nominate an ‘Alternate 
Member’ from his/her political group to sit on a Standards Panel, 
providing that the Member nominated has undertaken the requisite 
training on the Members’ Code of Conduct (and any other training 
required by the Standards Committee). 
 
No Member shall sit on the Standards Panel where he/she has a 
conflict of interest. 

 
 
7. Chair 

 
The Chair shall be appointed by the Standards Panel at each meeting.  

 
Where the Standards Panel is considering an allegation of a breach of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Chair shall not be a Member of the 
same political party of the Member against whom the allegation(s) have 
been made.  

 
8. Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Panel shall be the 3 
Members that make up its composition.   
 

Page 59



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 30 

9.  Frequency of Meetings - The Standards Panel will only meet when 
required to undertake its role and discharge its functions as set out in 
these Terms of Reference. 

 
10. Access to Information – Where the Standards Panel is considering 

allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the Council has 
failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members under 1 (a) above, the matter shall be exempt 
from disclosure under paragraph 7C of the Council Access to 
Information Procedure Rules unless the Standards Panel at its meeting 
considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption outweighs 
maintaining the continued application of the exemption. 

 
 
B. Terms of Reference of the Standards Appeal Panel 
 
1. Where a complainant or Member or Co-opted Member is dissatisfied 

with the determination of a complaint by the Standards Panel, the 
Standards Appeal Panel will convene to re-consider the complaint 
providing that: 

 
a. A request for permission to appeal is first made in writing, 

within 14 days of receipt of the Standards Panel’s Decision 
Notice, to the Monitoring Officer which details the procedural, 
legal and/or evidential issues relied upon in support of the 
request for permission; and 

 
b. The Monitoring Officer being satisfied, having considered the 

views of the independent person, that (i) the request for 
permission raises valid procedural, legal and/or evidential 
issues and matters not previously considered by the 
Standards Panel, and/or that (ii) it is reasonable and 
equitable in all the circumstances of the case that permission 
to appeal be granted. 

 
2. Where the Standards Appeal Panel has been convened pursuant to 

paragraph 1 above, the Standards Appeal Panel shall: 
 

i. Consider the complaint/allegations that an elected or co-
opted Member of the Council has failed, or may have failed, 
to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
ii. Consider and take into account the views of at least one 

independent person before making a decision on an 
allegation (falling within its remit) that the Members’ Code of 
Conduct has been breached. 

 
3. (a) The Standards Appeal Panel after consideration of a complaint may 

(pursuant to paragraph 9.3(g) above:- 
 

Page 60



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 31 

(i) ask for additional information on the allegation before 
reaching a decision; 

 
(ii) determine that no action should be taken in respect of the 

allegation(s) made; 
 
(ii) determine that the Members’ Code of Conduct has been 

proved to have been breached;   
 
(b) Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members’ 

Code of Conduct has been breached, it may: 
 

(i) instruct the Monitoring Officer to write a formal warning 
letter to the Member reminding him/her of the need to 
comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct; and/or 

 
(ii) require the Member(s) to apologise to the complainant 

(whether verbally or in writing) for breaching the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. Should the Member in 
question fail or refuse to do so promptly, the Monitoring 
Officer shall report this fact to the Member’s Political 
Group Leader*; and/or 

 
(iii) report the Panel’s decision to a public meeting of the 

Standards Committee for reference/consideration; and/or 
 

(iv) recommend to the Member’s Political Group Leader* that 
disciplinary action should be taken against the Member in 
question and/or that he/she be removed from all (or 
some) outside bodies to which the Member has been 
appointed; and/or 

 
(v) instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 

Member in question who shall be required to attend. 
Should the Member fail to attend the training arranged, 
the Monitoring Officer shall report this fact to the 
Member’s Political Group Leader*. 

 
* In the event that the Member in question is the Political Group Leader, the 
recommendation shall be referred to the relevant Deputy Political Group 
Leader; in the event that the Members in question are both the Political Group 
Leader and Deputy Political Group Leader, the recommendation shall be 
referred to the next most relevant senior Political Group 
Official/Spokesperson.  
 

(c) Where the Standards Appeal Panel determines that the Members’ 
Code of Conduct has NOT been breached, it may: 

 
(iii) recommend, subject to the agreement of the Member 

against whom the allegation(s) has been made, a Council 

Page 61



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 32 

press release be issued detailing the nature and outcome 
of the investigation into the allegations and the decision 
of the Panel. 

 
(iv) subject to the agreement of the Member against whom 

the allegation(s) has been made, report the Panel’s 
decision to a public meeting of the Council and/or the 
Standards Committee; 

 
 
4. Composition   

 
The Standards Appeal Panel shall comprise of 3 Members (one 
Member from each of the three main political parties) who shall be 
members of the Council’s Standards Committee (unless an Alternate 
Member is nominated (see below)). 
 
The spokesperson for each political group may nominate an ‘Alternate 
Member’ from his/her political group to sit on a Standards Appeal 
Panel, providing that the Member nominated has undertaken the 
requisite training on the Members’ Code of Conduct (and any other 
training required by the Standards Committee). 
 
No Member shall sit on (or otherwise attend, engage or interfere with) 
the Standards Appeal Panel where he/she has a conflict of interest.  
 

5. Chairperson – The Chairperson shall be appointed by the Standards 
Appeal Panel at each meeting. Where the Standards Appeal Panel is 
considering an allegation of a breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, the Chairperson shall not be a member of the same political 
party of the Member against whom the allegation(s) have been made.  
 

7. Quorum  
The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Panel shall be the 3 
Members that make up its composition.   

 
9.  Frequency of Meetings - The Standards Appeal Panel will only meet 

when required to undertake its role and discharge its functions as set 
out in these Terms of Reference. 

 
10. Access to Information – Where the Standards Appeal Panel is 

considering allegations that an elected or co-opted Member of the 
Council has failed, or may have failed, to comply with the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members under 1 (a) above, the matter shall be 
exempt from disclosure under paragraph 7C of the Council Access to 
Information Procedure Rules unless the Standards Panel at its meeting 
considers that the public interest in lifting the exemption outweighs 
maintaining the continued application of the exemption.. 
 

Page 62



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 33 

 

Article 10 - Constituency Committees 
 
10.1 Area Committee  
 

(i) The Council will appoint 4 area committees co-terminus with the 
four constituency boundaries to discharge functions in respect of 
that area of the authority as set out below. 

(ii) The area committees will be known as Constituency 
Committees. 

(iii) The members of the committee will be members of the authority 
who are elected for electoral divisions or wards which fall wholly 
or partly within the wards comprising the area of the committee. 

(iv) The council will at the annual general meeting determine the 
number of members on each area committee and appoint 
members to the committee in accordance with paragraph (iii) 
above. 

 
10.2 Terms of Reference 
 
 (i) To discharge such functions as may be delegated to them from 

time to time by the Executive and/or the Council. 
 
 (ii) To act as a voice for the community with respect to:- 
 

(a) the development of area action plans which reflect the 
needs and priorities of the area; 

(b) issues concerning the environment, traffic, policing, 
education, jobs, health; 

(c) development of the Borough’s Community Strategy 
(d) the quality, range and level of services provided in the 

area by public bodies; 
(e) to provide public bodies with an opportunity to consult 

with local people on the development and delivery of 
plans, programmes and services 

(f) to make recommendations to the Executive in respect of 
the expenditure of any funds allocated to them.  

 
 (iii) The Constituency Committees have an advisory role.  They may 

submit reports on matters of concern locally to the Cabinet or 
Coordinating Committee as the committee deems necessary. 

Page 63



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 34 

 

Article 11 - Joint Arrangements 
 
 
11.1 Arrangements to promote well-being 
 
 In order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of 

its area, the Council or the Executive may: 
 
 (a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
 
 (b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any 

person or body;  and  
 
 (c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any function of that 

person or body. 
 
 
11.2 Joint arrangements 
 
 (a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more 

local authorities and/or their Executives to exercise functions 
which are not Executive functions in any of the participating 
authorities, or to advise the Council.  Such arrangements may 
involve the appointment of a joint committee with these other 
local authorities. 

 
 (b) The Executive may establish joint arrangements with one or 

more local authorities to exercise functions which are Executive 
functions.  Such arrangements may involve the appointment of 
joint committees with these other local authorities. 

 
 (c) Except as set out below, the Executive may appoint only 

Executive members to a joint committee and those members 
need not reflect the political composition of the local authority as 
a whole. 

 
 (d) The Executive may appoint members to a joint committee from 

outside the Executive in the following circumstances: 
 

 -  where the joint committee has functions for only part of the 
area of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of 
the authority by area or population.  In such cases, the 
Executive may appoint to the joint committee any Councillor 
who is a member of a ward which is wholly or partly contained 
within the area; 

   
  the political balance requirements do not apply to such    

appointments. 

Page 64



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 35 

 
 (e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to 

joint committees will be found in the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
 
 
 
 
11.3 Delegation to and from other local authorities 
 
 (a) The Council may delegate non-Executive functions to another 

local authority or, in certain circumstances, the Executive of 
another local authority. 

 
 (b) The Executive may delegate Executive functions to another 

local authority or the Executive of another local authority in 
certain circumstances. 

 
 (c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from 

another local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting. 
 
 
11.4 Contracting out 
 
 The Council, for functions which are not Executive functions, and the 

Executive may contract out to another body or organisation functions 
which may be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order 
under section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or 
under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as the 
Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no 
delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making. 

Page 65



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 36 

 

Article 12 - Officers 
 
12.1 Management structure 
 
 (a) General - The full Council may engage such staff (referred to as 

officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its functions. 
 
 (b) Chief Officers - The full Council will engage persons for the 

following posts, who will be designated chief officers: 
 
  Chief Executive 
  Strategic Director Families and Wellbeing 
  Strategic Director Transformation and Resources 
  Strategic Director Regeneration and Environment 
  Deputy Chief Executive 
  Director of Children’s Services 
  Director of Public Health 
  Director of Adult Social Services 
  Director of Technical Services 
   
 (c) Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer  
 
  The Council will designate the following posts as shown:- 
 

Post Designation 
 
Chief Executive 

 
Head of Paid Service 
 

 
Head of Legal/Member 
Services 
 

 
Monitoring Officer 
 

 
Director of Finance 

 
Chief Finance Officer 
 

 
           Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.2-12.4  

below. 
 

Protocols will be developed to ensure that the Leader and Chief 
Executive negotiate their respective roles early in the relationship and 
that a shared understanding of roles and objectives is maintained.  In 
addition a protocol relating to the role of the Monitoring Officer will also 
be developed. 

 
 (d) Structure - The Head of Paid Service will determine and 

publicise a description of the overall departmental structure of 

Page 66



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 37 

the Council showing the management structure and deployment 
of officers.  This will be published on the Council’s website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
12.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
 
 (a) Discharge of functions by the Council - The Head of Paid 

Service where he considers it appropriate to do so in respect of 
any proposals of his will report to full Council on the manner in 
which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, 
the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of 
functions and the organisation of officers. 

 
 (b) Restrictions on functions - The Head of Paid Service may not 

be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance 
Officer if a qualified accountant.   

 
 
12.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 
 The Monitoring Officer will: 
 
 (a) maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will 

ensure that it is widely available for consultation by members, 
staff and the public; 

 
 (b) make such minor changes to the constitution as are necessary 

to give effect to organisational changes from time to time 
provided the same are reported to the Standards Committee at 
the first available opportunity. 

 
 (c) after consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance 

Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council or to 
the Cabinet in relation to an Executive function if he or she 
considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give 
rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise 
of maladministration.  Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the 
report has been considered;  
 

 (d) contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards 
of conduct through provision of support to the Standards 
Committee;  

 

Page 67



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 38 

 (e) ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons for 
those decisions and relevant officer reports and background 
papers are made publicly available as soon as possible;  
 

 (f) advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with 
the budget and policy framework;  

 
 (g) provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 

decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity, and 
budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors;  

 
 The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head 

of Paid Service. 
 
12.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 
 
 The Chief Finance Officer will: 
 
 (a) after consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the 

Monitoring Officer, report to the full Council, or to the Cabinet in 
relation to a Cabinet function, and the Council’s external auditor 
if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of 
action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful 
and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is 
about to enter an item of account which is unlawful;  

 
 (b) have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs 

of the Council; 
 
 (c) contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in 

particular through the provision of professional financial advice. 
 
 (d) provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take 

decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and 
budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors and the 
elected Leader and will support and advise Councillors and 
officers in their respective roles.  

 
 (e) provide financial information to the media, members of the 

public, relevant third parties and the community. 
 
 
12.5 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and 

Chief Finance Officer 
 
 The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are 
in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed.  

 
 

Page 68



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 39 

12.6 Conduct 
 
 Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol 

on Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
 
12.7 Employment 
 
 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the 

Officer Employment Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
  

Page 69



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 40 

 

Article 13 - Decision Making 
 
13.1 Responsibility for decision making 
 
 The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the 

Council or which individual has responsibility for particular types of 
decisions or decisions relating to particular areas or functions.  This 
record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
 
13.2 Principles of decision making 
 
 All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the 

following principles: 
 
 (a) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the 

desired outcome); 
 
 (b) due consultation and the consideration of professional advice 

from officers; 
 
 (c) respect for human rights; 
 
 (d) a presumption in favour of openness; 
 
 (e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes; and 
 
 (f) Wednesbury reasonableness (i.e. the decision must not be so 

unreasonable that no reasonable Council could have reached it, 
having taken into account all relevant considerations, and 
having ignored irrelevant considerations). 

 
13.3 Types of decision 
 
 (a) Decisions reserved to full Council.  Decisions relating to the 

functions listed in Article 4.2 will be made by the full Council and 
not delegated. 

 
 (b) Key decisions are those as defined in regulation 8 of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 

 
  (i) A “key decision” means an Executive decision, which is 

likely - 
 
   (a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure 

which is, or the making of savings which are, 
significant having regard to the relevant authority’s 

Page 70



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 41 

budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates; or  

 
   (b) to be significant in terms of its effect on 

communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more wards or electoral 
divisions in the area of the relevant local authority; 

 
   subject to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State 

in relation to the meaning of significant. 
 
  (ii) In the absence of such guidance, a key decision is  
 

(a) any decision of the Cabinet incurring expenditure 
or making savings in excess of 10% of the relevant 
budget head or £500,000, whichever is the 
smaller, unless  

 
 (i) the specific expenditure or saving has 

previously been agreed in full Council or 
 
  (ii) it is a decision taken in accordance with the 

Council’s Treasury Management Policy 
 
OR 
 

(b) any decision of the Cabinet which, in the view of 
the Leader, will have a significant effect on a 
significant number of people. 

 
 

   In addition to the above, and for the avoidance of doubt, 
any decision approving proposals for the making of a plan 
or budget which requires the approval of full Council shall 
be treated as a key decision. 

 
  (iii) A decision-taker may only make a key decision in 

accordance with the requirements of the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 
13.4 Decision making by the full Council 
 
 Subject to Article 13.8, the Council meeting will follow the Council 

Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when 
considering any matter. 

 
 
13.5 Decision making by the Executive 
 

Page 71



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 42 

 Subject to Article 13.8, the Executive will follow the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering 
any matter. 

 
13.6 Decision making by Policy and Performance Committees 
 
 Policy and Performance Committees will follow the Overview and 

Scrutiny Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when 
considering any matter. 

 

Page 72



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 43 

13.7 Decision making by other committees and sub-committees 
established by the Council 

 
 Subject to Article 13.8, other Council committees and sub-committees 

will follow those parts of the Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 
of this Constitution as apply to them. 

 
 
13.8 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals 
 
 The Council, a committee or sub-committee, councillor or an officer 

acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner or 
determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) 
the civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any 
person will follow a proper procedure which accords with the 
requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in 
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 

Page 73



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 44 

Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and 
Legal Matters 

 
14.1 Financial Management 
 
 The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in 

accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
 
14.2 Contracts 
 
 Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts 

Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
 
14.3 Legal proceedings 
 
 The Head of Legal/Member Services is authorised to institute, defend 

or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case 
where he/she considers that such action is necessary to protect the 
Council’s interests. 

 
 
14.4 Authentication of documents 
 
 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 

proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Head of 
Legal/Member Services or other person authorised by him/her, unless 
any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person.   

 
 Any contract with a value as specified in the Contract Procedure Rules 

entered into on behalf of the local authority in the course of the 
discharge of an Executive function shall be made in writing.  Such 
contracts must either be signed by at least two officers of the authority 
or made under the common seal of the Council attested by at least one 
officer. 

 
14.5 Common Seal of the Council 
 
 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the 

custody of the Head of Legal/Member Services.  A decision of the 
Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any 
document necessary to give effect to the decision.  The Common Seal 
will be affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Head of 
Legal/Member Services should be sealed.  The affixing of the Common 

Page 74



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 45 

Seal will be attested by the Head of Legal/Member Services or some 
other person authorised by him/her. 

  

Page 75



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 46 

 

Article 15 - Review and Revision of the 
                                   Constitution 
 
 
15.1 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 
 
 The Head of Legal/Member Services (Monitoring Officer) in association 

with the Cabinet or the Executive Board will monitor and review the 
operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of 
the Constitution are given full effect. 

 
15.2 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of Constitution by Monitoring 

Officer  
 
 A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and 

weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make 
recommendations for ways in which it could be amended in order 
better to achieve the purposes set out in Article 1.  In undertaking this 
task the Monitoring Officer may: 

 
 (1) observe meetings of different parts of the member and officer 

structure; 
 
 (2) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
 
 (3) record and analyse issues raised with him/her by members, 

officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and  
 
 (4) compare practices in this authority with those in other 

comparable authorities or with national examples of the best 
practice. 

 
 
15.3 Changes to the Constitution  
 
 (a) Approval - Changes to the Articles of the constitution will only 

be approved by the full Council after consideration of a proposal 
by the Monitoring Officer, and the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee or Standards of Governance Committee as 
appropriate.  Amendments will be submitted to and considered 
by the annual meeting of the Council, unless otherwise required 
by the Monitoring Officer, after consultation with the Cabinet or 
the Executive Board and/or the relevant Policy and Performance 
Committee. 

 
 (b) Change from a Leader and Cabinet form of Executive to 

alternative arrangements - The Council must take reasonable 

Page 76



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 47 

steps to consult with local electors and other interested parties 
in the area when drawing up proposals. 

Page 77



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 48 

 

Article 16 - Suspension and 
Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution 

 
 
16.1 Suspension of Constitution 
 
 (a) Limit to suspension - The Articles of this Constitution may not 

be suspended.  The Rules specified below may be suspended 
by the full Council to the extent permitted within those Rules and 
the law. 

 
 (b) Procedure to suspend - Any suspension of any of the Rules 

must be in accordance with the Council’s Procedural Rules. 
 
 
16.2 Interpretation 
 
 The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of this 

Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be 
challenged at any meeting of the Council.  Such interpretation will have 
regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1. 

 
 
16.3 Publication 
 
 (a) Head of Legal and Member Services will give a printed copy of 

this Constitution to each member of the Authority upon delivery 
to him/her of that individual’s declaration of acceptance of office 
on the member first being elected to the Council. 

 
 (b) Head of Legal and Member Services will ensure that it will be 

available electronically on the Council’s website and copies can 
be purchased by members of the local press and the public on 
payment of a reasonable fee.   

 
 

Page 78



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 49 

Schedule 1: Description of Executive  
                     Arrangements 
 
 
The following parts of this Constitution constitute the Executive 

Arrangements:- 
 
1. Article 6 (Policy and Performance Committees) and the Overview and 

Scrutiny Procedure Rules; 
 
2. Article 7 (The Executive) and the Executive Procedure Rules; 
 
3. Article 10 (Area Committees and Forums) - Councils should make clear 

the extent to which they apply, i.e. where area committees have 
functions delegated to them by the Executive; 

 
4. Article 11 (Joint Arrangements) - Councils should make clear the extent 

to which they apply, i.e. where joint committees have functions 
delegated to them by the Executive; 

 
5. Article 13 (Decision Making) and the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules; 
 
6. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions). 
 

Page 79



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 50 

 

Responsibility for Functions 
 
The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 as amended specify which functions are not to be the responsibility of 
the Executive, which may (but need not) be the responsibility of the Executive 
(the ‘local choice functions’) and which are to some extent the responsibility of 
the Executive.  All other functions not so specified are to be the responsibility 
of the Executive.  The executive arrangements in the Constitution indicate 
how the responsibility for all these functions is allocated so that it is clear 
whether: 

(iii) they are the responsibility of the Council and/or its Committees; or 

(iv) they are the responsibility of the Executive; or 

(v) they are, or are not, the responsibility of the Executive to a specified 
extent. 

The tables below provide a means of meeting this requirement. Table 1 
covers local choice functions. Table 2 covers functions which are not the 
responsibility of the Executive. Table 3 covers Executive responsibilities. 

Page 80



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 51 

 

Table 1.  

RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 

The detailed functions in Table 1 and those which are delegated on to a 
committee of the Executive, a committee of the Council or any officer are set 
out in the Schedules to Part 3 of the Constitution. 

Function Decision 
Making Body 

Membership Delegation of 
Functions 

1.     Any function under a 
local Act other than a 
function specified or 
referred to in Regulation 
2 or Schedule 1 of the 
Functions Regulations. 

The Council  Functions which are 
delegated onwards 
are set out in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

2. The determination of an 
appeal against any 
decision made by, or on 
behalf, of the Authority. 

The Council  Functions which are 
delegated onwards 
are set out in Table 
4. 

3. Making arrangements 
for school admission 
appeals. 

Parental 
Appeals Panel 

3 
Independent 
Members 

To promote parental 
choice and ensure 
that as many 
parents as possible 
are offered a school 
place which they will 
consider satisfactory 
for their child.  
Where parents are 
dissatisfied they 
have a right of 
appeal.  

4. Making arrangements 
for appeals against 
exclusion of pupils. 

Parental 
Appeals Panel 

3 
Independent 
Members 

To hear appeals 
against the 
permanent 
exclusion of a pupil 
from any maintained 
school.  

5. Questions on Police 
matters (Section 20 
Police Act 1996). 

The Council   

6. Arrangements for the 
appointment of 
members of Police 
Authorities. 

The Council   

Page 81



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 52 

Function Decision 
Making Body 

Membership Delegation of 
Functions 

 

 

7. Any function relating to 
contaminated land. 

The Executive  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 
 

8. The discharge of any 
function relating to the 
control of pollution or 
management of air 
quality. 

The Executive  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

9. The service of an 
abatement notice in 
respect of a statutory 
nuisance. 

The Council  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 
 

10. The passing of a 
resolution that 
Schedule 2 of the Noise 
and Statutory Nuisance 
Act 1993 should apply 
to  the authority’s area. 

The Executive  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

11. The inspection of the 
authority’s area to 
detect any statutory 
nuisance. 

The Council  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

12. The investigation of any 
complaint as to the 
existence of a statutory 
nuisance. 

The Council  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

13. The obtaining of 
information under 
Section 330 of the 
Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as to 
interests in land. 

The Council  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

14. The obtaining of 
particulars of persons 
interested in land under 
Section 16 of the Local 

The Council  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

Page 82



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 53 

Function Decision 
Making Body 

Membership Delegation of 
Functions 

Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

 

15. The making of 
agreements for the 
execution of highways 
works. 

The Executive  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

16. The appointment of any 
individual:- 

(a) to any office other than 
an office in which he is 
employed by the 
authority;  

(b) to any body other than:- 
(i) the authority; 
(ii) a joint committee 
of two or more 
authorities; or 

(c) to any committee or 
sub-committee of such 
a body,  

 and the revocation of any 
such appointment. 

The Council  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in Table 4 
and the Schedules 
to Part 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17. The making of 
agreements with other 
local authorities for 
placing of staff at the 
disposal of other local 
authorities. 

The Executive  Details of onward 
delegation are 
shown in the 
Schedules to Part 3. 

18.      To consider and 
determine statutory 
proposals relating to the 
establishment and 
discontinuance of 
schools, prescribed 
alterations and 
transitional 

The Executive   

Page 83



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 54 

Function Decision 
Making Body 

Membership Delegation of 
Functions 

arrangements in 
accordance with the 
Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 

 

Page 84



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 55 

Table 2  

RESPONSIBILITY FOR COUNCIL FUNCTIONS 

It is a matter for local choice having regard to the statutory Guidance whether 
the Council has separate committees for the functions below.  

The detailed functions in this table and those which are delegated on to an 
officer are set out in the Schedules to Part 3 of this Constitution.  

The detailed functions in this table and those which are delegated on to an 
officer are set out in the Schedules to Part 3 of this Constitution.  

Committee Membership Functions Onward 
Delegation of 
Functions 

Planning 
 
  

11 Members 
of the 
Authority 

Planning and conservation  
Functions relating to town and 
country planning and 
development control as 
specified in Schedule 1 to the 
Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 (as amended) 
(the “Functions Regulations”). 

Functions which 
are delegated on 
to an officer and 
the limits of that 
delegation are set 
out in the Fourth 
Schedule to this 
Part. 

Licensing, 
Health  and 
Safety and 
General 
Purposes 
Committee 

11 Members 
of the 
Authority 

Commons registration 
The registration of common land 
or town and village greens and 
to register the variation of rights 
of common as set out in 
paragraphs 37 and 38 of Part B 
of Schedule 1 to the Functions 
Regulations. 
 
Highways use and regulation 
The exercise of powers relating 
to Public Rights of Way as set 
out in paragraphs 1 to 34, 41 
and 46 - 47 of Part I and 
paragraphs 47 to 55 of Part B of 
Schedule 1 to the Functions 
Regulations. 
 
Taxi, food and miscellaneous 
licensing 
Functions relating to licensing 
and registration as set out in 
Part B (excluding paragraphs 37 
and 38) and paragraph 42 of 
Part I of Schedule 1 to the 

Functions which 
are delegated on 
to an officer and 
the limits of that 
delegation are set 
out in the 
Schedules to this 
Part. 

Page 85



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 56 

Committee Membership Functions Onward 
Delegation of 
Functions 

Functions Regulations; 
 
 
Health and Safety at Work 
Functions relating to health and 
safety as set out in Part C of the 
Functions Regulations under 
any ’relevant statutory provision’ 
within the meaning of Part 1 of 
the Health and Safety at Work 
Act 1974, to the extent that 
those functions are discharged 
otherwise than in the Council’s 
capacity as employer. 
 
Electoral matters 
Functions relating to Elections, 
making recommendations to 
Council or Cabinet relating to  
Bills and name and status of the 
Borough and individuals. 
 

Licensing Act 
2003 
Committee 

15 Members 
of the 
Authority 

To discharge the functions set out 
in Section 7 of the Licensing Act 
2003 and Section 154 of the 
Gambling Act 2005. 
 

 

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee 

9 Members of 
the Authority 

Accounts  
Approval of Council’s Statement 
of Accounts and Section 151 
responsibilities 
 
To consider and make 
recommendations to Council or 
Cabinet as appropriate on; 
(i) the annual Audit Report 
and the Management Letter of 
the external auditor; 
(ii) any other statutory report 
of the external auditor; 
and other financial and risk 
management matters (see 
Schedule 2 of Part 3 below). 
To keep Financial Regulations 
and Contract Procedure  Rules 
under review and agreed 
revisions. 

 

Page 86



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 57 

Committee Membership Functions Onward 
Delegation of 
Functions 

Standards & 
Governance 
Committee 

9 Members of 
the authority 
(other than 
the Mayor or 
Leader) and 4 
voting co-
optees. 

To keep the Constitution under 
review and make 
recommendations to Council on 
proposals for improvements 
 
Promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct by 
Councillors and voting co-opted 
members (including church and 
parent governor 
representatives) 
 
Advising the Council on the 
adoption or revision of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 
Assisting Councillors and voting 
co-opted members (including 
church and parent governor 
representatives) to observe the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
Monitoring the operation of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct, in 
the light of best practice, 
changes in the law, guidance 
from the Standards Board for 
England and recommendations 
from Case Tribunals; 
 
Advising, training or arranging to 
train Councillors and voting co-
opted members including church 
and parent governor 
representatives on matters 
relating to the Members’ Code 
of Conduct; 
 
Granting dispensations to 
Councillors and voting co-opted 
members including church and 
parent governor representatives 
from requirements relating to 
interests set out in the Members’ 
Code of Conduct;  
 

 

  Dealing with any reports from a 
Case Tribunal or Interim Case 

 

Page 87



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 58 

Committee Membership Functions Onward 
Delegation of 
Functions 

Tribunal, or from the Standards 
Board and any report from the 
Monitoring Officer on any matter 
which is referred by an Ethical 
Standards Officer to the 
Monitoring Officer; 
 
Other functions relating to 
standards of conduct of 
members assigned to Standards 
Committees under any 
Regulations under the Local 
Government Act 2000, including 
any Regulations made under 
Section 66. 
 
 
 
 
• To consider Ombudsman’s 

reports in cases of malad- 
administration; (Section 92, 
Local Government Act 
2000) 

• Whistle-blowing 

• Strategic overview of 
Employees’ Code of 
Conduct;  

• Overview of reports from 
External Auditors;  

• Dealing with breaches of 
protocols.  

Pensions 
Committee 

11 Council 
members 
plus 5 
employer 
representa-
tives 

The powers and duties of the 
Council in relation to its 
functions as administering 
authority of the County of 
Merseyside Pension Fund 

Functions 
delegated to 
officers and the 
limits of that 
delegation are set 
out in the Fourth 
Schedule to this 
Part. 

Employment 
and 
Appointments 

9 Members of 
the Authority 

Appointment of Chief Officers 
and Deputies. 

 

Page 88



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 59 

Committee Membership Functions Onward 
Delegation of 
Functions 

Committee 

  To act as the Appeals Body in 
respect of misconduct of chief 
officers. 

 

  Functions relating to Pensions 
as an Employer. 

 
 
 
 

Chief Officers 
Employment 
Disciplinary 
Sub-
Committee 

 To receive reports from a 
designated independent person 
investigating allegations of 
misconduct against the Head of 
Paid Service, the Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer 
 
 
To investigate and take 
disciplinary action in respect of 
allegations of misconduct 
against Chief Officers. 
 

 

Coordinating 
Committees  

Members of 
the Authority 
(plus 4 voting 
and 1 other 
co-opted 
Members) 
 

The statutory functions of an 
Policy and Performance 
Committee with the terms of 
reference set out in Article 6. 
 
 

 

3 Policy and 
Performance 
Committees 

Members of 
the Authority 
 

  

 

Page 89



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 60 

Table 3  
 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 
 
3.1 The Cabinet has all those functions not allocated above together with 

those local choice functions assigned to the Executive in Table 1. 

3.2 The Cabinet must not make final decisions on the functions assigned to 
the Council by the Functions Regulations or any other statutory 
provision. 

 

Page 90



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 61 

Table 4 

 
 

STATUTORY AND ADVISORY BODIES 
 
 

Adoption 
Panel 
 

1 member of the Authority plus 
up to 9 other qualified persons 
(with a quorum of 5) as set out in 
the Adoption Agencies 
Regulations 2005 
(Note: The member of the 
authority should either be a 
member of the Executive or of  
the Children’s Services and 
Lifelong Learning  Policy and 
Performance Committee) 
 

To make recommendations to 
the Adoption Agency in respect 
of children and prospective 
adopters. 
 

 

Fostering 
Panel 
 

3 members of the Authority plus 
other representatives. 
 
 

The Fostering Panel is an 
advisory body that makes 
recommendations to the Director 
of Children’s Services in respect 
of fostering. 

Review Panel 
(Complaints 
Procedure) 
 
 
 

3 members from pool of 
independent members  
 
 

Under the NHS and Community 
Care Act, 1990 and the Children 
Act 1989, to consider the 
Investigating Officers’ reports 
into complaints where the 
complainant is dissatisfied with 
the response of the Adult Social 
Services Department or 
Children’s and Young People’s 
Department. 
 

Comments made by the Director 
of Adult Social Services or 
Director of Children’s Services in 
response to the Review Panel’s 
decisions shall be considered by 
the relevant Cabinet member, 
Policy and Performance 
Committee Chair and party 
spokespersons (unless any of 
them were members of the 
Review Panel in question). 

Page 91



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 62 

Independent 
Remunera-
tion Panel  

At least 3 persons who are not 
members of the Council (and 
who are not disqualified from 
being a member) including a 
representative of the business 
community and the voluntary 
sector 

To make recommendations to 
the Council on Members’ 
remuneration and allowances 
and any proposals for 
amendments to the Scheme of 
Members’ Allowances, 
including:- 

(iii) The amount of basic 
allowances;  

(iv) The duties of Councillors 
that should be the  subject to 
a special responsibility 
allowance; 

Whether child care and 
dependent care allowances 
should be available for 
Councillors.  

Standing 
Advisory 
Council on 
Religious 
Education 

7 Members of the Council as 
local education authority and 6 
teacher representatives, 6 
Church of England 
representatives and 7 
representatives of other religions 

To advise the LEA on religious 
worship and education and to 
determine applications made by 
Headteachers under Section 394 
of the Education Act 1996. 

Housing 
Review Panel 
 
 

3 members of the Council (a) To determine requests by 
Introductory Tenants for a 
review of decisions to seek 
an order for possession. 

 

(b) To determine requests for a 
review of decisions in 
relation to homelessness. 

 
 

Unified 
Waiting List 
Steering 
Group 

2 representatives of the Council 
and representatives of each of 
the participating Housing 
Associations 

(a) To consider and determine 
appeals from persons on the 
Unified Waiting List against 
decisions made by the 
Agency Manager on the 
application of the Allocations 
Scheme to their particular 
case. 

 

(b) To consider and determine 
whether a person should be 
excluded or removed from 
the Unified Waiting List 

 

Page 92



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 63 

The Unified 
Waiting List 
Advisory 
Panel 

5 members of the Council and a 
member of each of the 
participating Housing 
Associations 

(a) To consider and determine 
appeals from persons on the 
Unified Waiting List against 
decisions made by the 
Steering Group on the 
application of the Allocations 
Scheme to their particular 
case. 

 

(b) To consider and determine 
appeals against decisions made 
by the Steering Group to exclude 
or remove persons from the 
Unified Waiting List. 

Wirral 
Schools 
Forum:  
Funding 
Consultative 
Group 

Schools Group (20): 
 
5 Primary school headteachers 
4 Secondary school 
headteachers 
1 Special School Headteacher 
5 Primary school governors 
4 Secondary school governors 
1 Special school governor 
 
Non-Schools Group (8) 
 
1 Church of England 
representative 
1 Roman Catholic 
representative 
1 The 14-19 Partnership 
1 Teacher representative 
1 Non-teacher representative 
2 The PVI Early Years Providers  
1 LSC observer 

To advise the Council on 
financial issues affecting schools 
and, in particular, the amount of 
funding made available to 
schools and the way it is shared 
among them. 

School 
Admissions 
Forum 

Membership to be determined by 
the Cabinet, within the following 
limits: 
 
1 to 5 representatives of the LEA 
1 to 3:  community and voluntary 
controlled schools 
1 to 3:  foundation schools 
1 to 3:  voluntary aided schools 
1 to 3:  Church of England 
Diocese 
1 to 3:  Catholic Diocese 
1 to 3:  parent governors 
Up to 3 from local community 
The Forum can also ask for 

To advise the Council on 
arrangements for the admission 
of pupils to the various 
categories of schools. 

Page 93



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 64 

other representation 
Children and 
Young 
People’s 
Strategic 
Management 
Board 

Chair (Executive Member for 
Children’s Services) 
Wirral Council (2 plus the Chair) 
Wirral PCT* (2) 
Wirral Hospital Trust (1) 
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership 
Trust (1) 
Connexions (1) 
Police (1)  
Schools (Headteachers) (2) 
Learning and Skills Council (1) 
Voluntary and Community Sector 
(3) 
Director of Children’s Services 
(ex officio) 

To co-ordinate services for 
children and young people and  
to make recommendations to 
appropriate partner 
organisations with respect to the 
measures that are needed to 
improve children’s well-being. 

 

Page 94



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 65 

 
 
PART 3 - SCHEDULE 1 - THE PORTFOLIOS 
  
TERMS OF REFERENCE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDERS 
 
The portfolios of the members of the Cabinet will be determined by the Leader 
from time to time and will be listed here.   

Page 95



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 66 

PART 3 - SCHEDULE 2 
 
SCHEME OF DELEGATION OF (NON-EXECUTIVE) FUNCTIONS TO 
COMMITTEES 
 
1. The Council delegates under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 

1972 to the Committees set out below all those non-Executive 
functions vested in it, identified in the terms of reference for each 
Committee. 

2. This Scheme delegates powers and duties within broad functional 
descriptions and includes powers and duties under all legislation 
present and future within those descriptions and all powers and duties 
including any statutory re-enactment or modification of the legislation 
referred to in this Scheme. 

3. Any exercise of responsibility for functions or delegated powers shall 
comply with:  

(i) any statutory requirements; 

(ii) the Council’s Constitution; 

(iii) the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and approved budget; 

(iv) the Members Code of Conduct; 

(v) the Code of Recommended Practice on local authority publicity; 

(vi) the agreed arrangements for recording decisions; 

4. This scheme does not delegate any matters reserved by law to the full 
Council or assigned to the Executive. 

 

5. PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Planning Functions 

Within approved Council policy and in accordance with the overall 
aims and objectives of the Council, this Committee shall exercise the 
following delegated functions and powers: 

(1) The powers and duties of the Council as Local Planning 
Authority as set out below: 

Page 96



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 67 

 
A. Functions relating to town and country planning and 

development control 
 

1. Power to determine application 
for planning permission. 
 

 
Sections 70(1)(a) and (b) and 72 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (c.8). 

2. Power to determine applications 
to develop land without compliance 
with conditions previously attached. 

Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

3. Power to grant planning 
permission for development already 
carried out. 

Section 73A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

4. Power to decline to determine 
application for planning permission. 
 

Section 70A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 

5. Duties relating to the making of 
determinations of planning 
applications. 
 

Sections 69, 76 and 92 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Articles 8, 10 to 13, 15 to 22 and 25 
and 26 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Development 
Procedure) Order 1995 (S.I. 
1995/419) and directions made 
there under. 

6. Power to determine application 
for planning permission made by a 
local authority, alone or jointly with 
another person. 
 

Section 316 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the 
Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992 (S.I. 
1992/1492). 

7. Power to make determinations, 
give approvals and agree certain 
other matters relating to the 
exercise of permitted development 
rights. 

Parts 6, 7, 11, 17, 19, 20, 21 to 24, 
26, 30 and 31 of Schedule 2 to the 
Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
Order 1995 (S.I. 1995/418). 

8. Power to enter into agreement 
regulating development or use of 
land. 

Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

9. Power to issue a certificate of 
existing or proposed lawful use or 
development. 

Sections 191(4) and 192(2) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

10. Power to serve a completion 
notice 

Section 94(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 

Page 97



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 68 

 
11. Power to grant consent for the 
display of advertisements. 
 
 

Section 220 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the 
Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) 
Regulations 1992. 

12. Power to authorise entry onto 
land. 
 

Section 196A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

13. Power to require the 
discontinuance of a use of land. 
 

Section 102 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

14. Power to serve a planning 
contravention notice, breach of 
condition notice or stop notice. 
 

Sections 171C, 187A and 183(1) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

14A  Power to issue a temporary 
stop notice 

Section 171E of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

15. Power to issue an enforcement 
notice. 
 

Section 172 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

16. Power to apply for an injunction 
restraining a breach of planning 
control. 
 

Section 187B of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

17. Power to determine applications 
for hazardous substances consent, 
and related powers. 
 

Sections 9(1) and 10 of the 
Planning (Hazardous Substances) 
Act 1990. 

18. Duty to determine conditions to 
which old mining permissions, 
relevant planning permissions 
relating to dormant sites or active 
Phase I or II sites, or mineral 
permissions relating to mining sites, 
as the case may be, are to be 
subject. 
 

Paragraph 2(6)(a) of Schedule 2 to 
the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991, paragraph 9(6) of Schedule 
13 to the Environment Act 1995 and 
paragraph 6(5) of Schedule 14 to 
that Act. 

19. Power to require proper 
maintenance of land. 
 

Section 215(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

20. Power to determine application 
for listed building consent, and 
related powers. 
 

Sections 16(1) and (2), 17, 27(2) 
and 33(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 

21. Power to determine applications 
for conservation area consent. 
 

Section 16(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas Act 1990, as 
applied by section 74(3) of that Act. 

Page 98



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 69 

 

Page 99



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 70 

 
22. Duties relating to applications 
for listed building consent and 
conservation area consent. 
 
 

Sections 13(1) and 14(1) and (4) of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and regulations 3 to 6 and 
13 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation Areas) 
Regulations 1990 and paragraphs 
8, 15 and 22 of Department of the 
Environment Circular 14/97. 
 

23. Power to serve a building 
preservation notice, and related 
powers. 
 

Sections 3(1) and 4(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. 
 

24. Power to issue enforcement 
notices in relation to demolition of 
unlisted buildings in conservation 
area. 
 

Section 38 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

25. Powers to acquire a listed 
building in need of repair and to 
serve a repairs notice. 
 

Sections 47 and 48 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

26. Power to apply for an injunction 
in relation to a listed building. 
 

Section 44A of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 

27. Power to execute urgent works. Section 54 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 

28. Powers relating to the protection 
of important hedgerows. 

The Hedgerows Regulations 1997 
(S.I. 1997/1160) 
 

29.  Powers relating to complaints 
about high hedges. 

Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour 
Act 2003. 

30. Powers relating to the 
preservation of trees 

Sections 197 to 214D of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, 
and the Trees Regulations 1999 
(S.I. 1999/1892) 
 

31. Power to make limestone 
pavement order  

Section 34(c) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 
 

32. Power to authorise stopping-up 
or diversion of highway 

Section 247 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 100



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 71 

33. Power to authorise stopping-up 
or diversion of footpath or bridleway 
or restricted byway. 

Section 257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 101



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 72 

 
34. Power to extinguish public rights 
of way over land held for planning 
purposes. 

Section 258 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

(2) The issuing of planning policy directions as may be considered 
appropriate. 

(3) In consultation with the relevant Policy and Performance 
Committee to make appropriate recommendations to the 
Cabinet on the formulation of the Local Development 
Framework for the Borough. 

(4) To carry into effect Sections 222 and 223 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 so far as they affect this committee and to 
exercise the powers of the Council in relation thereto and in 
particular to authorise any appropriate officer to institute or 
defend on behalf of the Council proceedings before any court or 
tribunal or to appear on behalf of the Council before any such 
court or tribunal in any proceedings instituted by the Council or 
on its behalf or against it. 

(5) To obtain information as to interests in land under S.330 Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 

(6) To obtain particulars of persons interested in land under Section 
16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 

(7) To appoint proper officers and deputies where required by an 
Act of Parliament for the discharge of the functions of the 
Council delegated to this Committee; 

(8) To carry into effect so much of any Act of Parliament relating to 
any of the functions set out above and any Orders, Regulations, 
Schemes or Bye-Laws made under or in pursuance thereof and 
to exercise non-executive powers of the Council in relation 
thereto; 

6. LICENSING ACT 2003 COMMITTEE 

Functions relating to Licensing matters in accordance with the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

7 LICENSING, HEALTH AND SAFETY AND GENERAL PURPOSES 
COMMITTEE 

 (1)  The Committee shall exercise the following functions: 

A Highways Functions 

Page 102



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 73 

1. Power to create footpath or bridleway 
or restricted byway by agreement. 

Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980. 

2. Power to create footpaths and 
bridleways and restricted byways. 

Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980. 

3. Duty to keep register of information 
with respect to maps, statements and 
declarations. 

Section 31A of the Highways Act 
1980. 

4. Power to stop up footpaths and 
bridleways and restricted byways. 
 

Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980. 

5. Power to determine application for 
public path extinguishment order. 
 

Sections 118ZA and 118C(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

6. Power to make a rail crossing 
extinguishment order. 
 

Section 118A of the Highways Act 
1980. 

7. Power to make a special 
extinguishment order. 
 

Section 118B of the Highways Act 
1980. 

8. Power to divert footpaths and 
bridleways and restricted byways. 
 

Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980. 

9. Power to make a public path 
diversion order. 
 

Sections 119ZA and 119C(4) of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

10. Power to make a rail crossing 
diversion order. 
 

Section 119A of the Highways Act 
1980. 

11. Power to make a special diversion 
order. 
 

Section 119B of the Highways Act 
1980. 

12. Power to require applicant for order 
to enter into agreement. 
 

Section 119C(3) of the Highways Act 
1980. 

13. Power to make an SSSI diversion 
order. 

Section 119D of the Highways Act 
1980. 

14. Duty to keep register with respect to 
applications under sections 118ZA, 
118C, 119ZA and 119C of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

Section 121B of the Highways Act 
1980. 

15. Power to decline to determine 
certain applications. 

Section 121C of the Highways Act 
1980. 

16. Duty to assert and protect the rights 
of the public to use and enjoyment of 
highways. 

Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980. 

17. Duty to serve notice of proposed 
action in relation to obstruction. 

Section 130A of the Highways Act 
1980. 

18. Power to apply for variation of order 
under section 130B of the Highways Act 

Section 130B(7) of the Highways Act 
1980. 

Page 103



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 74 

1980. 
19. Power to authorise temporary 
disturbance of surface of footpath or 
bridleway or restricted byway. 
 

Section 135 of the Highways Act 1980. 

20. Power temporarily to divert footpath 
or bridleway or restricted byway. 
 

Section 135A of the Highways Act 
1980. 

21. Functions relating to the making 
good of damage and the removal of 
obstructions. 

Section 135B of the Highways Act 
1980. 

22. Powers relating to the removal of 
things so deposited on highways as to 
be a nuisance. 

Section 149 of the Highways Act 1980. 

23. Power to extinguish certain public 
rights of way. 

Section 32 of the Acquisition of Land 
Act 1981  

24. Duty to keep definitive map and 
statement under review. 

Section 53 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981  

25. Power to include modifications in 
other orders. 

Section 53A of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

26. Duty to keep register of prescribed 
information with respect to applications 
under section 53(5) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

Section 53B of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

27. Power to prepare map and 
statement by way of consolidation of 
definitive map and statement. 

Section 57A of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

28. Power to designate footpath as 
cycle track. 

Section 3 of the Cycle Tracks Act 1984 

29. Power to extinguish public right of 
way over land acquired for clearance. 

Section 294 of the Housing Act 1981  

30. Power to enter into agreements with 
respect to means of access. 

Section 35 of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000. 

31. Power to provide access in absence 
of agreement. 

Section 37 of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000. 

32. Power to permit deposit of builder’s 
skip on highway. 

Section 139 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

33.  Duty to publish notice in respect of 
proposal to grant permission under 
section 115E of the Highways Act 
1980. 

Section 115G of the Highways Act 
1980. 

34. Power to license planting, retention 
and maintenance of trees, etc. in part 
of highway 

Section 142 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

35. Power to authorise erection of 
stiles, etc. on footpaths or bridleways. 

Section 147 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

36. Power to license works in relation Section 169 of the Highways Act 

Page 104



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 75 

to buildings, etc. which obstruct the 
highway. 

1980. 

37. Power to consent to temporary 
deposits or excavations in streets. 

Section 171 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

38. Power to dispense with obligation 
to erect hoarding or fence. 

Section 172 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

39. Power to restrict the placing of 
rails, beams, etc. over highways. 

Section 178 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

40. Power to consent to construction of 
cellars, etc. under street. 

Section 179 of the Highways Act 
1980. 

41. Power to consent to making of 
openings into cellars, etc. under streets 
and pavements lights and ventilators 

Section 180 of the Highways Act 
1980 

42. Power to register common land or 
town or village greens, except where 
the power is exercisable solely for the 
purpose of giving effect to: 

Regulation 6 of the Commons 
Registration (New Land) Regulations 
1969 

(a) an exchange of lands effected 
by an order under section 
19(3) of, or paragraph 6(4) of 
Schedule 3 to the Acquisition 
of Land Act 1981 or an order 
under section 147 of the 
Inclosure Act   

 

43. Power to register variation of rights 
of common. 

Regulation 29 of the Commons 
Registration (General) Regulations 
1966 (S.I. 1966/1471) 

44. Power to grant permission for 
provision, etc of services, amenities, 
recreation and refreshment facilities on 
highway, and related powers. 

Sections 115E, 115F and 115K of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

45. To approve the making of Gating 
Orders. 

Section 129A of the Highways Act 
1980. 

  

 B. Licensing and registration functions 

1. Power to issue licences authorising 
the use of land as a caravan site ("site 
licences"). 

Section 3(3) of the Caravan Sites and 
Control of Development Act 1960. 

Page 105



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 76 

 
2. Power to license the use of moveable 
dwellings and camping sites. 
 

Section 269(1) of the Public Health Act 
1936. 

3. Power to license hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles. 
 
 

(a) as to hackney carriages, the Town 
Police Clauses Act, as extended by 
section 171 of the Public Health Act 
1875, and section 15 of the Transport 
Act 1985; and sections 47, 57, 58, 60 
and 79 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; 
 

(b) as to private hire vehicles, sections 
48, 57, 58, 60 and 79 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
 
 

4. Power to license drivers of hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles. 
 

Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 61 and 79 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

5. Power to license operators of 
hackney carriages and private hire 
vehicles. 

Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 79 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

6. Power to appoint and revoke 
Hackney Carriage stands on the 
highway and on non-adopted roads 
(with consent) for part of or the whole 
day to include the number of Hackney 
Carriages permitted on a stand and 
times of usage. 

Section 63 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

7. Power to license sex shops and sex 
cinemas. 
 
 

The Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982, section 2 and 
Schedule 3. 

8. Power to license performances of 
hypnotism. 

The Hypnotism Act 1952. 

9. Power to license premises for 
acupuncture, tattooing, ear-piercing and 
electrolysis. 

Sections 13 to 17 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982. 

10. Power to license pleasure boats and 
pleasure vessels. 

Section 94 of the Public Health Acts 
Amendment Act 1907. 

11. Power to license market and street 
trading. 
 
 

Part III of, and Schedule 4 to, the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982. 
 

12. Duty to keep list of persons entitled 
to sell non-medicinal poisons. 
 

Sections 3(1)(b)(ii), 5, 6 and 11 of the 
Poisons Act 1972. 

Page 106



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 77 

13. Power to license dealers in game 
and the killing and selling of game. 
 
 

Sections 5, 6, 17, 18 and 21 to 23 of 
the Game Act 1831; sections 2 to 16 
of the Game Licensing Act 1860, 
section 4 of the Customs and Inland 
Revenue Act 1883, sections 12(3) and 
27 of the Local Government Act 1874, 
and section 213 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

14. Power of register and license 
premises for the preparation of food. 

Section 19 of the Food Safety Act 
1990. 

15. Power to license scrap yards. 
 

Section 1 of the Scrap Metal Dealers 
Act 1964. 

16. Power to issue, amend or replace 
safety certificates (whether general or 
special) for sports grounds. 
 

The Safety of Sports Grounds Act 
1975 

17. Power to issue, cancel, amend or 
replace safety certificates for regulated 
stands at sports grounds. 

Part III of the Fire Safety and Safety of 
Places of Sport Act 1987. 

18. Power to issue fire certificates. 
 

Section 5 of the Fire Precautions Act 
1971. 

19. Power to license premises for the 
breeding of dogs. 
 

Section 1 of the Breeding of Dogs Act 
1973 and section 1 of the Breeding 
and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999. 

20. Power to license pet shops and 
other establishments where animals are 
bred or kept for the purposes of carrying 
on a business. 
 
 

Section 1 of the Pet Animals Act 1951; 
section 1 of the Animal Boarding 
Establishments Act 1963; the Riding 
Establishments Acts 1964 and 1970; 
section 1 of the Breeding of Dogs Act 
1973, and sections 1 and 8 of the 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) 
Act 1999. 

21. Power to register animal trainers 
and exhibitors. 

Section 1 of the Performing Animals 
(Regulation) Act 1925. 

22. Power to license zoos. 
 

Section 1 of the Zoo Licensing Act 
1981. 

23. Power to license dangerous wild 
animals. 

Section 1 of the Dangerous Wild 
Animals Act 1976. 

24. Power to license knackers' yards. 
 
 

Section 4 of the Slaughterhouses Act 
1974. See also the Animal By-
Products Order 1999 (S.I. 1999/646). 

25. Power to license the employment of 
children. 
 
 

Part II of the Children and Young 
Persons Act 1933, bylaws made under 
that Part, and Part II of the Children 
and Young Persons Act 1963. 

26. Power to approve premises for the 
solemnisation of marriages. 

Section 46A of the Marriage Act 1949 
and the Marriages (Approved 
Premises) Regulations 1995. 

Page 107



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 78 

27. Power to license persons to collect 
for charitable and other causes. 
 
 

Section 5 of the Police, Factories etc. 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 
and section 2 of the House to House 
Collections Act 1939. 

28. Power to grant consent for the 
operation of a loudspeaker. 
 

Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory 
Nuisance Act 1993. 

29. Power to grant a street works 
licence. 
 

Section 50 of the New Roads and 
Street Works Act 1991. 

30. Power to issue licences for the 
movement of pigs. 
 

Article 12 of the Pigs (Records, 
Identification and Movement) Order 
1995 (S.I. 1995/11). 
 

31. Power to license the sale of pigs. 
 

Article 13 of the Pigs (Records, 
Identification and Movement) Order 
1995. 

32. Power to license collecting centres 
for the movement of pigs. 
 

Article 14 of the Pigs (Records, 
Identification and Movement) Order 
1995. 
 

33. Power to issue a licence to move 
cattle from a market. 
 

Article 5(2) of the Cattle Identification 
Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/871). 
 

34. Power to sanction use of parts of 
buildings for storage of celluloid. 

Section 1 of the Celluloid and 
Cinematograph Film Act 1922. 

35. Power to approve meat product 
premises. 
 

Regulations 4 and 5 of the Meat 
Products (Hygiene) Regulations 1994 
(S.I. 1994/3082) 

36. Power to approve premises for the 
production of minced meat or meat 
preparations. 
 

Regulation 4 of the Minced Meat and 
Meat Preparations (Hygiene) 
Regulations 1995 (S.I. 1995/3205). 

37. Power to approve dairy 
establishments. 

Regulations 6 and 7 of the Dairy 
Products (Hygiene) Regulations 1995 
(S.I. 1995/1086) 

38. Power to approve egg product 
establishments. 
 

Regulation 5 of the Egg Products 
Regulations 1993 (S.I. 1993/1520). 

39. Power to issue licences to retail 
butchers' shops carrying out 
commercial operations in relation to 
unwrapped raw meat and selling or 
supplying both raw meat and ready-to-
eat foods. 

Schedule 1A to the Food Safety 
(General Food Hygiene) Regulations 
1995 (S.I. 1995/1763) 

40. Power to approve fish products 
premises. 
 
 

Regulation 24 of the Food Safety 
(Fishery Products and Live Shellfish) 
(Hygiene) Regulations 1998 (S.I. 
1998/994). 

Page 108



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 79 

41. Power to approve dispatch or 
purification centres. 
 

Regulation 11 of the Food Safety 
(Fishery Products and Live Shellfish) 
(Hygiene) Regulations 1998. 

42. Power to register fishing vessels on 
board which shrimps or molluscs are 
cooked. 

Regulation 21 of the Food Safety 
(Fishery Products and Live Shellfish) 
(Hygiene) Regulations 1998. 

43. Power to approve factory vessels 
and fishery product establishments. 
 

Regulation 24 of the Food Safety 
(Fishery Products and Live Shellfish) 
(Hygiene) Regulations 1998. 

44. Power to register auction and 
wholesale markets. 
 

Regulation 26 of the Food Safety 
(Fishery Products and Live Shellfish) 
(Hygiene) Regulations 1998. 
 

45. Duty to keep register of food 
business premises. 
 

Regulation 5 of the Food Premises 
(Registration) Regulations 1991 (S.I. 
1991/2828). 

46. Power to register food business 
premises. 

Regulation 9 of the Food Premises 
(Registration) Regulations 1991. 

47.  Power to make an order identifying 
a place as a designated public place for 
the purposes of police powers in 
relation to alcohol consumption. 

Section 13(2) of the Criminal Justice 
and Police Act 2001. 

48.  Power to register motor salvage 
operators 

Part 1 of the Vehicle (Crime) Act 2001 

 

(2) Service of an abatement Notice in respect of a statutory 
nuisance. 

(3) Inspection of the area to detect a statutory nuisance. 

(4) Obtaining particulars of persons interested in land under Section 
16 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

(5) To hear appeals against decisions made by officers carrying out 
delegated licensing functions. 

 (6) All the functions in relation to Health and Safety set out in Part C 
of Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) 
(“the Functions Regulations”) namely relating to health and 
safety under any relevant statutory provision within the meaning 
of Part 1 of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 to the extent 
that those functions are discharged otherwise than those that 
relate to the Council’s capacity as employer. 

 (7) To designate unsocial drinking zones under the Local 
Authorities (Alcohol Consumption in public places) Regulations 
2001. 

Page 109



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 80 

 (8) Power to make closing orders for take-away food shops under 
(Section 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 

 (9) Functions relating to elections set out in Part D of Schedule 1 of 
the Functions Regulations as amended from time to time. 

 (10) Power to consider and make recommendations to the Council 
on matters relating to the name and status of the Borough and 
individuals and bylaws and to promote or oppose Parliamentary 
Bills. 

(11)  Enforcement of the provisions relating to smoke-free legislation 
under the Health Act 2006, including powers to: 

- enforce offences relating to the display of no-smoking 
signs (section 6(5)); 
- enforce offences relating to smoking in smoke-free places 
(section 7(4)); 
- enforce offence of failing to prevent smoking in smoke-
free places(section 8(4)); 
- transfer enforcement functions to another enforcement 
authority under the Smoke-free (Premises and 
Enforcement) Regulations 2006. 
 

 (12) To have responsibility for Sea Fisheries matters. 
 

 (13) To deal with any other non-Executive functions not reserved to 
Council by law or this Constitution or delegated to any other 
committee, sub committee or officer. 

8. EMPLOYMENT AND APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 

 (1) The appointment of Chief Officers and Deputies in accordance 
with the Employment Procedure Rules.   

 (2) To recommend to Council on the designation of the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 

 (3) To act as the Committee which makes recommendations to 
Council on the appointment of the Head of Paid Service (Chief 
Executive). 

 (4) To hear and determine appeals in connection with disciplinary 
action or dismissal of Chief and Deputy Chief Officers. 

 (5) To exercise any of the Council’s functions as an Employer under 
the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

9. CHIEF OFFICERS EMPLOYMENT DISCIPLINARY SUB 
COMMITTEE 

Page 110



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 81 

The Council delegates to and confers upon the Sub-Committee the 
following duties, powers and authorities:- 

(1) To receive and consider reports from an independent person 
designated to investigate allegations of misconduct against the 
Council’s Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or Chief 
Finance Officer and act as the dismissing committee. 

(2) To investigate and take disciplinary action in respect of the 
misconduct of Chief Officers and Deputies, (subject to their right 
of appeal to the Employment and Appointments Committee) 

10. STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

The Standards Committee’s functions and delegated powers are set 
out in Article 9, Part 2.  The terms of reference of the Standards 
Committee Panel’s (Sub-Committees) are also set out in Article 9. 

 

11. AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

(1) To provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the associated control 
environment, independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and 
non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the 
Council’s exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, 
and to oversee the financial reporting process. 

 
(2) to maintain an overview of the contract procedure rules and 

financial regulations and to agree any changes to the same; 
 

(3) The Committee has the following duties, powers and authorities: 
 

(a) approval of the Council’s statement of accounts; 
(b) the responsibilities of the Council under section 151 of the 

Local Government Act 1972 to make proper provision for its 
financial affairs; 

(c) to consider and make recommendations to Council or 
Cabinet as appropriate on; 

(d) the annual Audit Report and the Management Letter of the 
external auditor; 

(e) any other statutory report of the external auditor; 
(f) any internal audit report that may be referred to the 

committee by the Chief Executive, the Director of Finance or 
the Head of Legal and Member Services (as Monitoring 
Officer); 

(g) summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
(h) the effectiveness and adequacy of the response by the 

Council, the Cabinet, any committee or sub-committee of the 

Page 111



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 82 

Council or of any officer to any internal or external audit 
report or management letter; 

(i) the systems of control and the arrangements for the 
prevention of fraud and corruption within the Council; 

(j) any other matter relevant to the audit of the Council’s 
accounts and financial records or its systems for the control 
and safeguarding of all the Council’s assets; 

(k) a report from Internal Audit on agreed recommendations not 
implemented within a reasonable timescale; and 

(l) the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and opinion, and a 
summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and 
the level of assurance it can give over the Council’s 
corporate governance arrangements; 

(m)to approve (but not direct) the strategy, plan and 
performance of the Council’s internal audit service; 

(n) to oversee the production of the Authority’s statement or 
internal control and recommend its adoption; 

(o) to monitor the Council’s policies on “Raising Concerns at 
Work”, to the anti-fraud and corruption strategy and the 
complaints procedure; 

(p) to liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of 
the Council’s external auditors. 

(q) The Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
shall act as the Council’s Risk Management Champion. 

 (4) Executive Members will not normally be members of the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee 

 
12. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEES 

The Policy and Performance Committees are listed in Table 2 and 
their terms of reference are set out in Article 6, Part 2. 

 

13. PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

 (1) To exercise on behalf of the Council all of the powers and duties 
of the Council in relation to its functions as Administering 
Authority of the County of Merseyside Pension Fund, and in 
particular the following. 

 (2) To be responsible for the overall investment policy, strategy and 
principles of the Fund and its overall performance of the Fund. 

 (3) To appoint and terminate the appointments of the professional 
advisers to, and external managers of, the Fund and agree the 
basis of their commission and remuneration. 

 (4) To receive actuarial valuations of the Fund and determine the 
level of employers’ contributions necessary to balance the Fund. 

Page 112



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 83 

 (5) To monitor the Local Government Pension Scheme including 
the benefit regulations and payment of pensions and their day to 
day administration and to be responsible for any policy decisions 
relating to the administration of the scheme. 

 (6) To consider any views expressed by employing organisations 
and staff representatives relating to the scheme. 

 (7) To appoint members of the Investment Monitoring Working 
Party, which shall have responsibility for reviewing the 
performance of the Fund’s investments and its asset allocation 
and regularly reporting their findings to the Pensions Committee. 

 (8) To award contracts for goods and services relating to the Fund 
in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules after taking 
into account the recommendations of officers and external 
professional advisers (where appropriate). 

Page 113



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 84 

PART 3 
SCHEDULE 3 
 
ADVISORY AND STATUTORY COMMITTEES (See also Table 4 above) 
 
1. (a) Adoption Panel  
  
To make recommendations to the adoption agency in respect of children and 
prospective adopters 

 
(b) Fostering Panel 

 
A working party known as the Fostering Panel was set up to mirror the 
Adoption Panel in terms of its former composition.  Its terms of reference are 
to make recommendations to the Director of Children’s Services on fostering 
issues. 
 
2. Parental Appeals Panel 
 
To hear and determine parents’ appeals against offers of school places. 
To hear and determine appeals against the permanent exclusion of a pupil 
from any maintained school. 
 
3. Review Panel (Complaints Procedure) 
 
To consider the Investigating Officers’ reports into complaints where the 
complainant is dissatisfied with the response of the Adult Social Services 
Department or Children’s and Young People’s Department. 
 
4. Wirral Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
To recommend a members allowances scheme to the Council.  
 
5. Wirral School’s Forum:  Funding Consultative Group 
 
To advise the Council on financial issues affecting schools (and, in particular, 
the amount of funding made available to schools and the way it is shared 
among them). 
 
6. School Admission Forum 
 
To advise the Council on arrangements for the admission of pupils to the 
various categories of schools. 
 
7. Children and Young People’s Partnership Board 
 
To co-ordinate strategies and the provision of services for children and young 
people, to monitor the effectiveness of the Children and Young People’s Plan 
and to make appropriate recommendations to the Council and other partner 
agencies. 

Page 114



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 85 

  
  
8. Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
To provide collective leadership to improve Health and Wellbeing across the 
local authority area. To coordinate the production and monitoring of the Health 
and wellbeing Strategy and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. 

Page 115



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 86 

PART 3 
 
SCHEDULE 4 A PART 1 (To be settled by the Leader) 
 
SCHEME OF NON EXECUTIVE DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS TO 

OFFICERS 
  
1a). This part of the scheme of delegation authorises the Head of Paid 

Services and the directors to exercise the non-executive functions of  
the Council as set out in this document. 

 
2b). All delegations conferred under this scheme must be recorded in 

writing by the directors (including for the avoidance of doubt any 
delegation under paragraph 4(e) above).  Any decision taken under 
such authority shall remain their responsibility. 

 
2c). The monitoring officer will maintain a central record of all delegations 

under this scheme and make this available for public inspection.  The 
directors are responsible for recording all delegations under paragraph 
8 above in such form as the monitoring officer may prescribe. 

 
 
3. This scheme is without prejudice to the exercise of the Council’s 

functions by the Council, the Council’s committees, sub-committees 
and panels. 

 
4. The delegation of the council’s Executive functions are set out in Part 3 

Schedule 4 part B. 
 
5. For the purposes of this scheme “the directors” means the directors 

whose job title and areas of responsibility are set out in Table 1 below  
          ( To reflect structure at date of publication) 
 
The directors are empowered to make all non-executive decisions within their 
areas of responsibility on behalf of the Council in accordance with the 
following general principles: 
 
 a. If a function, power or responsibility has not been specifically 

reserved to the Full Council or a committee the director within 
whose remit the matter falls is authorised to act. 

 
 b. Full Council or its committees will make decisions on matters of 

significant policy.  The directors have express authority to take 
all necessary actions to implement decisions council or 
committees that commit resources, within agreed budgets in the 
case of financial resources, as necessary and appropriate. 

 
 c. The directors are empowered to take all operational decisions, 

within agreed policies, in relation to the services for which they 
are responsible. 

Page 116



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 87 

 
 d. The directors are empowered to take all necessary decisions in 

cases of emergency. 
 
 e. In relation to all delegated authority conferred on the directors by 

this scheme, the head of paid service may allocate or re-allocate 
responsibility for exercising particular powers to any officer of 
the Council in the interests of effective corporate management 
as he or she thinks fit.  He will notify the Head of Legal Services 
of any such change.  The Head of Legal Services will amend 
Table 1 as necessary. 

 
 f. Where a director is absent from the workplace for a period of 

time that requires others to exercise delegated authority in that 
officer’s absence, another officer should be nominated by the 
head of paid service.  This nomination should be formally 
recorded in writing. 

 
 g. Where there is doubt over the responsibility for the exercise of a 

delegated power, the head of paid service or their nominee is 
authorised to act or to determine who is to act. 

 
 h. These delegations should be interpreted widely to aid the 

smooth running of the organisation, the effective deployment of 
resources, the efficient delivery of services, and the 
achievement of the Council’s goals. 

 
6. For the purposes of this scheme, emergency shall mean a situation in 

which the relevant officer believes that there is a risk of damage to 
property, a threat to the health or well being of an individual or that the 
interests of the Council may be compromised. 

 
7. In deciding whether or not to exercise such delegated powers, the 

directors should consider whether to consult the appropriate committee 
chairman and have regard to their views.  Officers shall always be 
entitled to refer matters for decision to the appropriate member body or 
council where they consider it expedient to do so. 

 
8. The directors may authorise officers in their service areas to exercise, 

on their behalf, powers delegated under this scheme. 
 
 
9. In exercising these delegated powers the officers concerned shall have 

broad discretion, subject to complying with all relevant legislation, the 
Council’s constitution, including its contract and financial procedures 
and regulations, and overall Council policy, to use the most efficient 
and effective means available, including the deployment of staffing and 
other resources within their control and the procurement of other 
resources necessary, whether within or outside the Council. 

 

Page 117



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 88 

10. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing the directors shall 
have the power: 

 
 a. To take all lawful action consistent with overall Council policy to 

deliver agreed strategy, plans and policy within their area of 
responsibility and within approved budgets.  This shall include, 
but not exhaustively: 

 
− invitation and acceptance of tenders 

 
− submission of bids for funding 

 
− write-off of irrecoverable debts 

 
− virement (within the budget framework) 

 
− disposal and acquisition of assets 

 
− service and placing of any necessary statutory or other 

notice (other than those expressly reserved to a Council, 
committee or cabinet) 
 

− after consultation with the solicitor to the Council, 
authorising the institution, defence or appearance in 
criminal or civil proceedings in relation to any legislation 
which they are responsible for monitoring, enforcing or 
otherwise implementing on behalf of the Council. 

 
 b. To put in place management arrangements, which define the 

area of responsibility of all officers under their area of 
responsibility. 

 
 c. In the case of any overspend to notify the chief finance officer in 

the role of Section 151 officer in accordance with the financial 
procedure rules and regulations. 

 
 d. To determine staffing arrangements within approved budgets, 

subject to agreement on grading with the head of paid service 
and conformance with Council policies. 

 
 e. To take all action to recruit, appoint, develop, manage and 

reward employees within approved Council policies and 
procedures (including operation of policies for discipline and 
dismissal, voluntary severance, early retirement, redundancy 
and redeployment) and relevant conditions of service. 

 
11. In taking any decision, the officer concerned must be satisfied that the 

following issues have been properly considered and completed where 
appropriate.  All of these issues should be considered at the earliest 
possible stage. 

Page 118



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 89 

 
 a. A key decision should be taken in accordance with the relevant 

requirements; 
 
 b. the views of the relevant committee chairman, area board(s) 

following the application of the consultation criteria set out in 
paragraph (c) below; 

 
 c. consideration of the views of the Constituency Committees  and 

the  local councillors in decisions about local services;  
 
 d. the implication of any Council policy, initiative, strategy or 

procedure.  Officers need to be aware of any potential impact of 
a delegated decision on other services.  In such cases 
consultation with officers, relevant cabinet member(s) or 
committee chairman and local members, where the issue relates 
to a specific area, should take place; 

 
 e. consultation in accordance with the Council’s consultation 

strategy and the views emanating from that process; 
 
 f. the range of available options; 
 
 g. the staffing, finance and legal implications; 
 
 h. the assessment of any associated risks in accordance with the 

Council’s risk and management strategy; 
 
 i. the involvement of appropriate statutory officers and/or other 

directors; 
 
 j. the Council’s constitution, including the forward work plan, its 

contract and financial procedures and regulations, all relevant 
guidance, legislation, codes of practice and protocols. 

 
12. Any councillor may request that decisions taken by officers under the 

delegated powers are scrutinised by the appropriate Policy and 
Performance Committee. 

 
13. For the avoidance of doubt anything which is not covered by this 

scheme, including the appointment of a proper officer for the purpose 
of any statutory function, will be determined by the head of paid 
service. 

 
SCHEDULE 4A PART 2 
 
The councils regulatory functions in relation to planning, licensing and other 
regulatory matters will be exercised in accordance with express delegations 
below. 
 

Page 119



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 90 

The Head of ………………………. is authorised to 
 
In respect of trading standards, environmental health and related functions 
and responsibilities: 
 
(1) Subject to paragraph (2) below, take any action under any relevant 

legislation (and related statutory instruments) including, where relevant 
(but not limited to), the service of notices, the appointment of persons, 
the issue of licences and authorisations and the approval of 
registrations, prior consents and grants; acceptance of statutory 
notifications; to apply for warrants, to seize and detain goods and 
documents and carry out test purchases of goods and services relating 
to trading standards, environmental health, environmental protection, 
food safety, licensing and health and safety matters. 

 
Relevant legislation under this paragraph shall include but is not limited 
to: 

 
Accommodation Agencies Act 1953 
Administration of Justice Act 1970 
Agriculture Act 1970 
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Agriculture Produce (Grading and Marking) Acts 1928 and 1931 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 
Animal Health Act 1981 
Animal Health Act 2002 
Animal Health (Amendment) Act 1998 
Animal Health and Welfare Act 1984 
Animal Welfare Act 2006. 
Animals Act 1971 
Breeding of Dogs Acts 1973 and 1991 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 
Building Act 1984 
Business Names Act 1985 
Business Protection from Misleading Marketing Regulations 

2008 
Caravan Sites Act, 1968 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
Charities Act 1992 
Children and Young Persons Act 1933 
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 
1991 
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act, 1970 
Clean Air Act 1993 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
Companies Act 1985 
Company Directors Disqualification Act 1986 
Competition Act 1980 
Consumer Credit Act 1974 
Consumer Protection Act 1987 

Page 120



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 91 

Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008  
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 
Copyright etc and Trade Marks Offences and Enforcement Act 
2002 
County of Merseyside Act 1980 
Courts and Legal Services Act 1990 
Criminal Attempts Act 1981 
Criminal Damage Act 1971 
Criminal Justice Act 1988 
Criminal Law Act 1977 
Dangerous Dogs Acts 1989 and 1991 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Defective Premises Act 1972 
Development of Tourism Act 1969 
Dogs Act 1871 and 1906 
Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996 
Education Reform Act 1988 
Employment Agencies Act 1973 
Energy Act 1976 
Energy Conservation Act 1981 
Enterprise Act 2002 
Environment Act 1995 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Estate Agents Act 1979 
European Communities Act 1972 
Explosives Act 1875 
Factories Act 1961 
Fair Trading Act 1973 
Farm and Garden Chemicals Act 1967     
Food Act 1984 
Food and Environment Protection Act 1985 
Food Safety Act 1990 
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 
Fraud Act 2006 
Gambling Act 2005 
Guard Dogs Act 1975 
Hallmarking Act 1973 
Health and Safety at Work etc.  Act 1974 
Health and Social Care Act 2012  
Health Act 2006 
Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 
Housing Acts 1980, 1985, 1988, 1996 and 2004 
Housing and Building Control Act 1984 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985 
Land Compensation Act 1973 
Landlord and Tenant Acts 1954, 1985 and 1987 
Licensing Act 2003 
Litter Act 1983 

Page 121



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 92 

Local Government Act 1972 
Local Government Act 1988 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 1976 and 
1982 
Medicines Act 1968 
Merchant Shipping Acts 1979/1995 
Mobile Homes Act, 1973 and 1983 
Mock Auctions Act 1961 
Motor Cycle Noise Act 1987 
Motor Vehicles (Safety Equipment for Children) Act 1991 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
Noise Act 1996 
Nursing Agencies Act 1957 
Offensive Weapons Act 1996 
Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963 
Olympic Symbol Act 1995 
Opticians Act 1989 
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act, 1925 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
Poisons Act 1972 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
Police Reform Act 2000 
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 
Powers of Criminal Courts (Sentencing) Act 2000 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
Prices Acts 1974 and 1975 
Property Misdescriptions Act 1991 
Protection of Animals (Amendment) Acts 1988 and 2000 
Protection from Eviction Act, 1977 
Protection of Birds Acts 1954 to 1976 
Public Health Acts 1875, 1936, 1961 and 1969 
Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984 
Radioactive Substances Act 1993 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 2000 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Rent Act, 1977 
Riding Establishments Acts 1964 and 1970 
Road Traffic Acts 1988 and 1991 
Road Traffic (Consequential Provisions) Act 1988 
Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972 
Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988 
Solicitors Act 1974 
Sunday Trading Act 1994 
Telecommunications Act 1984 
Theft Acts 1968 and 1978 
Timeshare Act 1992 
Town Police Clauses Acts 1847 and 1889 
Trade Descriptions Act 1968 
Trade Marks Act 1994 

Page 122



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 93 

Trading Representations (Disabled Persons) Acts 1958 and 
1972 
Trading Stamps Act 1964 
Unsolicited Goods and Services Acts 1971 and 1975  
Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001      
Video Recordings Act 1984/1993 
Water Act, 1989 
Water Industry Act 1991 
Weights and Measures Acts 1976 and 1985 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 
and any legislation amending or replacing the above (including 
Statutory Instruments) 
 
 

 

(2) Institute legal action and or proceedings in respect of the enforcement 
of any legislation relating to trading standards, environmental health, 
environmental protection, food safety, licensing and health and safety 
including those functions delegated to the Licensing, Health and 
Safety and General Purposes Committee, except the Health and 
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974,  
 

(3) Authorise individual trading standards officers to take particular 
actions in their own names and to charge people at police stations. 

 
(4) (a) Personally or, where legislation requires it, through the Trading 

Standards Manager authorise suitably qualified members of staff 
in the Trading Standards Division to carry out enforcement 
functions as authorised officers under trading standards, 
consumer and related legislation; 

 
 (b) personally or through the Trading Standards Manager authorise 

the commencement of legal proceedings on behalf of the 
Council under trading standards, consumer and related 
legislation; 

 
 (c) authorise the post-holders listed below in the first instance, in 

the Trading Standards Division, after consultation with the Head 
of Law, to present cases and appear in legal proceedings on 
behalf of the Council: 

 
   Trading Standards Manager 
   Divisional Officer (Business Support) 
   Divisional Officer (Community Support and Regulation) 
   
  and authorise other officers as considered necessary to present 

an appear in legal proceedings on behalf of the Council.  
 

Page 123



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 94 

 (d) authorise the post-holders listed below, in the Trading Standards 
Division, to charge alleged offenders in police stations: 

 
   Trading Standards Manager 
   Divisional Officer (Business Support) 
   Divisional Officer (Community Support and Regulation); 
  
(7) Authorise directed surveillance and covert human intelligence sources 

in accordance with the requirements of the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000, and designate officers to carry out that function. 

 
(8) Issue fixed penalty notices for leaving litter. 
 

(9) Take action under the Licensing Act 2003 relating to the sale of 
intoxicating liquor to, or for consumption by, persons under 18. 

 
(10) Enforce the Customs & Excise Management Act 1979 and the 

Tobacco Products Act 1979 relating to fiscal marking of tobacco 
products. 
 

(11) Operate Agency Services under the terms of Sections 135 and 169 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and to charge fees 
accordingly. 

 
(12) Approve increases in charges not fixed by statute.  
 
(13) Waive charges for the provision of information under the 

Environmental Information Regulations in appropriate circumstances 
 
(14) Vary levels of charges in respect of depot sales of surplus materials 

and miscellaneous charges, such revisions having regard to the retail 
price index and prevailing market conditions.  

 
(15) Nominate an officer to deal with representations made to the Council 

by persons in receipt of a Notice. 
 
(16) Authority to implement the Food Safety Act 1999, as amended, the 

Food Hygiene (England) Regulations 2005 and 2006, the Official Feed 
and Food Controls (England) Regulations 2005 and 2006, and for any 
subsequent amendments, modifications or re-enactments to the parent 
legislation or any regulations or orders made thereunder. 

 
(17) To exercise the powers and duties available under the Business 

Protection from Misleading Marketing Regulations 2008 and the 
Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008 

 
In respect of licensing and registration functions: 
 
(18) Determine and otherwise deal with the following matters, provided that 

controversial matters must be submitted to the Licensing, Health and 

Page 124



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 95 

Safety and General Purposes Committee or Licensing Panel or 
Licensing Act 2003 Committee: 

 
(i) Premises Licenses; 

(ii) Game Dealers Licences; 

(iii) Scrap Metal Dealers Registration; 

(iv) Street Collection Licences and House to House collection 
permits; 

(v) Club Premises Certificates; 

(vi) Temporary Event Notices; 

(vii) License premises for gambling activities; 

(viii) Consider notices given for temporary use of premises for 
gambling; 

(ix) Grant permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and 
miner’s welfare institutions; 

(x) Regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed 
premises; 

(xi) Grant permits to family entertainment centres; 

(xii) Grant permits for prize gaming; 

(xiii) Consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks; 

(xiv) Register small societies’ lotteries; 

(xv) The enforcement of the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005; 

(xvi) Personal Licenses; 

(xvii) Registration of second-hand dealers; 

(xviii) Motor Salvage operators; 

(xix) Certificates of Consent for all public exhibitions, 
demonstrations or performances of hypnotism; 

(xx) Licences to hold civil marriage ceremonies on approved 
premises;  

(xxi) Application for new (and renewal applications) for hackney 
carriage and private hire driver’s licences, vehicle licences 
and operator’s licences in accordance with guidelines, 

Page 125



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 96 

approved by the Licensing, Health and Safety and General 
Purposes Committee; 

(xxii) The enforcement of conditions relating to the licensing of 
hackney carriage and private hire drivers licences, vehicle 
licences and operator’s licences, as allowed in the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, including 
the suspension of driving licences, vehicle licences and 
operator’s licences.  (Any actions to be reported to the next 
meeting of the Licensing, Health and Safety and General 
Purposes Committee;  

(xxiii) The enforcement of the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 

(xxiv) The enforcement of all Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
matters under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 

(xxv) Authorise members of staff in the Licensing Division to carry 
out enforcement functions as authorised officers under 
licensing legislation. 

(xxvi) Personally, or through the Head of Law, Commence legal 
proceedings on behalf of the Council under licensing 
legislation.  

(19) In consultation with the Director of Technical Services and the three 
party spokespersons, to consider and determine applications for street 
trading consents or renewals thereof (including the imposition of such 
conditions as is considered reasonably necessary) 

 
 
In respect of Planning and related matters: 
 
The Head of Planning has authority: 
 
(i)  to determine all planning and related applications other than those 

listed under below; 
 
(ii)  to take appropriate enforcement action on all matters relating to the 

issue and service of Enforcement Notices, Breach of Condition Notices 
and Discontinuance Orders, including the following: 

 
•  To take initial action to deal with breaches of planning control including 
the 

serving of Planning Contravention Notices to obtain relevant 
information in 

order to assess whether or not a breach of planning control has 
occurred. 
 

Page 126



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 97 

•  To serve Breach of Condition Notices where planning conditions have 
not been 

complied with and to specify the steps which the Council consider 
ought to be 

taken or the activities which ought to cease. 
 
•  To serve Enforcement Notices or to withdraw, modify and reissue any 

Enforcement Notice following a decision by the Planning Committee to 
grant 

permission for development or not to proceed with enforcement action. 
 

•  In cases of urgency, in consultation with the Chair, vice-Chair and 
Party 

Spokespersons of the Planning Committee, to issue and serve Stop 
Notices 

unless the serving of such a notice would result in the significant loss of 
jobs 

or the potential for substantial costs against the Council. 
 
•  In consultation with the Chair, vice-Chair and Party Spokespersons of 
the 

Planning Committee to serve Temporary Stop Notices. 
 
(For the avoidance of doubt) where it is proposed not to take appropriate 
enforcement 
action relating to Priorities 1, 2 and 3 of the adopted Planning Enforcement 
Policy on 
the grounds of non-expediency, the Authority of Members of the Planning 
Committee 
must be sought. 
 
(iii)  to refuse applications in relation to telecommunications development. 
 
(iv)  where it is proposed to recommend approval of telecommunication 

development, after consultation with the Chair of the Planning 
Committee and the appropriate ward councillors, to determine 
applications in relation to telecommunications development which, 
following the receipt of a petition or referral by an elected member, 
cannot be dealt with by the Planning Committee within the statutory 56-
day period, subject to his reporting the use of such delegated authority 
to the next available meeting of that Committee, for information. 

 
(v) In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning Protocol to be agreed 

from time to time by the Planning Committee and in conjunction with 
the Portfolio Holder for Sustainable Development and Transport and 
the Chairman of the Planning Committee, to publicise applications for 
neighbourhood Areas and Forums, consider representations and 
determine applications. 

 
 

Page 127



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 98 

The Head of Planning has authority to determine all minor and other 
applications submitted by or on behalf of the Borough Council other than 
those listed under (a) below; 
 
(a)  Applications to be determined by Committee: 
 
(i)  “Major” applications (unless recommended for refusal and has not 
been 

supported on planning grounds by a Member as set out in (vi) below) – 
 
“Major” applications will be defined as any application for residential 
development or change of use involving 10 or more dwellings, and 

other 
forms of development or change of use of 1,000 square metres 

floorspace 
relating to B1(Light Industrial), B2(General Industrial) or B8(Storage 

and 
Distribution) Uses , or applications for development or change of use of 

0.5 
hectare or more of land. Minerals and waste applications will be 

regarded as 
“major” applications (other than minor amendments to existing 

permissions, 
and ancillary or small scale works). 

 
(ii)  Applications where it is proposed to make a decision that is contrary to 
the 

development plan with the exception of domestic extensions. 
 
 (iii)  Decisions that would need to be referred to the Secretary of State with 
the 

exception of applications for Planning Permission and/or Listed 
Building Consent to Grade I listed buildings, where there are no 
objections on conservation grounds. 
 

(iv)  Applications which any Member has asked to be referred to the 
Planning 

Committee. When a Member has requested an application be referred 
to the 

Planning Committee the Member must, however, state the reason(s) 
on 

planning grounds for that request in writing and must make any request 
prior to the last date for comment as published on an application. 
 

(v)  Applications that attract one or more petitions of objection, within the 
specified consultation period, which contains 25 or more signatories 

from 
individual households or 15 individual objections in writing, unless the 
application is being recommended for refusal, in which case, the 
application shall remain under delegated powers, (unless a Member 

Page 128



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 99 

registers support in writing for an application on planning grounds). 
The lead petitioner will be informed of the recommendation to refuse 
under delegated powers. 

 
(vi)  Any application recommended for refusal where a Member has 

registered support in writing for an application on planning grounds 
and has requested the application is determined by Planning 
Committee. 

 
(vii)  Any personal/private application made by any Member of the Council, 
or any 

member of staff employed in the Technical Services Department. 
 
(viii)  Decisions that would require a Section 106 obligation or action under 
other 

powers, with the exception of applications requiring the provision of 
additional litter bins or where an applicant is required to provide the 
Council with a sum of £10,000 or less towards any minor 

traffic/highway 
improvements. 

 
(ix)  Decisions where a claim for compensation from the Council may arise 
or 

which otherwise may involve a financial payment. 
 
(b)  The Head of Planning is authorised to undertake the following 

functions and powers: 
 
(1)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council in respect of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and 
Country 

Planning Act 1990 as follows:- 
 
(a)  To take appropriate action to advertise planning applications and 

display site notices. 
(b)  Reject an outline application because of insufficient details. 
(c) Require owners to carry out proper maintenance of land where its 

condition detracts from the amenity of the immediate surrounding 
area, including the service of appropriate statutory notices under 
Section 215 of the Act. 

(d)  Serve planning control contravention notices and to hold discussions 
as a result of the “time and place” procedure under Section 171(C) of 
the Act. 

(e)  Make and confirm emergency Tree Preservation Orders except 
where objections/representations have been received and confirm 
unopposed Tree Preservation Orders under Section 201 of the Act 
and vary and revoke such orders. 

 (f)  Determine applications for the lopping, felling or topping of trees 
covered by Tree Preservation Orders and require such replanting as 
is considered necessary. 

Page 129



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 100

(g)  Issue screening opinions (Regulations 5, 7 and 25) and scoping 
opinions (Regulation 10) under the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 1999. 

(h)  Authorise entry on to land under Sections 196 and 324 of the Act and 
under Section 88 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. 

 
(2)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 

provisions of the Building Act 1984 as follows:- 
 
(a)  Part I – Building Regulations. 
 
(b)  Part III – Drainage, provision of sanitary conveniences, buildings, 

defective premises and demolition. 
 
(c)  Part IV – Powers of entry, execution of works and enforcement. 
 
(3)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 

provisions of Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975 in relation to the 
issuing of 

notices prohibiting the admission of spectators to sports grounds and 
make 

agreed amendments to safety certificates. 
 
(4)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 

provisions of the Building (Approved Inspectors) Regulations 1985. 
 
Note: This power may also be exercised by the Building Control Manager 
and the Fire/Safety at Sports Grounds Officer. 
 
(5)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 

provisions of the Public Health Act 1936 in relation to sanitary 
conveniences 

for buildings and culverts, ditches and watercourses. 
 
(6)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 

provisions of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 

1990 relating to listed buildings and conservation areas. 
 
(7)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 

provisions of the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990. 
 
(8)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 
Town 

and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 1992 or 
any 

amendments to those regulations. 
 

Page 130



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 101

(9)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council arising under the 
provisions of the Hedgerows Regulations 1997. 

 
(10)  To respond to consultations from neighbouring local planning 
authorities on 

planning applications. 
 
(11)  To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council under the 
provisions of 

the Local Land Charges Act 1975. 
 
(12)  After consulting the Director of Finance, to vary the standard scale of 
charges 

of the Local Government Association model structure by plus or minus 
10%. 
 
(13)  To take action to prosecute offences under the Town and Country 
Planning 

Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, 

the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990, the Public Health Act 
1936 

and the Safety at Sports Grounds Act 1975. 
 
(14)  To exercise all the powers and duties under Part 8 of the Anti-Social 

Behaviour Act 2003 to consider and determine complaints about high 
hedges. 

 
(15)  To authorise directed surveillance, for investigatory purposes, in 
accordance 

with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and to designate 
officers to carry out that function. 

Page 131



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 102

Part 3 Schedule 4 Part B 
 
SCHEME OF DELEGATION of EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS TO OFFICERS  
 
1. This part of the scheme of delegation records the delegations of 

executive functions to officers under article 7 by the Leader.  
 
2. The leader authorises the directors to exercise any of the executive 

functions of  the Council as set out in this document. 
 
3. This scheme is without prejudice to the exercise of the Executive’s 

functions by the Cabinet. 
 
4. For the purposes of this scheme “the directors” means the directors 

whose job title and areas of responsibility are set out in Table 1 below 
[TO BE INSERTED- ASSUME Head of Service and above] . 

 
5. The directors are empowered to make all executive decisions within 

their areas of responsibility on behalf of the Council in accordance with 
the following general principles: 

 
 a. If a function, power or responsibility has not been specifically 

reserved to the cabinet by the leader the director within whose 
remit the matter falls is authorised to act. 

 
 b. Full Council, its committees and will make decisions on matters 

of significant policy.   
 
 c. The directors have express authority to take all necessary 

actions to implement executive decisions that commit resources, 
within agreed budgets in the case of financial resources, as 
necessary and appropriate. 

 
 d. The directors are empowered to take all operational decisions, 

within agreed policies, in relation to the services for which they 
are responsible. 

 
 e. The directors are empowered to take all necessary decisions in 

cases of emergency. 
 
 f. In relation to all delegated authority conferred on the directors by 

this scheme, the Leader may allocate or re-allocate 
responsibility for exercising particular powers to any officer of 
the Council in the interests of effective corporate management 
as he or she thinks fit.  He will notify the Head of Legal Services 
of any such change.  The Head of Legal Services will amend 
Table 1 of Part 3 Part B as necessary. 

 
 g. Where a director is absent from the workplace for a period of 

time that requires others to exercise delegated authority in that 

Page 132



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 103

officer’s absence, another officer should be nominated by the 
Leader.  This nomination should be formally recorded in writing. 

 
 h. Where there is doubt over the responsibility for the exercise of a 

delegated power, the head of paid service or their nominee is 
authorised to determine who is to act. 

 i. These delegations should be interpreted widely to aid the 
smooth running of the organisation, the effective deployment of 
resources, the efficient delivery of services, and the 
achievement of the Council’s goals. 

 
6. For the purposes of this scheme, emergency shall mean a situation in 

which the relevant officer believes that there is a risk of damage to 
property, a threat to the health or well being of an individual or that the 
interests of the Council may be compromised. 

 
7. In deciding whether or not to exercise such delegated powers, the 

directors should consider whether to consult the appropriate portfolio 
holder or leader and have regard to their views.  Officers shall always 
be entitled to refer matters for decision to the appropriate portfolio 
holder or cabinet where they consider it expedient to do so. 

 
8. The directors may authorise officers in their service areas to exercise, 

on their behalf, powers delegated under this scheme. 
 
9. All delegations conferred under this scheme must be recorded in 

writing by the directors (including for the avoidance of doubt any 
delegation under paragraph 5(e) above).  Any decision taken under 
such authority shall remain their responsibility. 

 
10. The monitoring officer will maintain a central record of all delegations 

under this scheme and make this available for public inspection.  The 
directors are responsible for recording all delegations under paragraph 
8 above in such form as the monitoring officer may prescribe. 

 
11. In exercising these delegated powers the officers concerned shall have 

broad discretion, subject to complying with all relevant legislation, the 
Council’s constitution, including its contract and financial procedures 
and regulations, and overall Council policy, to use the most efficient 
and effective means available, including the deployment of staffing and 
other resources within their control and the procurement of other 
resources necessary, whether within or outside the Council. 

 
12. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing the directors shall 

have the power: 
 
 a. To take all lawful action consistent with overall Council policy to 

deliver agreed strategy, plans and policy within their area of 
responsibility and within approved budgets.  This shall include, 
but not exhaustively: 

Page 133



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 104

 
− invitation and acceptance of tenders 

 
− submission of bids for funding 

 
− write-off of irrecoverable debts 

 
− virement (within the budget framework) 

 
− disposal and acquisition of assets 

 
− service and placing of any necessary statutory or other 

notice (other than those expressly reserved to a Council, 
committee or cabinet) 
 

− after consultation with the Head of Legal Services, 
authorising the institution, defence or appearance in 
criminal or civil proceedings in relation to any legislation 
which they are responsible for monitoring, enforcing or 
otherwise implementing on behalf of the Council. 

 
 b. To put in place management arrangements, which define the 

area of responsibility of all officers under their area of 
responsibility. 

 
 c. In the case of any overspend to notify the chief finance officer in 

the role of Section 151 officer in accordance with the financial 
procedure rules and regulations. 

 
 d. To determine staffing arrangements within approved budgets, 

subject to agreement on grading with the head of paid service 
and conformance with Council policies. 

 
 e. To take all action to recruit, appoint, develop, manage and 

reward employees within approved Council policies and 
procedures (including operation of policies for discipline and 
dismissal, voluntary severance, early retirement, redundancy 
and redeployment) and relevant conditions of service. 

 
13. In taking any decision, the officer concerned must be satisfied that the 

following issues have been properly considered and completed where 
appropriate.  All of these issues should be considered at the earliest 
possible stage. 

 
 a. A key decision should be taken in accordance with the relevant 

requirements; 
 
 b. the views of the relevant portfolio holder; 
 

Page 134



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 105

 c. consideration of the views of the constituency committees  and 
the  local councillors in decisions about local services; 

 
 d. the implication of any Council policy, initiative, strategy or 

procedure.  Officers need to be aware of any potential impact of 
a delegated decision on other services.  In such cases 
consultation with officers, relevant cabinet member(s) or 
committee chairman and local members, where the issue relates 
to a specific area, should take place; 

 
 e. consultation in accordance with the Council’s consultation 

strategy and the views emanating from that process; 
 
 f. the range of available options; 
 
 g. the staffing, finance and legal implications; 
 
 h. the assessment of any associated risks in accordance with the 

Council’s risk and management strategy; 
 
 i. the involvement of appropriate statutory officers and/or other 

directors; 
 
 j. the Council’s constitution, including the forward work plan, its 

contract and financial procedures and regulations, all relevant 
guidance, legislation, codes of practice and protocols. 

 
14. Any councillor may request that decisions taken by officers under the 

delegated powers are scrutinised by the appropriate Policy and 
Performance Committee. 

 
15. For the avoidance of doubt anything which is not covered by this 

scheme, including the appointment of a proper officer for the purpose 
of any statutory function, will be determined by the head of paid 
service. 

 
 
 
 

Page 135



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 106

PART 3 
 
SCHEDULE 5 
 
DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS TO INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBERS AS 
NOTIFIED FROM TIME TO TIME TO THE HEAD OF LEGAL/MEMBERS 
SERVICES BY THE LEADER 
 
 
(TO BE NOTIFIED)

Page 136



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 107

Rules of Procedure 
 
Council Procedure Rules - Standing 
Orders 
 
SECTION 1 - RELATING TO MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
Standing Order Page 
1 Meetings of the Council 144 
2                    Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor 144 
3 Chair of Meeting 144 
4 Quorum 144 
5 Order of Business 145 
5A  Annual Meetings of the Council                                                    146  
5B  Election of the Leader                                                                   147 
6 Minutes 148 
7 Submission of Proceedings of Committees 149 
8 Notices of Motion 150 
9 Motions which may be moved without notice 151 
10 Proposals to increase expenditure 152 
11 Questions 152 Rules of Debate for Council Meetings
 (1) Motions and amendments 153  
                      (2)    Minority reports 153 
 (3) Joint Debates 153 
 (4) Seconding 154 
 (5) Standing when speaking 154 
 (6) Right of reply (amendments to minutes) 154 
 (7) Right of reply (notices of motion under Standing Order 8) 154 
 (8) Speeches, restrictions and time limits 154 
 (9) Restrictions on speaking more than once 154 
 (10) Amendments 155 
 (11) Amendments to be dealt with in order 155 
 (12) Further amendments - substantive motion 155 
 (13) Withdrawal of amendment 156 
 (14) Motions which may be moved in the course of debate 156 
 (15) Closure motions 156 
 (16) Point of order 157 
 (17) Mayor's ruling 157 
 (18) Precedence of Mayor 158 
13 Budget Council Procedure 158 
14 Motions affecting persons employed by the Council 158 
15 Disorderly conduct 158 
16 Disturbance by members of the public 158 
17 Rescission of preceding resolution 159 
18 Voting  159 
19 Voting on appointments 160 

Page 137



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 108

20 Interest of officers in contracts 160 
21 Petitions 160 
22 Interpretation of Standing Orders 160 
22A Suspension of Standing Orders 160    

Chapter 2 SECTION 2 - RELATING TO COMMITTEES  
 
    Page 
Order 
 
23 Standing Orders to apply to Committees 161 
 and Sub-Committees  
24 This Procedure Rule has been deleted 161 Constitution of Committees and Sub
26 Special meetings of Committees 162 
27 Attendance of members of the Council at Cabinet and  
 Committee meetings 162 
28 Selection of Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Council 163 
29 Quorum for Committees and Sub-Committees 163 
30 Voting in Committees and Sub-Committees 163 
31 Proceedings of Committees to be confidential 163 
32 Surrender of delegated powers 163 Panels 164 
34 Petitions 165 
35 Calling in of decisions 167 
 
Appendix (SO11) – Public Question Time Procedure
 
168 
 

Page 138



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 109

 
 
 
SECTION 1 - RELATING TO MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
1. Meetings of the Council 
 

(1) In addition to the Annual Meeting of the Council and any 
extraordinary meetings convened by the Mayor or by members 
of the Council (in accordance with Schedule 12 of the Local 
Government Act 1972), ordinary meetings shall be held in each 
year on such dates as the Council decides, provided that such 
dates may be varied by the Council, or by the Head of 
Legal/Member Services after consultation with the Leader of the 
Council. 

 
(2) The Annual Meeting shall be held at 7.00 pm or at such other 

time as the Council decides, at the Town Hall, Wallasey, or at 
such other place as the Council decides, and ordinary meetings 
of the Council shall be held at 6.15 pm, or at such other time 
decided by the Head of Legal/Member Services after 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, at the Town Hall, 
Wallasey. 

 
(3) Each ordinary meeting of the Council shall be concluded by 9:30 

on the day of the meeting accordance with the procedure 
contained in Standing Order 9, unless the Council agrees to 
suspend that standing order before it comes into operation at 
the meeting. 

 
(4) An extraordinary meeting of the Council may be called at any 

time by the Mayor. The Mayor should also consider a request for 
an extraordinary meeting if it is signed by five members of the 
Council. If the Mayor refuses to comply with the request or does 
not refuse but does not call an extraordinary meeting within 
seven days of receiving the requisition, then any five members 
of the Council may call an extraordinary meeting. 

 
2. Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
 

The Council shall at the Annual Meeting elect a Mayor and a 
Deputy Mayor. Should the Deputy Mayor subsequently be asked 
by the Leader to take up a position in his/her Cabinet and 
wishes to accept that invitation, then the Deputy Mayor shall 
relinquish the post of Deputy Mayor but may still be considered 
“Mayor Designate” for the following year.  In these 
circumstances, a new election for Deputy Mayor will be held as 
soon as practicable to carry out all the activities associated with 
that post. 

 

Page 139



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 110

3. Chair of Meeting 
 
 Any power or duty of the Mayor relating to the conduct of the meeting 

may be exercised by the person presiding at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Quorum 
 

(1) Subject to the requirements of the Local Government Act 1972 
the quorum of the Council shall be 17 (which shall include the 
Mayor or other person presiding at the meeting), and if during 
any meeting of the Council the Mayor, after counting the number 
of members present, declares that there is not a quorum present 
the meeting shall stand adjourned. Any undisposed of business 
shall be referred either to an adjourned meeting, the date and 
time of which shall be fixed by the Mayor after consultation with 
the Leader of the Council at the time the meeting is adjourned, 
or, if the Mayor does not fix a time, to the next ordinary meeting 
of the Council. 

 
(2) If at the end of 15 minutes after the time at which any meeting of 

the Council is scheduled to start a quorum is not present, no 
meeting shall take place. The majority of members then present, 
or if there is only one member then present that member, may 
fix the date and time for a reconvened meeting, and Head of 
Legal and Member Services shall make an appropriate entry in 
the minutes. 

 
5. Order of Business (Council Meetings) 
 

(1) This Standing Order shall be subject to Standing Order 5A 
below as respects Annual Meetings of the Council 

 
(2) Subject to paragraph (3) below, the order of business at every 

meeting of the Council shall be as follows: 
 

  (a) to choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy 
Mayor are absent; 

 
  (b) to receive the Mayor's announcements; 
 
  (c) to deal with any business required by statute to be done 

before any other business; 
 
  (d) to receive petitions without debate in accordance with 

Standing Order 21; 
 

Page 140



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 111

  (e) to deal with questions from members of the public in 
accordance with the procedure set out in Appendix 1 to 
these standing orders; 

 
  (f) to approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of 

the last meeting of the Council; 
 
  (g) to dispose of business (if any) remaining from the 

previous meeting; 
 
  (h) To receive the written reports of the Leader and the 

Executive Members and the Chairs of the Policy & 
Performance Committees and receive questions and 
answers on any of those reports. 

 
  (i) To consider any recommendations of the 

Leader/Executive and committees which require the 
approval of the council; 

 
  (j) To consider any other business specified in the 

summons;  
 
  (k) to deal with questions in accordance with Standing Order 

11; 
 
 
  (l) to deal with any references from the Policy and 

Peformance Committees; 
 
  (m) to consider and decide upon active petitions referred to 

Council for debate under Standing Order 34(1); on a 
motion to be formally moved by the Mayor and duly 
seconded to note the contents of the petition. 

 
  (n) to deal with any other business, if any, specified in the 

Summons. 
 
  (o) to consider any notices of motion submitted in 

accordance with Standing Order 7 which the Council 
agrees should be debated rather than being referred to 
the Leader or the appropriate committee(s), 

 
 (3) The order of items (a), (b), (c), and (d) of paragraph (1) cannot 

be changed.  The order of other items may be varied: 
 
  (a) at the discretion of the Mayor, or 
 
  (b) by a resolution duly moved and seconded, without 

discussion. 
 

Page 141



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 112

 (4) Notices of motion shall be dealt with in the order in which they 
are received. 

 
5A Meetings of the Council 
 

(1) The Annual Meeting of the Council will be held: 
 
(a) in a year of ordinary elections of Councillors to the 

Council, on the first Monday after the day of retirement of 
the persons who were Councillors before the election, or 
on such other day within 21 days after that day of 
retirement as the Council may fix; or 

 
(b) in any other year, on the second Monday in May, or such 

other day in the month of March, April or May that year as 
the Council may fix. 

 
But provided the Annual Meeting commences on such date, 
some or all of the business to be conducted at the Annual 
Meeting (with the exception of the election of a Mayor) may be 
adjourned to another date (or dates) determined by the Council. 

 
Note: The ‘day of retirement of the persons who were Councillors 

before the election’ is the fourth day after the day of the election 
(see the Local Government Act 1972, section 26(3)). 

 
(2) In addition to business of the kinds specified in Article 5 above, 

the business at Annual Meetings of the Council shall include: 
 

(a) as the first item of business, the election of a Mayor; 
 
(b) the election of a Deputy Mayor; 
 
(c) the election of a Leader as provided for by Article 7.3 of the 

Constitution (but only when the occasion to do so under that 
Article arises); 

 
(d) the appointment of Members to committees that are not 

committees of the Cabinet; 
 
(e) the appointment of Chairs and Vice-Chairs to such 

committees as are provided for at (d) unless the Council 
decides in any instance not to do so; and 

 
(f)  the appointment of Members to panels, advisory 

committees, working parties and miscellaneous other 
bodies. 

 
(g) the appointment of Members (and/or other individuals) to 

outside bodies and organisations. 

Page 142



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 113

 
 (3) A Policy Council to agree the policy framework/performance 

agreement will normally be held in November, its purpose to 
establish the Council’s priorities, agree the Corporate Plan and 
inform the budget setting process including the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

 
5B Election of the Leader 
 

(1) When the occasion arises for the Council to elect a Leader, the 
Mayor (or other person presiding at the meeting) shall invite a 
Member nominated by the Group Leader of the political group 
with the largest number of Councillors to propose the name of a 
Councillor to be elected as the Leader of the Council. 

 
(2) If a name is proposed under Rule 5B(1), the Mayor (or other 

person presiding at the meeting) shall then invite any Member to 
second that proposal. 

 
(3) If a name is proposed and seconded under Rules 5B(1) and (2), 

the Mayor (or other person presiding at the meeting) shall then 
invite the person proposed as Leader to confirm whether or not 
they accept the nomination and if (but only if) they so accept, to 
have the opportunity (which may be declined in whole or in part) 
to indicate to the Council the political composition and/or names 
of Cabinet Members that, if elected as the Leader, they would be 
minded to appoint. 

 
(4) If the person proposed as the Leader has confirmed their 

willingness to serve as the Leader if elected, the motion shall 
then be put to the vote without debate and, if a majority of those 
Councillors present and voting vote for the motion, the person 
proposed shall be elected as the Leader with immediate effect 
and shall be invited to make an acceptance speech of not more 
than 5 minutes duration. 

 
(5) If no person is elected as the Leader under the preceding 

paragraphs of this Procedure Rule, then Rules 5B(1) to (4) shall 
be repeated with substitution in Rule 5B(1) of the phrase ‘the 
Group Leader of the political group with the largest number of 
Councillors’ by the phrase ‘the Group Leader of the political 
group with the second largest number of Councillors’. 

 
(6) If no person is elected as the Leader under the preceding 

paragraphs of this Procedure Rule, then Rules 5B(1) to (4) shall 
be repeated with substitution in Rule 5B(1) of the phrase ‘the 
Group Leader of the political group with the largest number of 
Councillors’ by the phrase ‘the Group Leader of the political 
group with the third largest number of Councillors’. 

 

Page 143



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 114

(7) If no person is elected as the Leader under the preceding 
paragraphs of this Procedure Rule, then, so far as the Mayor 
considers it appropriate, Rules 5B(1) to (6) may be repeated. 

 
(8) Where two or more political groups comprise the same number 

of Councillors their precedence under this Rule 5B shall be 
determined by agreement of the relevant Group Leaders or, in 
the absence of such agreement, by the drawing of lots (before or 
during the meeting) in a manner determined by the Head of 
Law/Democratic Services (or his representative attending the 
meeting). 

 
6. Minutes 
 

(1) If the minutes of the last meeting of the Council have been 
circulated before the meeting, they shall be taken as read and 
the Mayor shall move that they be approved as a correct record. 

 
(2) The minutes shall not be discussed except to question their 

accuracy. If their accuracy is not disputed the Mayor shall sign 
them. Any question of accuracy shall be put to the vote. 

 
(3)  Where in relation to any meeting of the authority the next such 

meeting is a meeting called under paragraph 3 (extraordinary 
meetings) of Schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972, 
the next following meeting of the authority (being a meeting 
called otherwise than under that paragraph) shall be treated as 
a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) 
(signing of minutes) of that Schedule. 

 
7. Notices of Motion 
 

(1) Subject to Standing Order 16, notice of every motion except of 
one under Standing Order 8 shall be given in writing, signed by 
the member in whose name it stands and by at least five other 
members and delivered no later than the Monday of the 
second week before each ordinary meeting of the Council to 
the Head of Legal/Member Services, who shall arrange for it to 
be dated, numbered in the order in which it is received, and 
entered in a book which shall be open to inspection by every 
member of the Council. 

 
(2) The Head of Legal/Member Services shall set out in the 

Summons for every meeting of the Council all motions of which 
notice has been duly given, in the order in which they have been 
received, unless the member giving such a notice has since 
withdrawn it in writing. 

 
(3) If a motion set out in the Summons is not moved by the member 

who gave notice of it or by another member on his/her behalf, or 

Page 144



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 115

is not duly seconded, it shall, unless postponed with the 
agreement of the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not 
be moved without fresh notice. 

 
(4) If the Mayor does not consider it convenient or conducive to the 

dispatch of business or the majority of councillors present do not 
agree that the motion will be dealt with at the meeting at which it 
is brought forward, it shall be referred without discussion to the 
Leader or such committee as the Mayor may determine for 
consideration. 

 
(5) Where a motion has been referred to any committee or the 

Cabinet under the previous paragraph, any debate on that 
motion at a subsequent Council meeting shall take place upon 
the report or the recommendation of the committee(s) or the 
Cabinet and there shall be no separate debate upon the motion 
itself. 

 
(6) A member of the Council who has moved a motion which has 

been referred to any committee shall be given notice of the 
meeting at which it is to be considered. The member shall have 
the right to attend the meeting and an opportunity of explaining 
the motion. 

 
(7) Every motion shall be relevant to some matter which affects the 

Borough or be related to the Council's powers or duties. 
 
 (8) If the Head of Legal/Member Services after consultation with the 

Mayor is of the opinion that a notice of motion is out of order it 
shall not be included in the Council Summons and that officer 
shall arrange for the members who signed it to be so informed. 

 
8. Motions which may be moved without notice having been given 

under Standing Order 7  
 
 The following motions may be moved without notice, but must be 

seconded.  The mover must confine any remarks to the form of the 
motion: 

 
 (a) appointment of a Chair for the meeting at which the motion is 

made; 
 
 (b) motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes; 
 
 (c) that an item of business specified in the Summons has 

precedence; 
 
 (d) appointment of a committee or members of it, arising from an 

item mentioned in the Summons, or the submission to Council 

Page 145



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 116

for approval of a name as a member of any body as required by 
the minutes of the Council or of a committee; 

 
 (e) adoption of reports and recommendations of committees or 

officers and any consequent resolutions; 
 
 (f) that leave be given to withdraw a motion; 
 
 (g) extending the time limit for speeches in accordance with 

Standing Order 12(7); 
 
 (h) that the Council proceed to the next business; 
 
 (i) that the question be now put; 
 
 (j) that the debate be now adjourned; 
 
 (k) that the Council adjourn to a specified time and date, or to such 

time and date as the Mayor may decide after consultation with 
the Leader of the Council; 

 
 (l) suspending a Standing Order in accordance with Standing 

Order 36; 
 
 (m) motions under the Local Government (Access to Information) 

Act 1985 to exclude the public; 
 
 (n) that a member named under Standing Order 15 be not further 

heard or do leave the meeting; 
 
 (o) giving the consent of the Council where the consent of the 

Council is required by these Standing Orders; 
 
 (p) to amend the motion; 
 
 (q) to postpone consideration of the motion or amendment; 
 
 (r) motions and amendments on references by a Policy and 

Performance Committee. 
 
 (s) any motion or amendment relating to the referring of petitions or 

their debate at Council pursuant to Standing Order 34. 
 
9. Conclusion of Council Meeting 
 

(1) If the Council has not disposed of all Business by 9.00 pm on 
the day of the meeting it shall dispose of the item then under 
consideration as if the motion 'That the question be now put' 
had been carried, i.e. the debate shall be concluded by the 

Page 146



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 117

seconder and by the Member who has the right of reply (see 
Standing Order 12(14)(b) below). 

 
 (2) After that matter has been disposed of, all remaining matters 

listed for debate, shall be dealt with by being moved and 
seconded without discussion and put to the vote. 

  
 
 
10. Questions 
 

(1) At every ordinary Council meeting, except the Budget Council 
meeting, questions may be asked by either a member of the 
Council or a member of the public in accordance with this 
standing order.  

 
 (2) A member of the Council may 
  
 (a) ask a question of the Leader, a Cabinet Member or the Chair of 

a committee any question without notice on any written report 
under Standing Order 5.1(h) of the Executive Board or a 
committee submitted to the Council at that meeting. 

 
 (b) ask the Mayor or the Chair of any committee or a Cabinet 

member a general question on any matter which affects the 
Borough or which is related to the Council's powers or duties. 
Notice of a general question must be given to Head of Legal and 
Member Services by 10.00 a.m. on the Wednesday preceding 
the day on which Council is held. 

 
(3) A member of the public may ask a question in accordance with 

the procedure set out in the appendix to these standing orders. 
 

(4) Every question shall be put and answered without discussion, 
but the person to whom the question has been put may decline 
to answer. 

 
 (5) An answer may take the form of - 
 
 (a) a direct oral answer; or 

 
 (b) where the information requested is contained in a publication of 

the Council, a reference to that publication; or  
 
 (c) a written answer circulated to members of the Council either 

during the meeting at which the question is asked or 
subsequently. 

 
 

Page 147



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 118

(6) If a question relates to a matter within the competence of a sub-
committee, the Chair may refer it to the Chair of that sub-
committee, and the expression "Chair" in the standing order 
shall be interpreted in this way.   

 
(7) Where a spokesperson has been nominated under the Local 

Government Act 1985 or any other statute to answer questions 
in Council on matters relating to the functions of other 
authorities, or any member or officer is required to answer 
questions pursuant to section 71(5) of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 that spokesperson, member or officer 
shall be treated as a Chair for the purposes of this Standing 
Order and those parts of it relating to general questions shall 
apply. 

 
 
 
 
 

11. Restrictions and time limits on questions 
 
(a) any question shall be limited to 2 minutes. 
(b) The total number of questions on any one report shall not 

usually exceed five. 
(c) Responses to any question will reserved to the conclusion of all 

the questions on a particular report, when all the questions will 
be answered individually or as a composite response as 
appropriate. 

(d) Any response to questions on a particular report shall not 
exceed ten minutes. 

(e) The total time allocated to members questions shall not exceed 
one and a half hours. 

(f) The Mayor will broadly endeavour to call members and allocate 
the time for questions such that each political party has that 
proportion of the time which reflects their relative membership of 
the council. 

(g) The Mayor as an exception may agree to an extension of these 
numbers and time limits. 

 
 
 

 
12. Rules of Debate for Council Meetings 
 
 (1) Motions and Amendments 
 
 A motion or amendment shall relate to a recommendation of a 

committee submitted in accordance with Standing Order 5.2(l), or to a 
matter referred to in Standing Orders 7 and 8. It shall not be discussed 
unless it has been proposed and seconded.   

Page 148



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 119

 
 The terms of any amendment or notice of motion shall not be varied 

except with the agreement of the Council 
 
 (2) Joint Debates 
 
 The Council can agree to deal with the two or more related motions in 

one debate. Each mover and seconder should have the right to speak 
in accordance with Standing Order 12(7) and separate votes should be 
taken on each motion. 
 
(3) Seconding 

 
 A member when seconding a motion or amendment shall speak 

immediately before the reply made by either the Chair or the mover of 
the original motion, under paragraphs (5) or (6) of this standing order. 
No further ordinary speeches shall be made after the seconder has 
spoken. 

 
 (4) Standing when speaking 
 
 A member when speaking shall stand and address the Mayor. If two or 

more members rise, the Mayor shall call on one to speak; the other or 
others shall then sit. While a member is speaking the other members 
shall remain seated, unless rising to a point of order. 

 
 (5) Right of reply (Amendment to Recommendation) 
 
 The Chair of the Committee on the member of the Cabinet, the 

recommendation under 5(2)(i) of which is being debated, shall have the 
right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment. 

 
(6) Right of reply (Notices of Motion under Standing Order 8) 

 
 The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the close of the debate on 

the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.  If an amendment is 
moved, the mover of the original motion shall also have a right of reply 
at the close of the debate on the amendment in accordance with 
paragraph (7)(c) of this standing order. The mover of the amendment 
shall have no right of reply to the debate on the amendment. 

 
 (7) Speeches, restrictions and time limits 
 
 A member shall direct any speech to the matter under discussion or to 

a point of order as defined in paragraph (15) of this standing order. The 
following time limits shall apply to speeches:- 

 
 (a) the Chair, Cabinet Member or mover of the motion - not 

exceeding 7 minutes; 
 

Page 149



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 120

 (b) the seconder of the motion or notice of motion - not exceeding 3 
minutes; 

 
 (c) the Chair, Cabinet member or the mover of the motion, having 

the right to reply - not exceeding 7 minutes; 
 
  The Chair having the right to reply shall be entitled to give an 

explanation immediately after the motion has been moved and 
seconded but the total time allowed for the explanation and for 
the reply at the end of the debate shall not exceed 7 minutes. 

 
 (d) any other speakers - not exceeding 3 minutes. 
 
 The Mayor as an exception may agree to an extension of these time 

limits for a period or successive periods of 2 minutes. 
 
 (8) Restrictions on speaking more than once 
 
 A member who has spoken on any motion shall not speak again while 

it is the subject of debate, except 
 
 (a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 
 
 (b) if the motion has been amended since the member last spoke, 

to move a further amendment; 
 
 (c) in exercise of a right of reply given by paragraphs (5), (6), (7) or 

(14) of this standing order; 
 
 (d) on a point of order. 
 
 (9) Amendments 
 
 Subject to Standing Order 7(5) an amendment to a motion or 

recommendation of the Cabinet or of a Committee shall be relevant to 
the motion or recommendation under consideration and shall be either 

 
 (a) to refer or refer back a subject of debate for consideration or re-

consideration as the case may be; 
 
 (b) to leave out words; 
 
 (c) to leave out words and insert or add others; 
 
 (d) to insert or add words. 
 
 as long as the effect of any amendment is not to negate the motion or 

recommendation. 
 
 (10) Amendments to be dealt with in order 

Page 150



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 121

 
 Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time. 
 
 (11) Substantive motion 
 
 If an amendment is lost, other amendments notified under Standing 

Order 5(1)(h) may be moved on the original motion; if an amendment is 
carried, the motion as amended shall take the place of the original 
motion and shall become the motion upon which any further 
amendment notified as an objection may be moved. 

 
(12) Withdrawal of amendment 

 
 A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover with the 

agreement of the seconder and of the Council, which shall be indicated 
without discussion.  No member may speak upon it after the mover has 
asked permission for its withdrawal, unless such permission has been 
refused. 

 
 (13) Motions which may be moved in course of debate 
 
 When a motion or amendment is under debate no motion shall be 

moved except the following: 
 
 (a) to amend the motion; 
 
 (b) to postpone consideration of the motion or amendment; 
 
 (c) to adjourn the meeting; 
 
 (d) to suspend Standing Order 7(8); 
 
 (e) to adjourn the debate; 
 
 (f) to proceed to the next business; 
 
 (g) that the question be now put; 
 
 (h) that a member be not further heard; 
 
 (i) by the Mayor under Standing Order 15, that a member do leave 

the meeting; 
 
 (j) a motion under the Local Government (Access to Information) 

Act 1985 to exclude the public; 
 

 (k) giving the agreement of the Council where the agreement is 
required by these standing orders. 

 
 (14) Closure motions 

Page 151



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 122

 
 A Member who has not spoken previously on a matter under debate 

may move without comment at the end of a speech of another 
member: 

 
 "That the Council proceed to the next business", 
 
 or "That the question be now put", 
 
 or "That the debate be now adjourned", 
 
 or "That the Council do now adjourn". 
 
 If the motion is seconded the Mayor shall proceed as follows:- 
 
 (a) On a motion to proceed to next business, 
 
  (i) the Mayor shall put the motion to proceed to the next 

business to the vote, unless in the Mayor's opinion the 
matter before the meeting has not been sufficiently 
discussed; 

 
  (ii) if that motion is not carried the Mayor shall allow the 

debate to continue; 
 
  (iii) if that motion is carried the Council shall immediately 

proceed to consideration of the next item of business. 
 
 (b) On a motion that the question be now put, 
 
  (i) the Mayor shall put the motion that the question be now 

put to the vote, unless in the Mayor's opinion the matter 
before the meeting has not been sufficiently discussed; 

 
  (ii) if that motion is not carried the Mayor shall allow the 

debate to continue; 
 
  (iii) if that motion is carried the Mayor shall call upon the 

seconder of the motion under discussion provided the 
seconder has not already spoken. The Mayor shall then 
call upon the Chair,  Cabinet member or the mover of the 
original motion to reply, as appropriate in accordance with 
paragraphs (5) or (12) of this standing order; 

 
  (iv) the Mayor shall then put the original matter under debate 

to the vote. 
 
 (c) On a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting, the Mayor 

shall put the adjournment motion to the vote without calling on 
the Chair, Cabinet member or the mover of the original motion to 

Page 152



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 123

reply under paragraphs (5) or (12) of this standing order. 
Similarly, the seconder of the original motion who has not 
already spoken shall not be allowed to speak. 

 
 
 (15) Point of Order 
 
 A member may rise on a point of order and shall be entitled to be heard 

immediately. 
 
 A POINT OF ORDER SHALL RELATE ONLY TO AN ALLEGED 

BREACH OF A STANDING ORDER OR STATUTORY PROVISION, 
AND THE MEMBER SHALL SPECIFY THE STANDING ORDER OR 
THE STATUTORY PROVISION AND THE WAY IN WHICH HE/SHE 
CONSIDERS IT HAS BEEN BROKEN. 

 
 (16) Mayor's ruling 
 
 The ruling of the Mayor on a point of order shall not be open to 

discussion. 
 
 (17) Precedence of Mayor 
 
 Whenever the Mayor rises during a debate a member then standing 

shall be seated and the Council shall be silent. 
 
13. Budget Council Procedure 
 
 The Head of Law/Members Services shall prior to the budget meeting 

of the Council consult with the Leaders of each political group and 
submit to the Cabinet and Council a suggested procedure to be 
adopted at the budget meeting but if no such procedure is adopted the 
normal procedures of the Council in relation to amendments to Cabinet 
recommendations will apply. 

 
14. Motions affecting persons employed by the Council 
 
 If any question arises at a meeting of the Council (or at a committee of 

it or at Cabinet) to which the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 applies as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, 
superannuation or conditions of service, or as to the conduct, of any 
person employed by the Council, that question shall not be discussed 
until the Council, committee or Cabinet has decided whether or not the 
power of exclusion of the public under the Act should be exercised. 

 
 
 
15. Disorderly conduct 
 

Page 153



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 124

(1) If any member of the Council misconducts himself/herself at a 
meeting by persistently disregarding the ruling of the Mayor, or 
by behaving irregularly, improperly or offensively, or by wilfully 
obstructing the business of the Council, the Mayor or any other 
member may move "That the named member be not further 
heard". That motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote and 
determined without discussion. If the motion is carried the 
named member shall take no further part in the debate in 
question. 

 
(2) If the named member continues the misconduct after a motion 

under the previous paragraph has been carried, or if any 
member acts so irregularly, improperly or offensively that the 
member's continued presence at the meeting cannot reasonably 
be tolerated, the Mayor or any other member may move "That 
the named member leave the meeting immediately". That 
motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote and determined 
without discussion. If the motion is carried the named member 
shall leave the meeting immediately. 

 
(3) If the named member continues the misconduct after a motion 

under paragraph (1) has been carried, the Mayor shall have a 
discretion, and as an alternative to pursuing the action set out in 
paragraph (2), to adjourn the meeting for a period of up to 30 
minutes. 

 
(4) In the event of a general disturbance which in the opinion of the 

Mayor prevents the Council from disposing of its business in a 
proper and orderly manner, the Mayor may, without the question 
being put, adjourn the meeting for a period of up to 30 minutes. 

 
 
16. Disturbance by members of the public 
 

(1) If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any 
meeting the Mayor shall issue a warning. If that person 
continues the interruption the Mayor may order the person to be 
removed from the Council Chamber. In the case of general 
disturbance in any part of the Chamber open to the public the 
Mayor may order that part to be cleared. 

      
(2) In the event of a general disturbance which, in the opinion of the 

Mayor, prevents the Council from disposing of its business in a 
proper and orderly manner, the Mayor may, without the question 
being put, adjourn the meeting for a period of up to 30 minutes. 

 
17. Rescission of preceding resolution 
 

(1) No decision of the Council (including a decision taken by a 
committee or panel under delegated powers) may be 

Page 154



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 125

reconsidered by the Council on a notice of motion within six 
months of the date of the earlier decision unless the notice of 
motion (under Standing Order 8) is signed by 17 members of the 
Council. If that motion is rejected by the Council neither it nor 
one to the same effect can be considered by the Council for six 
months. 

 
(2) No resolution or recommendation (other than a procedural 

resolution) made by a committee or panel during the course of a 
meeting shall be rescinded or amended by the committee or 
panel during the same meeting or any adjournment of it unless 
there are reasonable grounds for believing that all of the 
material information was not available at the time that the 
resolution or recommendation was passed. 

 
18. Voting 
 

(1) The normal method of voting at meetings of the Council shall be 
by show of hands unless the Council determines otherwise. 

 
(2) The Mayor may decide at any time to discontinue use of the 

electronic voting system if satisfied that it is not working 
correctly. 

 
(3) When the electronic voting system is being used, the Mayor may 

require or allow the vote to be retaken either electronically or by 
show of hands if he/she considers that there has been any 
malfunction of the equipment or any incorrect use of it. 

 
(4) No individual votes will be recorded in the minutes of Council 

unless either a “card vote” is requested pursuant to paragraph 
(5) hereof or a “recorded vote” is requested pursuant to 
paragraph (6). 

 
(5) If a member of the Council makes a request before a vote is 

taken for a “card vote” and is supported by five other members 
rising in their places, voting shall be by that method so as to 
show how all members present and voting gave their votes 
provided that when the electronic voting system is to be used a 
“card vote” shall mean only the electronic recording of such 
votes. 

 
(6)  Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting of the 

Council, any member of that body so requires, there shall be 
recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting 
whether that person cast his/her vote for the question or against 
the question (a dissent) or whether he/she abstained from 
voting. 

 

Page 155



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 126

 (7) When the electronic voting system is not being used, no request 
for a card vote may be made during the procedure referred to in 
Standing Order 7(8). 

 
(8)  In taking a vote upon any question, only those members of the 

Council who are present in the Council Chamber and seated in 
their places when the question is put from the Chair shall be 
entitled to vote. 

 
19. Voting on appointments 
 
 Where there are more than two persons nominated for any position to 

be filled by the Council and there is not a majority of the votes given in 
favour of one person, the name of the person having the least number 
of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote shall be taken, and 
so on, until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person. 

 
20. Interest of officers in contracts 
 
 The Head of Law/Member Services shall record in a book to be kept for 

the purpose particulars of any notice given by an officer of the Council 
under section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 of a pecuniary 
interest in a contract, and the book shall be open during office hours for 
inspection by any member of the Council. 

 
21. Petitions 
 
 Petition shall be dealt with in accordance with Standing Order 34. Save 

as permitted by Standing Order 34 no person shall be entitled to speak 
to a petition at Council. 

 
22. Interpretation of Standing Orders 
 
 The ruling of the Mayor as to the interpretation or application of any of 

the standing orders, or as to any proceedings of the Council, shall not 
be challenged at any meeting of the Council. 

 
22A. Suspension of Standing Orders 
 
(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3) of this standing order, any of the 

preceding Standing Orders may be suspended so far as regards any 
business at the meeting of the Council where its suspension is moved. 

 
(2) A motion to suspend Standing Orders shall not be moved without 

notice (i.e. under Standing Order 9) unless there shall be present at 
least one half of the whole number of the members of the Council. 

 
(3) Standing Orders 6(3), 18(6), 23(f) (and the reference thereto in 

Standing Order 33) shall not be capable of being suspended without 
statutory authority. 

Page 156



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 127

SECTION 2 - RELATING TO COMMITTEES 
 
23. Standing Orders to apply to committees and sub-committees 
 
 The following standing orders of the Council shall, with any necessary 

modification, apply to committee, sub-committee and panel meetings - 
 
 (a) Rules of Debate (except for those parts which relate to standing, 

to speaking more than once, and to amendments' being in 
writing - S O 12 

 (b) Motions affecting persons employed by the Council - S O 14 
 (c) Disorderly conduct - S O 15 
 (d) Disturbance by members of the public - S O 16 
 (e) Rescission of preceding resolution - S O 17 

(f) Recording of votes - S O 18(6) 
 (g) Voting on appointments - S O 19 
 (h) In relation to start time – S O 4 
 (i) In relation to the suspension of standing orders – SO 22A 
 
24. This Procedure Rule has been deleted 
 
25. Committees, Sub-Committees of the Council and Attendance   

 
(1) Unless its terms of reference provide otherwise, a committee 

may authorise one of its sub-committees or any officer of the 
Council to discharge any of its functions. 

 
(2) Unless it is expressly stated to the contrary, reference to 

committees and sub-committees in this section of Standing 
Orders shall be taken not to include panels (see Standing Order 
33). 

  
(3) No member shall be appointed to a committee of the Council so 

as to hold office later than the next Annual Meeting of the 
Council. 

 
(4) The Council may at any time dissolve such a committee or alter 

its membership. 
 

(5) The Leaders and Deputy Leaders of the three largest political 
groups represented on the Council shall, if not members, be 
permitted to attend meetings of the Cabinet, committees and 
Policy and Performance Committees, sub-committees and 
panels, but with the right to speak only at the Chair's invitation. 

 
(6) When a casual vacancy occurs, or when a political group wishes 

to alter its representation on such a committee, the relevant 
political group shall submit a replacement nomination to the 
Head of Legal/Member Services, who shall report the 
nomination to the next meeting of the Council. The appointment 

Page 157



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 128

of the nominee shall be deemed to take effect when the 
nomination has been reported, without the need for a vote. 

 
 (6)(a) The Council may appoint named deputies for members of its 

committees and each committee may appoint named deputies 
for members of its sub-committee(s) and panel(s) up to a 
maximum of eight for each political group, and such deputies 
shall be authorised to deputise for any member of their group 
who is unable to attend a meeting. 

 
 (b) In the absence of the first named deputy the second member is 

deemed to be the deputy and in the absence of both the third 
shall be the deputy, and so on. 

 
 (c) If apart from this paragraph a person would be entitled to act as 

a deputy for more than one member of the committee that 
person shall be the deputy for the member whose surname has 
alphabetical priority and shall be regarded as absent in deciding 
which other deputy members are entitled to act in the absence 
of any other member of the committee. 

 
(d) Once a meeting has commenced no member shall be replaced 

by a deputy and no deputy shall be replaced by any other 
member provided that where a meeting has been adjourned to 
another date the adjourned meeting shall be regarded as a 
separate meeting for the purposes of this Standing Order. The 
exception to this is where meetings are considering individual 
applications and where changes in membership are necessary 
due to declarations of interest. 

 
 (7) A member of the Cabinet shall not be appointed to serve on any 

Policy and Performance Committee of the Council. 
 
26. Special meetings of committees  
 

(1) The Chair of the Cabinet or of any committee or sub-committee 
(or his/her nominee) may authorise the calling of a special 
meeting at any time, provided that in the case of the Cabinet the 
Chair should consult other party leaders represented on the 
Cabinet and in the case of committees the relevant party 
spokespersons prior to any decision on the date of the meeting. 

 
(2) A special meeting of a committee or sub-committee may also be 

called on the requisition of any two party spokespersons for the 
committee or sub-committee in question delivered in writing to 
the Head of Legal/Member Services. Subject to paragraph (3) 
below, the special meeting shall be held within 14 days of the 
date of receipt of the requisition, the actual date being 
determined by the Head of Law/Members Services after 

Page 158



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 129

consultation with the party spokespersons of the two political 
groups referred to in the requisition. 

 
(3) No special meeting of a committee or sub-committee shall be 

held in the period between the last meeting of the Council before 
the summer recess and the 1st of September in any year without 
the agreement of the Chair. 

 
(4) The Head of Law/Member Services may convene a meeting of 

an Policy and Performance Committee when required to comply 
with the call-in procedure. 

 
27. Attendance of members of the Council at Cabinet and committee 

meetings 
 
 A member of the Council may attend any meeting of the Cabinet, a 

standing committee, sub-committee or panel of the Council, even 
though he or she is not a member of the committee/sub-
committee/panel. Non-members of the Cabinet, committee, sub-
committee or panel may be excluded from the meeting if, in addition to 
passing a resolution pursuant to the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the committee/sub-committee/panel also passes 
a resolution excluding non-members of that committee/sub-
committee/panel. This standing order shall not affect a member's rights 
at common law. 

 
28. Selection of Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Council 
 
 The Cabinet shall be empowered to make recommendations to the 

Annual Meeting of the Council of the name of the person to be 
proposed for election as Mayor and of the name of the person to be 
proposed for appointment as Deputy Mayor. 

 
29. Quorum of committees and sub-committees 
 

(1) Except where authorised by a statute or ordered by the Council, 
business shall not be transacted at a meeting of any committee 
unless at least one quarter of the whole number of the 
committee is present. 

 
 In no case shall a quorum of a committee be fewer than four members. 
 

(2) Except where authorised by a statute or ordered by the Council, 
business shall not be transacted at a meeting of a sub-
committee or panel unless at least one quarter of the whole 
number of the sub-committee is present.  

 

 In no case shall a quorum of a sub-committee be fewer than three 
members. 

 
30. Voting in committees and sub-committees 

Page 159



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 130

 

 Voting at a meeting of a committee, sub-committee or panel shall be on 
a show of hands, and where there is an equality of votes the Chair of 
the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. 

 
 The minutes of a committee, sub-committee or panel shall record the 

number of votes cast for and against any motion which is put to the 
vote. 

 
 All motions and amendments formally moved and seconded shall be 

recorded in the minutes. 
 
31. Proceedings of committees to be confidential 
 
 Reports and documents marked "Not for Publication" shall be so 

treated unless and until they become public in the ordinary course of 
the Council's business or until that classification is removed by a 
committee, sub-committee or panel or by the Council. Reports marked 
"Confidential" shall remain confidential at all times. 

 
32. Surrender of delegated powers 
 
 Where any powers or duties have been delegated to the Pensions 

Committee it may submit any of its decisions to the Council for 
approval if it so decides. It must submit any decision in this way if 
requested to do so at the meeting at which that decision is made by at 
least one quarter of the total number of members present and voting. 
The request may be made before or after the vote is taken provided the 
next item of business has not been called. 

 
33. Panels 
 

(1) A committee may appoint one or more panels of members for 
the purpose of advising on or deciding any matter within the 
committee's terms of reference. The need for such panels shall 
be kept under review and in particular shall be reviewed at the 
first meeting of the committee in each municipal year. 

 
(2) Committees may appoint the Chairs, Vice-Chairs and members 

of panels. 
 

(3) Panel meetings shall be summoned by the Head of 
Law/Member Services (or by another officer duly nominated) 
with the consent of the Chair of the panel. 

 
(4) The minutes of each panel meeting shall be submitted to the 

subsequent meeting of the committee concerned. 
 

 

Page 160



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 131

(5) Notwithstanding the delegation of any powers to a panel, a 
panel may, if it so decides, submit a matter to the committee 
concerned or to a sub-committee for decision. 

 
(6) Standing Orders 23, 25(4) and (6), 27, 29(2), 30 and 31 shall 

apply to meetings of panels. Any reference to a committee or 
sub-committee in other parts of the Council’s Rules of 
Procedure shall be construed as including a panel. 

 
34. Petitions 
 

(1) If an active petition* contains more than 1500 qualifying 
signatures under the Council’s Petition Scheme and does not 
require a senior Council Officer (as defined in the Petition 
Scheme) to be called to account by the authority, the petition 
shall normally be debated by the full Council at the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council (normally excluding Budget Council); 
and, following that debate, the Council may take such action as 
it considers appropriate. The referral of the petition to a future 
Council meeting shall be without debate, save as to the 
question/s of: (a) whether the petition is an active petition*; 
and/or (b) the most appropriate meeting at which the petition 
should be debated by the Council. 

 
(2)  If an active petition* contains at least 750 qualifying signatures 

under the Council’s Petition Scheme and requires a senior 
Council Officer (as defined in the Petition Scheme) to be called 
to account by the authority, the Council shall refer the petition to 
the Policy and Performance Committee it considers most 
appropriate; and instruct that Committee to: 

 
(a) Use its power under section 21(13)(a) of the Local 

Government Act 2000 to require the relevant person** to 
attend  before it to answer questions; and  

(b) Submit a report (or recommendations) to a future ordinary 
meeting of the Council (normally excluding Budget Council); 
and  

(c) Send a copy of that report (or those recommendations) to the 
Petition Organiser. 

 
And following consideration of the Committee’s report (or 
recommendations) the Council may take such action as it considers 
appropriate. The referral of the petition to the Committee shall be 
without debate, save as to the question/s of:  
 
(a) whether the petition is an active petition*; and/or (b) the most 
appropriate Committee to which the petition should be referred. 
 
(3)  Any other active petition* addressed to the Mayor, to the Council 

or to a committee shall, immediately it is received, be referred to 

Page 161



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 132

the appropriate chief officer(s) for investigation. The referral of 
the petition shall be without debate, save as to the question/s of: 
(a) whether the petition is an active petition*; and/or (b) the 
question of the most appropriate chief officer to whom the 
petition should be referred. 

 
(4)  Unless it relates to a planning application (in which case it shall 

be dealt with as if it were an objection to the granting of planning 
permission) or the matter has already been disposed of by the 
Council, the petition shall be dealt with as follows: 

 
(a) if the chief officer(s) concerned is able to effect a remedy to the 

complaint, the petitioners shall be advised accordingly; 
(b) if the chief officer(s) cannot effect a remedy to the complaint within 

a reasonable time, the chief officer(s) shall submit, and report on, 
the petition to the next convenient meeting of the appropriate 
Committee or ordinary committee and shall advise the petitioners 
accordingly. 

(c) if a petition is referred to committee in accordance with paragraph 
(b) above a representative of the petitioners shall be entitled to 
address the committee on the subject of the petition for a period of 
up to five minutes (or, exceptionally, for such longer period as the 
committee may allow). 

 
(5)  The question whether any petition constitutes an active petition* 

shall normally be determined by the Head of Law/Member 
Services following consultation with the Mayor and Group 
Leaders. In the event that the Head of Law/Member Services is 
unavailable (or conflicted) the question shall normally be 
determined by another officer (nominated by the Mayor) 
following consultation with the Mayor and Group Leaders. In 
cases where determination of the question is itself likely to be 
contentious, the applicable officer may refer determination of the 
issue to the full Council. 

 
* ‘an active petition’ is a petition that relates to the functions of Wirral 
Council; or to the improvement in the economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing of the Borough to which any partner authority 
could contribute; and which is (in either case), in the Council’s opinion, 
not vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate. 
 
 
 
** ‘the relevant person’ is the officer identified in the petition or, if the 
Committee considers that it would be more appropriate, another officer. 

 
35. Calling in of decisions 
 

(1) All decisions of:  
 

(i) the Executive Board,  

Page 162



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 133

 
(ii) an individual member of the Executive Board or  
 
(iii) a committee of the Executive Board, and  
 
(iv) key decisions taken by an officer;  

 
 shall be published, and shall be available at the main offices of the Council 

normally within 2 days of being made. All members of the Council will be sent 
a copy of the decision.  

 
(2) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the 

decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, unless the 
decision is called in for scrutiny by 9a.m. on the Thursday following 
publication of a decision on Friday. (Adjusted by a maximum of one day in 
there is one or more Bank Holidays in that period)  

 
(3) (a) During that period, the Chief Executive shall Call-In a decision 

for scrutiny by the Coordinating Committee if so requested by 
any six members of the Council who has given detailed reasons 
for the Call-In of the decision. The detailed reasons must be 
provided by the Lead signatory, by the Call In deadline. When a 
Call In is requested the Chief Executive shall liaise with the 
Member listed first on the Call-In schedule, to ensure there is 
sufficient information provided to enable the Call-In to proceed. 
As long as there is a clear reason given, the call-in should be 
allowed. He/she shall then notify the decision-taker of the Call-
In. He/she shall call a meeting of the Committee on such date as 
he/she may determine, where possible after consultation with 
the Chair of the Coordinating Committee, and in any case within 
7 working days of the decision to call-in. 

 
 (b) The relevant Chief Officer and all members will be notified of a 

call-in immediately na dnot action will be taken to implement the 
decision until the call-in procedure has been completed.  A 
decision of the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet member may be called in only once. 

 
(4)  Having considered the decision, the Coordinating Committee may:-  
 
 (i) refer it back to the decision making person or body for 

reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns 
or;  

 (ii) refer the matter to full Council. Such a referral should only be made 
where the Coordinating Committee believes that the decision is 
outside the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget. The procedures set out in those 
rules must be followed prior to any such referral.  

 

Page 163



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 134

(5) If a decision is referred back to the decision making person or body it 
shall be reconsidered in the light of the written concerns of the 
Coordinating Committee before a final decision is made. 

 
(6) If following a call in, the Coordinating Committee does not refer the 

matter back to the decision making person or body and does not refer 
the matter to Council, the decision shall take effect on the date of the 
Coordinating Committee meeting. If the Coordinating Committee does 
not meet the decision shall take effect from the date when the 
Committee should have met.  

 
(7) If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not object 

to a decision which has been made, then the decision will become 
effective on the date of the Council meeting.  

 
(8) If the Council does object the Council may take a decision, which is 

outside the policy and budgetary framework. Otherwise the Council will 
refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision-making 
person or body, together with the Council’s views on the decision. That 
decision making body or person shall choose whether to amend the 
decision or not before reaching a final decision and implementing it. 
Where the decision was taken by the Executive Board as a whole or a 
committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within ten 
working days of the Council request. Where the decision was made by 
an individual, the individual will reconsider within ten working days of 
the Council request. 

 
(9) Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances where 

members have evidence which suggests that the decision was not 
made in accordance with the principles of decision making in the 
constitution. 

 
(10) Call-in and urgency 
 
 (a) The call0in procedure set out above shall not apply where the 

decision being taken by the Cabinet is urgent.  A decision will be 
urgent if any delay is likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest.  
The record of the decision and the notice by which it is made 
public shall state whether, in the opinion of the decision making 
person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to call-in.  The Chief Executive must agree both that the 
decision proposed is reasonably in all the circumstances and to 
it being treated as a matter of urgency.  Decisions taken as a 
matter of urgency must be reported to the next available 
meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency. 

 
 (b) The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency 

shall be monitored annually, and a report submitted to Council 
with proposals for review if necessary. 

Page 164



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 135

 

Page 165



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 136

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
STANDING ORDER 11 

Public Question Time - Procedure 
 
There shall be a period of the Council Meeting of not more than 30 minutes in 
total during which any member of the public may address a question to the 
Leader, Cabinet Member, Chair of a Policy and Performance Committee or 
Chair of an Ordinary Committee. 
 
To qualify as a questioner a person must be a registered voter in Wirral or a 
representative of a local firm or organisation. 
 
Questions must be submitted in writing to Head of Legal and Member 
Services at least five clear working days before the meeting of Council and 
must relate to the discharge of the Council’s functions. 
 
Questions may be edited as necessary by Head of Legal and Member 
Services to bring them into proper form and to ensure brevity. 
 
Questions which in the opinion of Head of Legal and Member Services and 
the Mayor are defamatory, frivolous or otherwise improper or objectionable 
may be rejected. 
 
The Mayor shall call questions in the order in which they have been received 
and the questioners must read them out. 
 
Replies to the questions shall be oral unless the person questioned feels that 
a written response may be more suitable. 
 
No speeches or discussion will be allowed but the questioner may ask one 
supplemental question. 
 
If there is insufficient time for all questions, written replies will be made to any 
unanswered question. 
 
A questioner may ask only one question at each meeting of the Council 
(subject to the right to ask a supplementary on that question) but if that person 
has asked a question at a previous meeting the Mayor shall have the right to 
change the order of questions or to reject questions which are repetitious. 
 
Persons not able to attend to ask a question will be provided with a written 
answer in due course. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 137

 
 
 

Access to Information Procedure 
Rules 

 
1. SCOPE 
 
 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Policy and 

Performance Committees, area committees (if any), the Standards 
Committee and regulatory committees and public meetings of the 
Cabinet and Executive Board (together called meetings). 

 
2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION  
 
 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information 

contained elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 
3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 
 
 Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the 

exceptions in these rules. 
 
4. NOTICE OF MEETINGS 
 
 The Council will give at least five clear working days’ notice of any 

meeting by posting details of the meeting at the Town Hall, Wallasey. 
 
5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 
 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the 

public available for inspection at the designated office at least five clear 
working days before the meeting.  If an item is added to the agenda 
later, the revised agenda (where reports are prepared after the 
summons has been sent out, the designated officer shall make each 
such report available to the public as soon as the report is completed 
and sent to Councillors) will be open to inspection from the time the 
item was added to the agenda. 

 
6. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 
 The Council will supply copies of: 
 
 (a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 
 (b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the 

nature of the items in the agenda; and 
 

Page 167



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 138

 (c) if the proper officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents 
supplied to Councillors in connection with any item 

 
 to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 
7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING 
 
 The Council will make available copies of the following for six years 

after a meeting:- 
 
 (a) the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, 

together with reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet, excluding 
any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was 
not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential 
information; 

 
 (b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair 
and coherent record; 

 
 (c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
 
 (d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the 

public. 
 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
8.1 List of background papers 
 
 Every report will contain a list of those documents called background 

papers relating to the subject matter of the report which in his/her 
opinion:- 

 
 (a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important 

part of the report is based; and  
 
 (b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the 

report 
 
 but that list need not include published works or those which disclose 

exempt or confidential information (as defined in Rule 9) and, in 
respect of Cabinet or Executive Board  reports, the advice of a political 
advisor. 

 
8.2 Public inspection of background papers 
 
 The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after 

the date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list 
of background papers.  

 

Page 168



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 139

9. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 
 
9.1 Confidential information - requirement to exclude public 
 
 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view 

of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 
9.2 Exempt information - discretion to exclude public 
 
 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view 

of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 
 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or 

obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the 
Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting will 
be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the 
reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
9.3 Meaning of confidential information 
 
 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 

Government Department on terms which forbid its disclosure or 
information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

 
9.4 Meaning of exempt information 
 
 Exempt information means information falling within the following 

categories (subject to any condition):- 
 

Page 169



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 140

 

CATEGORY 

 

CONDITION 

 

1. Information relating to an individual 

 

 

Information is not exempt information unless 
it relates to an individual of that description in 
the capacity indicated by the description i.e. it 
must relate to and be recognisable as referring 
to a particular living individual in the roles 
indicated. 

 

Information is only exempt: 

(a) where disclosure is prohibited by statute; 
or 

 

(b) where disclosure might involve providing 
personal information about individuals; or 

 

(c) where disclosure might breach a duty of 
confidentiality; and 

 

(d) in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in not disclosing the 
information outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual 

 

 

Information is not exempt information unless 
it relates to an individual of that description in 
the capacity indicated by the description i.e. it 
must relate to and be recognisable as referring 
to a particular living individual in the roles 
indicated. 

 

Information is only exempt: 

(a) where disclosure is prohibited by statute; 
or 

 

(b) where disclosure might involve providing 
personal information about individuals; or 

 

(c) where disclosure might breach a duty of 
confidentiality; and 

Page 170



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 141

 

(d) in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in not disclosing the 
information outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information.  

 

3. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding the 
information) 

 

‘financial or business affairs’ includes 
contemplated, as well as past or current, 
activities  

 

This category will include commercial and 
contractual interests 

 

Information is not exempt information if it is 
required to be registered by law e.g. 
Companies Act 1985, the Charities Act 1993 
etc 

 

Information is only exempt if and for so long 
as:  

(a) disclosure of the amount involved would 
be likely to give advantage to a person 
entering into or seeking to enter into a 
contract with the Council in respect of 
property, goods or services whether the 
advantage would arise as against the 
Council or as against other persons; or 

 

(b) disclosure would prejudice the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of Council 
resources; or 

 

(c) disclosure of trade secrets and other 
information would, or would likely, 
prejudice the commercial interests of any 
person, including the Council; and 

 

(d) in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in not disclosing the 
information outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

 

 

4. Information relating to any consultations 
or negotiations or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection 
with any labour relations matters arising 
between the authority or a minister of the 
crown and employees of, or office-holders 
under, the authority 

 

Information is only exempt if and for so long 
as its disclosure to the public: 

 

(a) would prejudice the Council in those or 
any other consultations or negotiations in 
connection with a labour relations matter; 
and 

Page 171



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 142

 

‘Labour relations matters’ are as specified in 
paragraphs (a) to (g) of Section 29(1) of the 
Trade Unions and Labour Relations Act 1974 
i.e. matters which may be the subject of a trade 
dispute 

 

‘employee’ means a person employed under a 
contract of service  

 

‘office-holder’ means the holder of any paid 
office appointments which are or may be made 
or confirmed by the authority or by any joint 
board on which the authority is represented or 
by any person who holds any such office or is an 
employee of the authority 

 

(b) in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in not disclosing the 
information out weighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

 

 

5.Information in respect of which a claim to 
legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings 

 

 

 

 

 

Information is only exempt:  

 

(a) where a claim of legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal 
proceedings e.g. correspondence such as 
legal advice and assistance between the 
Council’s Legal Services and its client; 
and 

 

(b) in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in not disclosing the 
information out weighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

 

 

6. Information which reveals that the 
authority proposes – 

 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice 
under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person, 
or 

(b) to make an order or direction under 
any enactment 

 

Information is exempt only if and so long as: 

 

(a) disclosure to the public might afford an 
opportunity to a person affected by the 
notice, order or direction to defeat the 
purpose or one of the purposes for which 
the notice order or direction is to be given 
or made; and  

 

(b) in all circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in not disclosing the information 

Page 172



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 143

outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information. 

 

 

7. Information relating to any action taken 
or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime 

 

Information is only exempt if its disclosure 
would, or would be likely to, prejudice- 

 

(a) criminal investigations and proceedings; 
or 

 

(b) the apprehension or prosecution of 
offenders; or 

 

(c) the administration of justice; or 

 

(d) the assessment or collection of any tax or 
duty or of any imposition of a similar 
nature; or 

 

(e) regulatory enforcement; or 

 

(f)   any civil proceedings; or 

 

(g) Health and safety; or 

 

(h) information obtained from confidential 
sources; and 

 

(i)    in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in not disclosing the 
information outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

 

 
CATEGORY 

 
CONDITION 

 
In addition to the categories referred to 
above, the following categories will apply to 
the proceedings of the Standards Committee 
only in connection with the investigation and 
consideration of an allegation(s) of a breach 

 

Page 173



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 144

of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct 
 
 
7A. Information which is subject to any 

 obligation of confidentiality 
 

 

 
7B. Information which relates in any way  to 

matters concerning national  security 
 

 
Information is only exempt if its disclosure would, 
or would be likely to, prejudice- 
 
(a) matters concerning national security; and 
  
(b) in all the circumstances of the case, the public 

interest in not disclosing the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 
 
7C. The deliberations of the Standards 

 Committee in  reaching any  finding on 
a matter  relating to the  conduct of an 
elected  or Co- opted/Advisory Member 
and  Parish/Town  Councillors 

 

 

 
 
Information falling within any of paragraphs 1-7 is not exempt by virtue of that 
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the local planning authority 
can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992. 
 

Page 174



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 145

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 
 If the Head of Law/Member Services thinks fit, the Council may exclude 

access by the public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to 
items during which, in accordance with Rule 9, the meeting is likely not 
to be open to the public.  Such reports will be marked “Not for 
publication” together with the category of information likely to be 
disclosed.  The report will explain why it is being treated as exempt. 

 
11. APPLICATION OF RULES TO THE CABINET 
 
 Rules 12 - 19 apply to the Cabinet and its committees.  If the Cabinet 

or its committees meet to take a key decision then it must also comply 
with Rules 1 - 10 unless Rule 14 (general exception) or Rule 15 
(special urgency) applies.   A key decision is as defined in Article 13.3 
of this Constitution. 

 
12. PROCEDURE BEFORE TAKING KEY DECISIONS  
 
 Subject to Rule 14 (general exception) and Rule 15 (special urgency), 

a key decision may not be taken unless:- 
 
 (a) a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in 

connection with the matter in question; 
 
 (b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the 

forward plan; and  
 
 (c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or 

its committees, notice of the meeting has been given in 
accordance with Rule 4 (notice of meetings). 

 
13. THE FORWARD PLAN 
 
13.1 The forward plan will be published on the Council’s website and will be 

updated from time to time as required. 
 
13.2 In respect of Key Decisions the foreward plan will contain the following 

information: 
 
 (a) that a key decision is to be made on behalf of the relevant local 

authority; 
 
 (b) the matter in respect of wh ich the decision is to be made; 
 
 (c) where the decision maker is an individual, that individual’s 

name, and title if any and, where the decision maker is a 
decision-making body, its name and a list of its members; 

 

Page 175



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 146

 (d) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to 
be made; 

 
 (e) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for 

consideration in real to the matter in respect of which they key 
decision is to be made; 

 
 (f) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction 

on their disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document 
listed is available; 

 
 (g) that other documents relevant to those matters may be 

submitted to the decision maker; and 
 
 (h) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) 

as they become available. 
 
14. GENERAL EXCEPTION 
 
(1) Subject to regulation 11, where the publication of the intention to make 

a key decision under regulation 9 is impracticable, that decision may 
only be made: 

 
 (a) where the Head of Law/Member Services has informed the 

chairman of the Coordinating Committee or, if there is no such 
person, each member of the Coordinating Committee by notice 
in writing, of the matter about which the decision is to be made; 

 
 (b) where the Head of Law/Member Services has published on the 

Council’s website a copyh of the notice given pursuant to sub-
paragraph (a); and 

 
 (c) after five clear working days have elapsed following the day on 

which the proper officer made available the notice referred to in 
sub-paragraph (b). 

 
(2) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Head of Law/Member 

Services has complied with paragraph (1), he or she must - 
 
 (a) make available at the offices of the relevant local authority a 

notice setting out the reasons why compliance with Rule 12 is 
impracticable; and 

 
 (b) publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 
15. SPECIAL URGENCY 
 
 If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 14 

(general exception) cannot be followed then the decision can only be 
taken if the decision taker (if an individual) or the leader obtains the 

Page 176



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 147

agreement of the chair of the relevant Management Steering 
committee or the Mayor that taking the decision cannot be reasonably 
deferred.  If the chair or Mayor is unable to act, then the agreement of 
the Deputy Mayor will suffice. 

 
16. REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
16.1 When a Policy and Performance Committee can require a report 
 
 If a Policy and Performance Committee thinks that a key decision has 

been taken which was not: 
 
 (a) included in the forward plan; or  
 
 (b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or  
 
 (c) the subject of an agreement with a relevant Policy and 

Performance Committee Chair, or the Mayor of the Council 
under Rule 15; 

 
 the committee may require the Executive to submit a report to the 

Council within such reasonable time as the committee specifies.  The 
power to require a report rests with the committee, but is also 
delegated to the Head of Law/Member Services, who shall require 
such a report on behalf of the committee when so requested by the 
chair or any five members.  Alternatively the requirement may be 
raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the relevant Coordinating 
Committee. 

 
16.2 Cabinet Report to Council 
 
 The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available 

meeting of the Council.  However, if the next meeting of the Council is 
within seven days of receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of 
the committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after 
that.  The report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the 
individual or body making the decision, and if the Leader is of the 
opinion that it was not a key decision the reasons for that opinion. 

 
16.3 Quarterly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions 
 
 In any event the Leader will in the report to the Council report on the 

Executive decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 15 
(special urgency) in the preceding three months.  The report will 
include the number of decisions taken and a summary of the matters in 
respect of which those decisions were taken.   

 
17. RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 

Page 177



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 148

 After any  meeting of the Cabinet or any of its committees, the Head of 
Law/Member Services or the person presiding at the meeting, will 
produce a record of every decision taken at that meeting as soon as 
practicable.  The record will include a statement of the reasons for 
each decision and any alternative options considered and rejected at 
that meeting.   

 
18. DECISION BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 
18.1 Record of individual decision 
 
 As soon as reasonably practicable after an Executive decision has 

been taken by an individual member of the Cabinet or key decision has 
been taken by an officer, he/she will prepare, or instruct the Head of 
Law/Member Services to prepare, a record of the decision, a statement 
of the reasons for it and any alternative options considered and 
rejected.  The provisions of Rules 7 and 8 (inspection of documents 
after meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual 
members of the Cabinet.  This does not require the disclosure of 
exempt or confidential information or advice from a political assistant. 

 
19. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEES ACCESS TO 

DOCUMENTS 
 
19.1 Rights to copies 
 
 Subject to Rule 19.2 below, an Policy and Performance Committee 

(including its sub-committees) will be entitled to copies of any 
document which is in the possession or control of the Cabinet or its 
committees and which contains material relating to:- 

 
 (a) any business transacted at a meeting of the Cabinet or its 

committees; 
 
 (b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Executive. 
 
19.2 Limit on rights 
 
 An Policy and Performance Committee will not be entitled to:- 
 
 (a) any document that is in draft form; 
 
 (b) the advice of a political adviser. 
 
19.3 Nature of rights 
 
 These rights of a member are additional to any other right he/she may 

have. 
 

Page 178



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 149

Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules 
 
1. The framework for Executive decisions  
 
The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 
framework as set out in Article 4. Once a budget or a policy framework is in 
place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it.  
 
2. Developing the Budget and Policy Framework  
 
The process by which the Budget and Policy Framework shall be developed 
and revised is:  
 
(a) The Cabinet will publicise a timetable for making proposals to the 

Council for the adoption of any plan, strategy or budget that forms part 
of the Budget and Policy Framework, and its arrangements for 
consultation after publication of those initial proposals. The Chair and 
Vice Chair of the Coordinating Committee will also be notified. 
Consultation will take place in a manner and to the extent that is 
appropriate in the circumstances.  

 
(b) In relation to proposals associated with the preparation of or alterations 

to the Development Plan the Executive will develop draft proposals for 
the purpose of public consultation in accordance with regulations 10 to 
22 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Plans) (England) 
Regulation 1999. The draft consultation proposals will be submitted to 
Council for approval or amendment.  

 
(c) At the end of the consultation period, the Cabinet will draw up firm 

proposals for plans and the budget having regard to the responses to 
that consultation. The Cabinet’s report to Council will reflect the 
comments made by consultees and the Cabinet’s response.  

 
(d) Once the Cabinet has approved the firm proposals, the Chief Executive 

will refer them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for decision.  
 
3. Adoption of plans and strategies  
 
(a) If the Council has objections to a plan or strategy it may not amend it, 

approve it for submission to a Government Department or adopt it until 
the Council has informed the Leader of its objections and allowed 
him/her time to respond. It may however make an in principle decision.  

 
(b) If the Council informs the Leader of an objection it shall also instruct 

the Cabinet to reconsider the draft plan or strategy and specify a date 
by which the Leader may submit a response to the Chief Executive. 

Page 179



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 150

That date must be at least five working days from the date when the 
Leader receives the instruction to reconsider.  

 
(c) If the Leader does not make a response within the time specified then 

the in principle decision takes effect automatically.  
 
(d) When the Cabinet reconsiders the plan it may:  
 
 (i) accept the Council’s objections. In that case no further action is 

required;  
 
 (ii) make amendments to the draft plan or strategy. In that case the 

Leader must submit any revised draft to the Chief Executive for 
consideration by the Council together with the Cabinet’s reason 
for those amendments; or  

 
 (iii) disagree with the Council’s objections. In that case the Leader 

must inform the Chief Executive that the Cabinet disagrees with 
the Council’s objections and explain why.  

 
(e) If the Leader submits a revised draft of the plan or strategy or if he/she 

informs the Chief Executive that the Cabinet disagrees with the 
Council’s objections then a further Council meeting must be arranged 
within seven working days. In that case the Council must consider the 
submissions made by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet before 
adopting, amending or approving the plan or strategy. The Council may 
reach a decision based on a simple majority of votes cast.  

 
4. Decisions outside the budget or policy framework  
 
(a) Any person or body exercising executive functions must normally act 

within the budget and policy framework. A decision is outside the 
budget and policy framework if it is contrary to the policy framework set 
out in Article 4 of the Constitution or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget as defined in Article 4  

 
(b) Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework may be made 

in the circumstances described in paragraph 5 below.  
 
(c) Virement will be possible to the extent described in the Council's 

Financial Procedure Rules.  
 
(d) In any other circumstances if a person or body exercising executive 

functions wishes to make a decision which is outside the budget or 
policy framework, then that decision may only be taken by the Council. 
It is the duty of the person or body who wishes to make the decision to 
refer it to Council.  

 
(e) In any case if a person or body wishes to make a decision which 

appears to be outside the budget or policy framework they shall take 

Page 180



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 151

advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer. 
Those officers shall advise as to whether the proposed decision would 
in fact be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly 
in accordance with the budget. If the advice of either of those officers is 
that the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or 
policy framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or 
person to the Council for decision. The only exception to this is if the 
decision is a matter of urgency. In that case the provisions in 
paragraph 6 (urgent decisions outside the budget and policy 
framework) shall apply.  

 
6. Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework  
 
This procedure covers decisions contrary to the policy framework and 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget.  
 
(a) Any person or body discharging executive functions may take a 

decision which is contrary to the Council’s policy framework or contrary 
to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full Council 
if the decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may only 
be taken:  

 
 (i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full 

Council; and  
 (ii) if the Chair and Vice Chair of the Coordinating Committee 

agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency.  
 

 The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full 
Council must be noted on the record of the decision. The consent of 
the Chair and Vice Chair of the Coordinating Committee to the decision 
being taken as a matter of urgency must also be noted on that record. 
In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair of the Coordinating 
Committee the consent of the Chair and Vice Chair of a Policy and 
Performance  Committee whose terms of reference would allow it to 
scrutinise the proposed decision shall suffice. In his or her absence the 
consent of the Mayor will be sufficient.  

 
(b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the 

next available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for 
it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.  

 
6. Virement  
 
The Council's Financial Procedure Rules set out procedures and limitations 
on virement within budget heads  
 
7. In-year changes to policy framework  
 

Page 181



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 152

All decisions in relation to executive functions must be in line with the policy 
framework. Only the Council can change any policy or strategy which is part 
of the framework except that the Cabinet may make changes:  
 
(a) to give effect to a ministerial requirement in relation to any plan or 

strategy submitted to him for approval;  
 
(b) if so authorised by the Council when approving or adopting the plan or 

strategy.  
 
(c) Any decisions subject to the provisions of paragraph 5 above.  
 
8. Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework  
 
(a) Where the Coordinating Committee is of the opinion that an executive 

decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget, then 
it shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Financial 
Officer.  

 
(b) In respect of functions, which are the Executive functions, the 

Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief Financial Officer’s report shall 
be to the Cabinet with a copy to every member of the Council. 
Regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet 
must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the Monitoring 
Officer’s report and to prepare a report to Council in the event that the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the 
decision was a departure, and to the Coordinating Committee if the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the 
decision was not a departure.  

 
(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 

implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Financial Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to the 
policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget, the Coordinating Committee may refer the matter to Council. In 
such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or 
its implementation until the Council has met and considered the matter. 
The Council shall meet within 14 days of the request by the 
Coordinating Committee. At the meeting it will receive a report of the 
decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or 
the Chief Financial Officer. The Council may:  

 
 (i) endorse a decision or proposal of the Cabinet decision taker as 

falling within the existing budget and policy framework. In this 
case no further action is required, save that the decision of the 
Council be minuted and circulated to all councillors in the normal 
way; or  

 

Page 182



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 153

 (ii) amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or policy 
concerned to encompass the decision or proposal of the body or 
individual responsible for that Cabinet function and agree to the 
decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further action is 
required save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 
circulated to all councillors in the normal way; or  

 
 (iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is 

contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget, and does not amend the existing 
framework to accommodate it, require the Cabinet to reconsider 
the matter in accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Page 183



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 154

 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules 
 
 ( To be agreed by the Co-ordinating Committee ) 

Page 184



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 155

 

Chapter 3 – CONTRACT PROCEDURE 
RULES 

 

(Awaiting views of Audit and Risk Management 
Committee – 15 April 2013) 

Page 185



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 156

 
 

Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules 

 
1. Recruitment and appointment 
 
 (a) Declarations 
 
  (i) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any 

candidates for appointment as an officer to state in writing 
whether they are the parent, grandparent, partner, child, 
stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, 
aunt, nephew or niece of an existing Councillor or officer 
of the Council; or of the partner of such persons. 

 
  (ii) No candidate so related to a Councillor or an officer will 

be appointed without the authority of the relevant chief 
officer or an officer nominated by him/her. 

 
 (b) Seeking support for appointment 
 
  (i) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or 

indirectly seeks the support of any Councillor for any 
appointment with the Council.  The content of this 
paragraph will be included in any recruitment information. 

 
  (ii) No Councillor will seek support for any person for any 

appointment with the Council. 
 
  (iii) Nothing in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above will preclude a 

councillor from giving a written reference for a candidate 
for submission with an application form. 

 
2. Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers 
 
 Where the Council proposes to appoint a chief officer and it is not 

proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their 
existing officers, the Council will:- 

 
 (a) draw up a statement specifying:- 
 
  (i) the duties of the officer concerned; and  
 
  (ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person 

to be appointed; 
 

Page 186



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 157

 (b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way 
as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are 
qualified for it; and  

 
 (c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 

paragraph (a) to be sent to any person on request. 
 
3. Appointment of Head of Paid Service 
 
 The full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 

Service following the recommendation of such an appointment by a 
committee or sub-committee of the Council.  That committee or sub-
committee must include at least one member of the Executive. 

 
4. Appointment of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers 
 
 (a) Where a committee is discharging on behalf of the Authority the 

appointment of a Chief or Deputy Chief Officer as defined below, 
it must include at least one member of the Executive 

 
 (b) For the purposes of sub-paragraph 4(a) above, Chief Officer 

means the following posts: 
 
  Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service 
  Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Corporate Services 
  Director of Finance 
  Director of Adult Social Services 
  Director of Children’s Services 
  Director of Regeneration 
  Director of Technical Services 
  Director of Law, HR and Asset Management 
 
 (c) An offer of appointment as a Chief Officer or as a Deputy Chief 

Officer must not be made until Head of Legal and Member 
Services has notified every member of the Cabinet of  

   
  (i) the name of the person to whom the offer is to be made; 
 
  (ii) any other particulars relevant to the appointment; 
 
  (iii) the period within which any objection to the making of the 

offer is to be made by the Executive Leader on behalf of 
the Executive to Head of Legal and Member Services; 

 
  and either 
 
  (iv) the Executive Leader has within the period specified in 

the notice under sub-paragraph (c)(iii) notified Head of 
Legal and Member Services that neither he/she nor any 

Page 187



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 158

other member of the Executive has any objection to the 
appointment; or 

 
  (v) the objection has been received by Head of Legal and 

Member Services within the period from the Executive 
Leader; and the appointing committee is satisfied that any 
objection received from the Executive Leader within that 
period is not material or is not well-founded. 

 
5. Other appointments 
 
 (a) Officers below Deputy Chief Officer - Appointments of officers 

below Deputy Chief Officer, other than assistants to political 
groups, is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or 
his/her nominee, and may not be made by Councillors. 

 
 (b) Assistants to political groups - Appointment of an assistant to 

a political group shall be made in accordance with the wishes of 
that political group. 

 
6. Disciplinary action 
 
 (a) No disciplinary action in respect of the Authority’s Head of Paid 

Service, its Monitoring Officer or its Chief Finance Officer, 
except action described in paragraph 6(b) below, may be taken 
by the Authority or by a committee/sub-committee or any other 
person acting on behalf of the Authority, other than in 
accordance with a recommendation in a report made by a 
designated independent person. 

 
  [Explanatory Note: A designated independent person is a 

person appointed in accordance with Regulation 7 of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 
(investigation of alleged misconduct).  His or her role is to 
prepare a report before any conclusion on disciplinary action is 
reached.] 

 
 (b) The action mentioned in Paragraph 6(a) is suspension of the 

officer for the purpose of investigating the alleged misconduct 
occasioning the action; and any such suspension must be on full 
pay and terminate no later than the expiry of two months 
beginning on the day on which the suspension takes effect. 

 
7. Disciplinary action and dismissal of, and disciplinary action 

against, chief officers and deputy chief officers  
 
 (a) Councillors will only be involved in disciplinary action against the 

Head of Paid Service, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers 
where such involvement is necessary for any investigation or 

Page 188



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 159

inquiry into alleged misconduct through the Council’s 
disciplinary, capability and related procedures. 

 

 (b) Except as outlined 7(a) above, the Head of Paid Service or an 
officer nominated by him/her will discharge the functions of 
dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action against, Chief 
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers. 

 

 (c) Notice of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, or any Chief 
Officer or Deputy Chief Officer must not be given by the 
dismisser, being the Committee or officer discharging the 
function of dismissal, until 

 

  (i) the dismisser has notified the Chief Executive of the 
name of the person whom the dismisser wishes to 
dismiss or any other particulars which the dismisser 
considers are relevant to the dismissal; 

  (ii) the Chief Executive has notified every member of the 
Executive of the Authority of  

 
   (a) the name of the person whom the dismisser 

wishes to dismiss; 
 
   (b) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal 

which the dismisser has notified to the Chief 
Executive; and 

 
   (c) the period within which any objection to the 

dismissal is to be made by the Executive Leader 
on behalf of the Executive, to the Chief Executive; 
and 

 
  (iii) either 
 
   (a) the Executive Leader has, within the in the period 

specified in the notice under sub-paragraph (ii)(c) 
above, notified the dismisser that neither he/she 
nor any other member of the Executive has any 
objection to the dismissal; 

 
   (b) the Chief Executive has notified the dismisser that 

no objection was received by him/her within that 
period from the Executive Leader; or  

 
   (c) the dismisser is satisfied that any objection from 

the Executive Leader within that period is not 
material or is not well-founded. 

 
8. Dismissal of and disciplinary action against other officers 
  

Page 189



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 160

 Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any officer, or the 
taking of any disciplinary action against officers below Deputy Chief 
Officer. 

 
 
 
9. Appeals 
 
 Nothing in these Officer Employment Procedure Rules shall prevent a 

member from serving as a member of any committee or sub-committee 
established by the Authority to consider an appeal by  

 
 (a) another person, against any decision relating to the appointment 

of that other person as a member of staff of the Authority; or  
 
 (b) a member of the staff of the Authority against any decision 

relating to the dismissal of or taking of disciplinary action against 
that member of staff. 

 
 

Page 190



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 161

 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

 
MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 

 
Introduction 
 
The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to adopt a Members’ Code of 
Conduct with effect from 1 July 2012.  
 
You are a representative of this Council and the public will view you as such 
therefore your actions impact on how the Council as a whole is viewed and 
your actions can have both positive and negative impacts on the Council. 
 
This Code is based upon the “Nolan Principals-the seven principles of public 
life” which are set out at Schedule 1. 
 
Interpretation 
 
In this Code:- 
 
“Meeting” means any meeting of: 
 

(a) the Council; 
(b) the executive of the Council; 
(c) any of the Council’s or its executive’s committees, sub-committees, 

joint committees or area committees; 
 
whether or not the press and public are excluded from the meeting in 
question. 
 
“Member” includes an appointed Member and Co-Opted Member. 
 
General Obligations 
 

1. When acting in your role as a Member of the Council: 
 

1.1 DO treat others with respect; 
 
1.2 DO NOT conduct yourself in a manner which is contrary to the 

Council’s duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct of Members; 

 
1.3 DO NOT disclose information given to you in confidence by 

anyone, or information acquired by you which you believe, or 
ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except 
where- 

 
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

 

Page 191



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 162

(ii) you are required by law to do so; 
 

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose 
of obtaining professional legal advice provided that 
the third party agrees not to disclose the information 
to any other person; or 

 
(iv) the disclosure is- 

 
(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and 
 
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the authority; and 
 
(c) you have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior 

to its release. 
 

1.4 DO NOT prevent another person from gaining access to 
information to which that person is entitled by law. 

 
2. When using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 

authority- 
 

2.1.  DO act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable 
requirements including the requirements of the Council’s ICT 
policy and the policies (attached to the Council’s Constitution), 
copies of which have been provided to you and which you are 
deemed to have read; 

 
2.2.  DO make sure that such resources are not used improperly for 

political purposes (including party political purposes); and 
 
2.3.  DO have regard to nay applicable Local Authority Code of 

Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986 (as 
amended). 

 
Interests 
 

3. As a public figure, your public role may, at times, overlap with your 
personal and/or professional life and interests however when 
performing your public role as a member, DO act solely in terms of the 
public interest and DO NOT act in a manner to gain financial or other 
material benefits for yourself, your family, your friends, your employer 
or in relation to your business interests. 

 
4. You are required to register “pecuniary and other interests” (these will 

be laid out in Regulations subject to these not being sensitive). Failure 
to declare or register a pecuniary interest will be a criminal offence if 
this is done without a reasonable excuse. If you knowingly or recklessly 

Page 192



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 163

provide false or misleading information about a pecuniary interest this 
will also be a criminal offence.  

 
You are required to update your register of interests within 28 days of 
the date a disclosable pecuniary and other registerable interest arises.  

 
5. Whilst there is no statutory requirement for you to declare or register 

any gifts or hospitality you receive (or benefit from) in your role as 
Councillor, you are required by the Council to declare or register any 
such gift or hospitality which has (or is estimated to have) a value in 
excess of twenty five pounds (£25.00). (This requirement is however is 
subject to change by future Regulations). 

 
Disclosure and participation 
 

6. At a meeting where such issues arise, DO declare any personal and/or 
professional interests relating to your public duties and DO take steps 
to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

 
7. Certain types of decisions, including those relating to a permission, 

licence, consent or registration for yourself, your friends, your family 
members, your employer or your business interests, are so closely tied 
to your personal and/or professional life that your ability to make a 
decision in an impartial manner in your role as a member may be 
called into question and in turn raise issues about the validity of the 
decision of the authority. DO NOT become involved in these decisions 
any more than a member of the public in the same personal and/or 
professional position as yourself is able to be and DO NOT vote in 
relation to such matters. (Further clarification is provided in Schedule 2 
of this Code). 

 
8. DO NOT improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your 

role as a member for the advancement of yourself, your friends, your 
family members, your employer or your business interests. 

 
9. Where you disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest, you must 

withdraw from the meeting room, including from the public gallery, 
during the whole consideration of any item of business in which you 
have an interest, except where you are permitted to remain as a result 
of a grant of a dispensation. 

 
Pre-determination or bias 
 

10. Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on 
an issue which does not impact on your personal and/or professional 
life you should not be prohibited from participating in a decision in your 
political role as member, however DO NOT place yourself under any 
financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that 
might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties. 

 

Page 193



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 164

11. When making a decision, DO consider the matter with an open mind 
and on the facts before the meeting at which the decision is to be 
taken. 

 
 
 
 
Interests arising in relation to Policy and Performance Committees 
(subject to Localism Act provisions) 
 

12. In relation to any business before an Policy and Performance 
Committee of the Council (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) 
where- 

 
12.1 that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented 

or not) or action taken by your authority’s executive or another of 
your authority’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees 
or joint sub-committees; and 

 
12.2 at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you 

were a member of the executive, committee, sub-committee, 
joint committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph 
11.1 and you were present when that decision was made or 
action was taken; or 

 
12.3 that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented 

or not) or action taken by you (whether by virtue of the 
Authority’s Constitution or under delegated authority from the 
Leader): 

 
You may attend a meeting of the Policy and Performance Committees 
of the Council or of a sub committees of such a committee but only for 
the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also 
allowed to attend the meeting for the same purposes, whether under a 
statutory right or otherwise.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 194



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 165

Schedule 1 
 

THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 
 

SELFLESSNESS 
 

Holders of the public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other 
material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

 
INTEGRITY 

 
Holders of the public office should not place themselves under any 
financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that 
might seek to influence them in the performance of their official duties. 

 
OBJECTIVITY 

 
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and 
benefits, holders of public office should make choices on merit. 

 
ACCOUNTABILITY 
 

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions 
to the public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is 
appropriate to their  
office. 
 

OPENNESS 
 

Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the 
decisions and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their 
decisions and restrict information only when the wider public interest 
clearly demands. 

 
HONESTY 
 

Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests 
relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts 
arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

 
LEADERSHIP 
 

Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by 
leadership and example. 

Page 195



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 166

Schedule 2 
 
 
Where the decision referred to in Clause 7 above relates to one of the 
functions of the authority set out below, and the condition which follows that 
function does not apply to you when making that decision, you may participate 
in the decision: 
 

(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority unless those 
functions relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

 
(ii) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where 

you are a parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a 
parent governor of a school unless it relates particularly to the 
school which the child attends, 

 
(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the School Security 

Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, 
or are entitled to the receipt of such pay; 

 
(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members; 

 
(v) any ceremonial honour given to members; and 

 
(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 167

Officers’ Code of Conduct 
 
Honesty, Integrity, Impartiality and Objectivity 

 
1. An employee must perform his/her duties with honesty, integrity, 

impartiality and objectivity. 
 

Accountability 
 

2. An employee must be accountable to the authority for his/her actions. 

Respect for Others 
 

3. An employee must –  
 
a) treat others with respect; 
 
b)  not discriminate unlawfully against any person; and 
 
c)  treat members and co-opted members of the authority 
professionally. 
 

Stewardship 
 

4. An employee must –  
 

a) use any public finds entrusted to or handled by him/her in a 
responsible and lawful manner and for purposes consistent with 
and directed to the objectives and targets of the post; and 

  
b)  not make personal use of property or facilities of the authority 

unless properly authorised to do so. 
 

Personal Interests 
 

5. An employee must not in his/her official or personal capacity –  
 

a) allow his/her personal interests to conflict with the authority’s 
requirements; or 

 
b) use his/her position improperly to confer an advantage or 

disadvantage on any person; or 
 
c) do anything which would affect his/her ability, or the public’s 

confidence in his/her ability, to do their job. 
 

Page 197



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 168

Registration of Interests 
 

6. An employee must comply with any requirements of the authority –  
 

a) to register or declare interests; and 
 
b) to declare hospitality, benefits or gifts received as a 

consequence of his/her employment. 
 
And the Local Authority shall determine the manner of registration and 
declaration of interests and make employees aware of any changes 
from time to time.Reporting Procedures 

 
7. An employee must not treat another employee of the authority less 

favourably than other employees by reason that that other employee 
has done, intends to do, or is suspected of doing anything under  or by 
reference to any procedure the authority has for reporting misconduct.  
Some employees, by virtue of their membership of a professional body, 
may have a specific duty to report misconduct. 

 

Openness 
 

8. An employee must –  
 

a)  not disclose information given to him/her in confidence by 
anyone, or information acquired which he/she believes is of a 
confidential nature, without the consent of a person authorised 
to give it, or unless he/she is by law to do so; and 

 
b) not prevent another person from gaining access to information 

to which that person is entitled by law. 
 

Appointment of staff 
 

9. (1) An employee must not be involved in the appointment of  or any 
other decision relating to the discipline, promotion, pay or conditions of 
another employee, or prospective employee, who is a relative or friend. 

 
(2) In this paragraph –  
 
a) “relative” means a spouse, partner, parent, parent-in-law, son, 

daughter, step-son, step-daughter, child of partner, brother, 
sister, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, or 
the spouse or partner of any of the preceding persons; and 

 
b) “partner” in sub-paragraph (a) above means a member of a 
couple who live together. 
 

Page 198



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 169

Duty of Trust 
 

10. An employee must at all times act in accordance with the trust that the 
public is entitled to place in him/her. 

 

Use of Internet and Electronic Mail Facilities 
 

11. An employee must comply with the code of practice adopted by the 
Council for the acceptable use of computer facilities, including 
electronic mail and the internet. 

 
 

Page 199



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 170

 
 

Protocol on Member/Officer 
Relations 
 
 

(Incorporating amendments approved by the local Democracy Working Party 
on 23 September 2002) 
 
 

1. Role and Purpose 
 

The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and Officers in their 
relations with each other and outline some of the appropriate conventions 
within the Council.  The document cannot cover every eventuality nor is it 
prescriptive.  Its intention is to offer guidance on some of the issues which 
commonly arise. 
 
 

2. Definition of the Role and Officers and Members 
 

This protocol seeks to reflect the principles underlying the respective Codes of 
Conduct which apply to Members and Officers.  The aim of these codes is to 
enhance and maintain the integrity of local government and they therefore 
demand very high standards of personal conduct. 

 
Both Councillors and Officers are servants of the public.  Councillors are 
responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their term of office 
lasts.  Officers are employed by, and are responsible to the Council.  Their job 
is to give advice to Councillors and the Council and to carry out the Council’s 
work under the direction and control of the Council, its Cabinet, Committees 
and Sub-Committees.   

 
For the effective conduct of Council business, there should be mutual respect 
and courtesy in all meetings and contacts (both formal and informal) between 
Members and Officers.  It is important that behaviour which could be viewed 
as conferring an advantage or disadvantage is avoided, as should close 
personal familiarity between Members and Officers, which could undermine 
public confidence in the Council.  It is acknowledged that some close 
relationships may inevitably develop, and if so these must be openly declared 
and, where possible, Members and Officers who have close personal 
relationships should avoid working relations where they would come into 
regular contact on projects and in the day-to-day business of the Council. 
 
 

3. Officer Advice to Party Groups 
 

Officers cannot be instructed to attend party political group meetings, or write 
reports for such meetings.   
 

Page 200



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 171

Any requests for advice or attendance shall be directed through the Group 
Leaders or Chairs/Spokespersons for the relevant Committee or Cabinet 
member concerned.  The request shall be made to the relevant Chief Officer, 
or in his/her absence to their Deputy or the next appropriate lower tier officer.  
An officer accepting an invitation to one group or individual shall not decline 
an invitation to advise another Group or individual on the same subject, 
although the Officer is not obliged to offer to advise another group on the 
same subject.  Any request received and advice given shall be the subject of 
strict confidentiality, unless agreed otherwise.   
 

4. Briefings for Cabinets and Committees 

 

The principles outlined above do not obviate the necessity for regular contact 
on matters affecting the Council between Senior Officers and the Leadership 
of political groups, and on matters affecting Cabinet members’ responsibilities 
or those of Committee Chairs. 

 

It is recognised that groups may wish to give preliminary consideration to 
matters of Council business in advance of such matters being considered by 
the relevant decision making body.  Political Groups may at their own 
discretion decide to engage jointly in such deliberations.  Officers may 
properly be called upon to support and contribute to such deliberations, 
provided they maintain a stance of political neutrality.  Support includes 
briefings for Cabinet and committees, and briefings for Members related to 
their individual role, e.g. cabinet member or scrutiny chair.  Officers should be 
asked to give advice on Council business only, and not on matters which are 
of a party political nature.  Such support and advice is available to all political 
groups. 

 
Usually, only Chief Officers may be asked to provide the support outlined 
above in 3 and 4.  Requests for attendance should be made in sufficient time 
to allow proper preparation.  Due consideration shall be given to the timing of 
meetings to avoid onerous demands being made.  The time spent advising a 
group or individual shall be reasonable, given the demands on the time of all 
concerned.   
    
5. Support Services for Members 
 
The role of Officers is only to assist Members in discharging their role as 
Members of the Council for Council business and in their role as advocates 
for local communities.  Officers should not be used in connection with party 
political campaigning or for private purposes.  Council resources (e.g. 
member services, stationery, photocopying) may only be used for Council 
business or where such use is conducive or incidental to that role.   
 
 
 
 

Page 201



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 172

6. Members’ Access to Information and Council Documents 
 
All Political Groups shall be equally entitled, if they so choose to request and 
receive background information to decisions, including essential financial 
information  All such requests and the replies, shall remain confidential to that 
Party, although Parties may at their discretion choose to share that 
information between Political Groups.  Members are reminded of the need to 
consider whether such information is likely to fall within the categories of 
exempt information as defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules, 
and to treat it accordingly.  All advice from political advisors shall remain 
confidential.  Release of information to Members will be subject to the Data 
Protection Act. 
 
The common law right of Members is based on the principle that any Member 
has “prima facie” (or “on the face of it”) right to inspect Council documents so 
far as his/her access to the documents is reasonably necessary to enable 
him/her to properly perform their duties as a Member of the Council.  This is 
referred to as the “need to know” principle. 
 
The exercise of this common law right depends upon the Member’s ability to 
demonstrate that he/she has the necessary “need to know”.  A Member has 
no right to a “roving commission” to go and examine documents of the 
Council, and what the law terms “mere curiosity” is not sufficient.  The 
question must initially be determined by the particular Chief Officer whose 
department holds the documents in question, with advice from Head of Legal 
and Member Services . 
 
In some circumstances (e.g. a Committee Member wishing to inspect 
documents relating to the functions of that Committee), a Member’s need to 
know will normally be presumed.  In other circumstances (e.g. a Member 
wishing to inspect documents which contain personal information about third 
parties), a Member will normally be expected to justify the request in specific 
terms, possibly in writing. 
 
Draft Cabinet reports and working papers will be considered as work in 
progress and as such may not be requested under the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 
 
7. Reports 
 
Chief Officers may initiate reports on any matter where they believe the 
Council, Cabinet, committee or sub-committee should make a decision or 
should be informed.  Where such a report affects another service, the 
appropriate Chief Officer must be consulted.  The appropriate Cabinet 
member shall be consulted prior to the publication of an Executive report 
which concerns their portfolio.  Reports shall communicate all relevant factual 
information and professional opinions, together with appropriate 
recommendations.  The Cabinet Member may make suggestions as to the 
content and timing of the report, however the final word on these matters will 

Page 202



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 173

be that of the Chief Officer in whose name the report is presented, even if the 
Cabinet Member is unhappy with the outcome. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the Cabinet Member may submit their own 
report for consideration alongside that of the Chief Officer.   
 
8. Policy and Performance Committee 
 
Policy and Performance Committees may require Officers and Members to 
attend and provide any information required to answer questions (other than 
those which he or she would be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law).  
Detailed provisions are contained within the overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules. 
 
9. Ward Councillors 
 
Ward Councillors (and, where appropriate, councillors for neighbouring wards 
where there is a clear and obvious connection) should be kept informed and 
consulted on relevant matters affecting their Ward, e.g. planning, highways, 
licensing and other relevant matters.  In the case of public meetings in a 
particular locality, Ward Councillors will normally be invited to attend and can 
expect to be consulted on any form of consultation exercise on local issues.   
 
So far as decision making is concerned, Members remain accountable to the 
whole electorate of the Borough, and must make a personal decision on 
matters which come before them, balancing the interests of the electorate as 
a whole.  Including those members of the public who did not vote for them.   
 
10. Correspondence 
 
Where an Officer copies correspondence addressed from one Member to 
another, it should be made clear to the originator and should not be sent to 
any Member of another Group without the originator’s consent.  Members’ 
correspondence with Chief Officers should not be copied to Cabinet Members 
or Policy and Performance Committee Chairs unless the originating Member 
consents. 
 
Official letters from the Council should normally be sent out in the name of the 
appropriate Officer, rather than a Member.  It may be appropriate in certain 
circumstances (e.g. representations to a Government Minister) to address 
correspondence in the name of the Member, but this is the exception rather 
than the rule.  Letters which create obligations or give instructions should not 
be sent out in the name of a Member. 
 
Any Members who receive correspondence in their capacity as Executive 
members shall respond to the correspondence in their official capacity only. 
Such correspondence shall be copied to the Leader of the Council as Chair of 
Cabinet, except when doing so would constitute a  breach of professional 
confidence. 
 

Page 203



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 174

11. Press Releases 
 
Members are reminded of the need to comply with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1986 and the Code of Recommended Practice on 
Local Authority Publicity which prohibits local councils from publishing any 
material which appears to be designed to reflect support for a political party.  
Council publicity should not be used as a means to publicise individual 
Councillors, except where they are acting to represent the Council as a whole. 
 
12. Ceremonial Events 
 
Ceremonial events would normally be attended by the Mayor or Deputy 
Mayor, unless they relate specifically to initiatives led by the Cabinet or in 
particular committee, in which case the Cabinet Member, Chair or Vice-Chair 
of that Committee would attend. 
 
In addition, local Members should be informed and, where possible and 
appropriate, invited to participate. 
 
13. Complaints 
 
Where a Member’s conduct is considered inappropriate, contact should be 
made in the first instance with the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer.  If it 
is a matter of party discipline, then the matter will be investigated by the party 
itself, otherwise such matters will be investigated by the Chief Executive or 
Monitoring Officer or a person duly authorised by him/her.  In serious cases, 
or case where it appears that a Member may have breached the Code of 
Conduct, a written complaint may be made to the Standards Board for 
England.  
 
Where an Officer’s conduct is considered inappropriate, complaints should be 
directed to the relevant Chief Officer or Chief Executive for investigation. 
  
 

 

Page 204



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 175

 
POLICY ON UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINANTS 
 
 
The Council is committed to dealing with all complaints fairly and impartially 
and to providing a high quality service to those who make them.  As part of 
this service it does not normally limit the contact complainants have with its 
offices and/or officers. 
 
However, there are a small number of complainants who because of the 
frequency of their contact with the Council’s offices and/or officers, hinder our 
consideration of their, or other people’s complaints.  We refer to such 
complainants as ‘unreasonably persistent complainants’ and, exceptionally, 
we will take action to limit their contact with our offices and/or officers. 
 
The decision to restrict access to our offices and/or officers will be taken at 
Chief Officer level and will normally follow a prior warning to the complainant.  
Any restrictions imposed will be appropriate and proportionate.  The options 
we are most likely to consider are:- 
 
• requesting contact in a particular form (example, letters only); 
• requiring contact to take place with a named officer;  
• restricting telephone calls to specified days and times; and/or 
• asking the complainant to enter into an agreement about their future 

contacts with us.  
 
In all cases where we decide to treat someone as an unreasonably persistent 
complainant we will write to tell the complainant why we believe his or her 
behaviour falls into that category, what action we are taking and the duration 
of that action.  We will also tell them how they can challenge the decision if 
they disagree with it. 
 
Where a complainant whose case is closed persists in communicating with us 
about it, we may decide to terminate contact with that complainant.  In such 
cases, we will read all correspondence from that complainant but unless there 
is fresh evidence which affects our decision on the complaint we will simply 
acknowledge it or place it on the file with no acknowledgment.  
 
New complaints from people who have come under the unreasonably 
persistent complaints policy will be treated on their merits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 205



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 176

All Allowance references will need to be checked by Dem Services. 
 
MEMBERS’ ROLE PROFILES  ( to be revised ) 
 
The role descriptors set out below are not exhaustive and aim to describe the 
outline responsibilities of each role, rather than being an extensive description 
of all functions and responsibilities.  
 
A. Ward Member  
 
66 Members of the Council, are elected by a ward.  
 
Role  
 
To be an advocate of and for the interests of the ward, individual electors, 
community groups and other stakeholders. To represent the interests of those 
individuals and groups to the Council, and deal with enquiries and 
representations from constituents.  
 
Duties   
 
i. Individually, and with other representatives of the same and other wards, to 
effectively represent the interests of the ward, individual and groups of 
constituents in the policy formulation and decision making processes of the 
Council and to other local and national bodies.   
 
ii. To lead and actively encourage community involvement and engagement in 
consultation in policy formulation and decision making by the Council.  
 
iii. To respond to constituents enquiries and representations fairly and 
impartially.   
 
iv. To promote good community relations and take and encourage steps to 
eliminate unlawful discriminatory practices and attitudes within and outside 
the Council.   
 
v. To act in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Employee relations.  
 
vi. To work individually and collectively in the interests of the ward and the 
Borough.  
 
vii. To support the Corporate Parenting Strategy. in ensuring outcomes fulfil 
the Council’s responsibilities towards children in care.  [This may not be the 
correct terms for Wirral, we may want to add to this]. 
 
Entitlement  
 
i. All Members receive a basic allowance under the Scheme of Members 
Allowances which is detailed in Part 6(ii) of this Constitution, in part, 

Page 206



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 177

remuneration for time and expense spent on these duties. These duties will 
not normally give rise to recoverable subsistence or travel expenses.   
 
ii. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities.  
 
iii. The extensive legal and constitutional provisions which regulate Members 
rights to attend meetings and access information necessary to the discharge 
of their duties is set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the 
Constitution.  
 
B. Member of Full Council  
 
All 66 Members of the Council are Members of the Full Council. There are 
restrictions on the Mayor and Executive Members participating in the 
Overview and Scrutiny and Standards Committee functions of the Full 
Council.   
 
Role   
 
Collectively, to determine the Budget and Policy Framework of the Council 
and to effectively discharge the functions which are the Responsibility of the 
Full Council under Part 3 of the Constitution.   
 
Duties   
 
i. Participate in the setting by the Full Council, following proposals from the 
Executive, of the Budget and Policy Framework of the Council, following the 
procedures in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.  
 
ii. Collectively, as a Full Council, to directly discharge or arrange for the 
discharge of the functions set out in Part 3 of the Constitution which are the 
responsibility of the Full Council. This may include the delegation of functions 
to Committees, Sub-Committees or Officers and/or to joint arrangements with 
other Councils.  
 
iii. To be appointed by the Full Council as Chair, Vice Chair or Member of 
such Committees, Sub-Committees or joint arrangements and collectively with 
other Members of those bodies directly discharge or arrange for the discharge 
of functions delegated to them.  
  
iv. To promote the economic, social and environmental well-being of the 
Borough and to have regard to the [Corporate Strategy] when doing so.   
 
v. When participating in decision making, to ensure that decisions are lawful, 
reasonable, proportionate and contribute to the vision, mission, core values, 
strategic objectives and deliver and are within the Policy and Budget 
Framework of the Council. To also consider how each decision can assist in 
the reduction of crime and the elimination of inequality and discrimination.   

Page 207



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 178

 
vi. When participating in decisions which have a direct impact on the rights 
and freedoms of individuals, ensure that proper processes are followed and 
that obligations under the principles of natural justice and human rights 
legislation are met.  
 
 vii. To be available to be appointed to outside bodies and;   
 

• Where appointed as the Council’s representative, to act as directed by, 
or in the interests of the Council,  

• Where appointed as a Director, Trustee or other capacity bearing 
personal liability, to act in accordance with the law and in accordance 
with the interests of the outside body,  

• Where appointed as an observer or other non decision making 
capacity, to represent the Council without becoming involved in 
decision making by the outside body.  

 
viii. To participate in [Value for Money/Service Reviews what are Wirral 
requirements?] as required by the Council.   
 
ix. To act in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Employee relations.   
 
Entitlement   
 
i. The basic allowance includes recognition of the work undertaken by 
Members in relation to Full Council meetings.   
 
ii. The detail of how Members can participate in debates, submit motions and 
vote are set out in the Council Procedure Rules.  
 
ii. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities  
 
C. Chairman of the Council/Mayor  
 
It is the duty of the annual meeting of the Full Council to elect one of its 
Members to be Chairman of the Council. The Chairman is entitled to the title 
of Mayor and is entitled, on appropriate ceremonial occasions to bear the title 
of Civic Mayor.  
 
Role  
 
The Mayor of the Council has a formal responsibility to chair meetings of the 
Full Council and an historic traditional ceremonial role. The Mayor of the 
Council is the First Citizen of the Borough and is entitled to take precedence 
at civil events. [Is this the case in Wirral?] 
 
Duties   

Page 208



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 179

 
i. To chair meetings of the Full Council neutrally preserving order, ensuring 
that the Council Procedure Rules are followed and allowing different opinions 
to be fully and fairly presented and debated.   
 
ii. The Mayor will attend and host such civic and ceremonial functions as the 
Council and the Mayor shall determine.  [Do we want to say something else 
here?] 
 
iii. To determine any questions about the interpretation of the Constitution.   
 
iv. To respond to constituents enquires and representations fairly and 
impartially.   
 
v. To discharge procedural functions under the Constitution.   
 
vi. To act in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Employee relations.,   
 
Entitlement   
 
i. The Chairman of the Council is entitled to bear the title of Mayor.  
 
ii. The Mayor receives support in managing civic and ceremonial duties from 
the Office of the Mayor of the Council.   
 
iii. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities.   
 
D. The Leader  
 
The Leader is elected by all the members of the council at the annual general 
meeting every year.  
 
Role   
 
The Leader has responsibility to give political leadership and direction to the 
Council.  
 
Duties   
 
i. To appoint between 2 and 9 cabinet Members and determine their portfolios 
 
ii. To appoint a Deputy Leader  
 
iii. To determine a scheme of delegation   
 
iv. To call cabinet meetings and determine the agenda  
 

Page 209



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 180

v. To take personal responsibility for the delivery, or the arrangements for the 
delivery through delegations, of the Budget and Policy Framework and the 
functions of the Council which are the responsibility of the Executive.   
 
vi. To work closely and constructively with Overview & Scrutiny Members in 
leading the development of the Budget and Policy Framework, in reviews of 
policy and in the scrutiny of decision making.  
 
vii. To record and make publicly available any decision taken personally  
 
viii. To attend, answer questions, and lead debates at meetings of the Full 
Council   
 
ix. To attend meetings of Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee and 
Sub Committees when requested to do so.  
 
x. To lead the Council and the Borough in reducing crime and eliminating 
inequality of opportunity and unlawful discrimination. [Do we want to add 
something else]. 
 
xi. To act in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Employee Relations.   
 
Entitlement   
 
i. The Leader receives a special responsibility allowance and, subject to the 
scheme of allowances will receive subsistence and travel expenses detailed 
in Part xx of this Constitution.   
 
ii. The [Is there special support for cabinet] supports the Elected Leader 
and the Cabinet.   
 
iii. The Leader is entitled to attend, speak and vote at meetings of the Council 
and its Committees (except Overview and Scrutiny and Standards 
Committees).   
 
iv. The Leader has the right to information …[ Add words based on case law 
etc].  
 
 v. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities.  
 
E. Cabinet Members   
 
Between 2 and 9 Cabinet Members are appointed by the Leader.  
 
 Role   
 

Page 210



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 181

The Cabinet have collective and individual responsibility to propose the 
Budget and Policy Framework to the Council, and to discharge or arrange for 
the discharge of those functions which are the responsibility of the Executive 
under Part 3 of the Constitution.  
 
Cabinet Members have a personal responsibility for taking decisions in 
relation to, and discharging those executive functions delegated to them by 
the Leader. The delegations to Executive Members are known as their 
portfolio.  
 
Duties  
 
i. Collectively and individually to propose the Budget and Policy Framework, 
following consultation with Overview and Scrutiny Members and others as 
appropriate.  
 
ii. Personally to take decisions and discharge directly, or arrange for the 
discharge, of those parts of the Executive’s functions which are delegated to 
the Executive Member by the Leader as part of their portfolio.  To record and 
make publicly available any decision taken personally. 
 
iv. To be available to be appointed by the Executive to outside bodies; and   
 

• Where appointed as the Council’s representative, or delegate, to act as 
directed by, or in the interests of the Council,  

• Where appointed as a Director, Trustee or other capacity bearing 
personal liability, to act in accordance with the relevant law and in 
accordance with the interests of the outside body,  

• Where appointed as an observer or other non decision making capacity 
to represent the Council without becoming involved in decision making 
by the outside body.  

 
v. To assist the Leader in driving efforts of the Council and the Borough to 
reducing crime and eliminate inequality of opportunity and discrimination [or 
whatever we wish to put].   
 
vi. To undertake Ward and Full Council Members duties.  
 
vii. To act in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Employee relations.   
. 
Entitlement   
 
i. All Cabinet Members, as Members of Full Council, receive a basic 
allowance. In addition to this basic allowance, Cabinet Members also receive 
a special responsibility allowance detailed in Part 6(ii) of this Constitution.   
 
ii. [Member Support/Executive Office what are our arrangements] provide 
secretarial and administrative support for Cabinet Members. Support is also 
provided by Strategic Directors, Directors and Heads of Service.  

Page 211



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 182

 
iii. Cabinet Members have the same rights to information as the leader of the 
council.  
 
iv. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities  
 
F. Overview and Scrutiny Members   
 
Overview and Scrutiny Members are the Chairs, Vice Chairs and Members of 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, Standing and Ad Hoc 
Overview and Scrutiny Panels.   
 
Members of the Executive cannot be Overview and Scrutiny Members.  
 
There may be co-opted Overview and Scrutiny Members, including church 
and parent governor representatives where education functions are 
concerned and trade union representatives.  
 
Role   
 
With other Overview and Scrutiny Members to effectively and efficiently 
discharge the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Function under s21 Local 
Government Act 2000, including the management of resources allocated to 
the discharge of that function.  
 
Duties   
 
i. To work closely and constructively with the Leader and Cabinet Members, 
participate in the formulation of the Budget and Policy Framework by 
responding to proposals from the Executive within timescales set by the 
Executive.  
 
ii. Drive and participate in programmes of policy review, both at the request of 
the Full Council and of the Executive, but equally at the initiative of Overview 
and Scrutiny Members. The programme of review to include consideration of 
anything which is of interest to the area or its inhabitants, even where the 
issue is not the responsibility of the Council.   
 
iii. To effectively discharge its functions in respect of the Overview and 
Scrutiny of relevant partnership bodies and where there is a duty on 
partnership bodies to co-operate with Overview and Scrutiny e.g. authorities 
responsible for crime and disorder strategies, the NHS and relevant partners 
identified within the Local Strategic Partnership.   
 
iv. With other Overview and Scrutiny Members, to subject decisions of the 
Executive (including the Leader, Executive Committees, individual Cabinet 
Members and Officers taking key decisions) to appropriate but rigorous 

Page 212



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 183

scrutiny. To evaluate and question executive decision making in order to hold 
the Executive to account.  
 
v. As an individual, and in collaboration with other Overview and Scrutiny 
Members, to ensure that every decision by or on behalf of the Leader 
(including Officers taking decisions) is subject to sufficient and timely scrutiny. 
To participate in a decision to trigger the call in procedure where, in 
exceptional circumstances, it is required.   
 
vi. To ensure that the work of Overview and Scrutiny Members is available to 
the Executive and the Full Council, where appropriate, through the 
submission of reports and clear, concise recommendations.   
 
vii. In undertaking these duties to apply the Constitution of the Council, and 
particularly the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, the Access to 
Information Rules and the Budget and  
 
viii. Policy Framework Procedure Rules. To undertake additional functions 
such as required by the Council or by statute.  
 
ix. To respond to constituents enquiries and representations fairly and 
impartially.  
 
x. To declare any personal interest in issues being scrutinised and to take any 
action, including withdrawal from the Committee or Sub-Committee required 
to maintain impartiality.  
 
xi. To undertake Overview and Scrutiny functions in a constructive and non-
partisan way.   
 
xii. To act in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct and the Protocol 
on Member/Employee relations.   
 
Entitlement   
 
i. The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee receives a 
special responsibility allowance detailed in Part 6(ii) of this Constitution.   
 
ii. The Vice Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee receives 
a special responsibility allowance detailed in Part 6(ii) of this Constitution.   
 
iii. The Chairs of Standing Scrutiny Sub Committees receive a special 
responsibility allowance detailed in Part 6(ii) of this Constitution.  
 
iv. Overview and Scrutiny Members have additional rights to access 
information of relevance to their areas of responsibility. These rights are set 
out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.   
 

Page 213



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 184

v. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities   
 
G. Area Committee Members 
 
[To be completed] 
 
H. Standards Committee Members   
 
Standards Committee Members are appointed by the Full Council.  
 
The membership comprises XX elected Members, XX Members (independent 
of the Council). 
 
Role   
 
The Standards Committee Members collectively have the duties of promoting 
high standards of conduct by elected and co-opted Members of the Council 
and assist those Members to achieve those high standards.  
 
Duties   
 
(a) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and 
Officers.  
 
(b) To grant dispensations to Councillors and Co-opted Members from 
requirements relating to interests set out in the members Code of Conduct, 
where not delegated to the Monitoring Officer.   
 
(c) To hear appeals against decisions of the Monitoring Officer not to grant a 
dispensation.  
 
(d) To monitor and review the Council’s Whistleblowing policy.   
 
(e) To monitor and review protocols for standards of behaviour for Members 
and Officers.  
 
(f) To monitor and review protocols for Members and Officers on relationships 
and dealings with outside organisations and individuals.  
 
(g) To monitor and review Member and Officer procedures relating to gifts and 
hospitality and disclosable pecuniary interests and other interests.   
 
(h) To monitor and review the mandatory training programme for Members 
and Officers.  
 
(i) To monitor and oversee the response by the Council to complaints to the 
Ombudsman.  
 

Page 214



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 185

(j) Dealing with complaints of alleged member misconduct referred to the 
Monitoring Officer under section 28(6) of the Localism Act 2011.  
 
(k) Granting and supervision of exemptions from posts being designated as 
politically restricted.  
 
Entitlement   
 
i. Mandatory and further specialised training is provided for Members who 
have a duty to ensure that they are well informed and have the skills to enable 
them to undertake these responsibilities.   
 
ii. A special responsibility allowance is paid to the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, and a co-optee’s allowance to Independent Members detailed in 
Part XX of this Constitution.   
 
H. Leaders of Political Groups  
 
It is open to Members who form political groups under the Local Government 
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 to appoint a Leader.  
 
Role  
 
The Leader of a Political Group has one formal role, to be involved in the 
processes relating to the composition of the group.  
 
Entitlement   
 
i. The Leaders of Political Groups with XX or more Members receive a special 
responsibility allowance detailed in Part 6(ii) of this Constitution.   
 
ii. Each Political Group is provided with an equipped office from which the 
Leader and other Members can conduct their business.   
 
iii. [Need to set out rights to information briefings etc]. 
 

Statutory and Guidance References   
 
Local Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000  
 
DETR New Council Constitutions Guidance Chapter 10  
 

 
 
 

Page 215



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 186

 

 
 

CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

 
  
(TO BE UPDATE TO REFLECT NEW CODE 
ADOPTED) 
 

Page 216



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 187

 
Councillor Call for Action Protocol – A Guide 

 
1. What is the Councillor Call for Action? 
 
1.1 The Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) process provides ward Members 

with a means of escalating matters of ward concern to an Policy and 
Performance Committee, for possible onwards recommendations to the 
Council’s Cabinet and/or other agencies. It is very important to note 
that a CCfA is intended to be a measure of “last resort“ and may 
not be used until all other avenues have been exhausted. Members 
are advised to use the *Checklist appended to this Protocol to evidence 
that all other possible routes have been tried and failed.  The CCfA 
may not be used in relation to individual planning and licensing 
decisions or where other avenues of appeal exist. 

 
1.2 This guide has been prepared to offer assistance to a Councillor who is 

thinking of pursuing a CCfA and has regard to a best practice guidance 
booklet published by the Centre for Public Scrutiny and the 
Improvement and Development Agency. 

 
2. What is CCfA designed to achieve? 
 
2.1 CCfA should be seen in the context of wider changes introduced to 

provide overview and scrutiny with greater powers to work more closely 
with partners and across organisational boundaries.  It will enable 
Councillors, as the democratic representatives of their communities, to 
raise issues that it has not been possible to resolve by other means. 

 
2.2 CCfA should not be seen in isolation.  It is part of a range of measures 

available to a ward Councillor in support of his or her representative 
role, including the internal feedback process, petitions, call-in etc. 

 
3. Who can raise a CCfA? 
 
3.1 It is open to any Councillor to raise a CCfA at a meeting of one of the 

Council’s Policy and Performance Committees.  The Councillor does 
not have to be a member of the relevant Committee. 

 
3.2 A Councillor whose CCfA is listed on an agenda for an Policy and 

Performance Committee meeting will be invited and expected to attend 
that meeting to speak to the item.  However, in exceptional 
circumstances, the Councillor concerned can send a substitute.  The 
decision to allow this will be taken by the Monitoring Officer in 
consultation with the relevant Policy and Performance Committee 
Chairman and Spokespersons. 

 
      *The Checklist will be appended to this Protocol once the Scrutiny Programme Board 

has considered it at its meeting on 5 January 2009. 
 

Page 217



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 188

 
4. What can be raised through a CCfA? 
 
4.1 A Councillor who is a member of an Policy and Performance 

Committee can raise any matter that is within the terms of reference of 
the Committee.  Any Councillor can raise a local government matter 
with any of the Council’s Policy and Performance Committees and in 
particular, issues relating to the local neighbourhood.  A local 
government matter can relate to the discharge of any function of the 
Council and, more locally, all or part of the Councillor’s ward or any 
person who lives or works in it.  In line with the area focus of 
Comprehensive Area Assessment and the fact that the Council’s duties 
increasingly impact on other organisations and involve partners within 
and outside the Local Strategic Partnership, a Councillor can raise any 
issue that relates to the economic, social and environmental well-being 
of his or her ward. 
 

5. Is any matter excluded from a CCfA? 
 
5.1 Yes.  There are certain exclusions from CCfA.  The Policy and 

Performance Committee may reject any Call for Action if it: 
 

• is not a matter for which the local authority or its partners has a 
responsibility, or which does not affect the borough 

• is defamatory, frivolous or offensive 
• is substantially the same as a Councillor Call for Action which has 

been 
put to any meeting of the Council in the past 6 months 

• is a matter relating to a planning decision 
• is a matter relating to a licensing decision 
• is a matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that 

individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review or appeal 
conferred by or under any enactment 

• is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable* for inclusion on an 
agenda for discussion at a meeting of an Policy and Performance 
Committee. 

  
5.2 Although a CCfA can not be raised on a single licensing or planning 

decision, a CCfA can be raised about licensing and planning decisions 
and other decisions where there is a right to review or appeal if the 
CCfA consists of an allegation that the authority responsible has failed 
to discharge the function or is failing on a systematic basis. 

 

Page 218



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 189

 
6. What other avenues are available to resolve an issue?  
 
6.1 There is a wide range of both formal and informal avenues available 

that a Councillor can use to influence, change and resolve problems.  
These include: 

  
• Motions on the agenda for Council 
• Area Forums 
• Written and oral questions at Council 
• Exercising the right to ask for items to be included on an agenda 
• Organising a petition 
• Organising a public meeting 
• Informal discussions with officers or other Councillors 
• Liaison and discussions with Councillors of other authorities e,g 

Mersey Travel 
• Writing to or emailing an officer or an officer of another authority on 

behalf of a constituent 
  
6.2 It is important to recognise CCfA as a last resort rather than the 

primary route to getting constituency issues resolved.  It would be an 
unnecessary waste of resources if a Councillor tried to deal with all 
constituency issues or matters of concern by raising them on an Policy 
and Performance Committee agenda.  A Councillor should try to 
resolve matters informally or at a local level before considering whether 
to pursue a CCfA.  Advice can be sought from the Monitoring Officer on 
appropriate courses of action. 

 
6.3 A ward Member requesting a call for action will be asked to 

demonstrate to the Monitoring Officer that he or she has sought to 
address the issue through all existing means.  The call will not be 
considered unless the Policy and Performance Committee, whose 
terms of reference the CCfA falls in, is satisfied that: 

 
• the Councillor has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter 

via dialogue with Council officers and or relevant partners and 
particularly the Area Forums; 

• the issue of concern is a matter in respect of which the Council has 
a statutory power or duty to deal with which is not precluded by 
legislation;  and 

•  the issue of concern has a demonstrable impact on a part of or the 
whole of a Councillor’s ward. 

 
6.4 Before a CCfA can be progressed to scrutiny, the Councillor must 

provide documentation to show that he/she has taken the following 
steps: 
 
 
 

Page 219



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 190

 
• made the relevant service request / Members’ enquiry/letter to 

relevant other agency 
• raised the issue with the relevant Cabinet Member or senior 

representative of a partner agency 
• raised the issue of concern at relevant meetings dealing with crime 

and disorder matters 
• brought the matter to the attention of the Area Forum. 

 
6.5 Care should be taken by a Councillor not to offer definitive advice to a 

constituent about a particular issue which may lead to action or 
expenditure on the part of the constituent.  Councillors are not insured 
to do so and any subsequent claim by a constituent that the advice was 
flawed could lead to embarrassment and costs. 

 
7. How will the process work? 
 
7.1 The ward Councillor’s role in the consideration of the CCfA, as with any 

formal Council business, is subject to compliance with the Members’ 
Code of Conduct 

 
7.2 A Councillor wishing to raise a CCfA should contact the Monitoring 

Officer with the appropriate details not less than ten working days prior 
to the despatch of an agenda for the Policy and Performance 
Committee on which the item is to be included.  He or she should 
explain: 

 
• The background to the CCfA 
• What action the Councillor has already taken to try to resolve the 

issue informally 
• If the issue is being raised on behalf of a constituent, what action 

the constituent has taken to try to resolve the matter 
• What resolution the Councillor (or constituent) is seeking to achieve 
• The decision/recommendation(s) of the Area Forum. 

 
7.3 It is important to recognise that CCfA is not appropriate for an 

individual complaint, e.g. a complaint by an individual resident about a 
failure to collect refuse or about an incident in a leisure centre.  
Avenues for complaint already exist to deal with such matters through 
the Council’s Complaints Procedure.  However scrutiny can become 
involved where it is felt that a series of complaints demonstrates a 
systematic failure in a particular service. 

 
7.4 On receipt of the request, the Monitoring Officer will obtain any further 

information thought to be necessary from the Councillor, including any 
documentation that may be available, and his or her availability to 
attend the Committee meeting when the CCfA is to be raised.  The 
Monitoring Officer will consult with the Chairman of the relevant Policy 
and Performance Committee on whether the CCfA can be accepted or 
whether it should be excluded under the statutory criteria. 

Page 220



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 191

 
 
7.5 In considering whether to include the CCfA on an agenda, regard will 

be had to any representations made by the Councillor in support of his 
or her request.  The Monitoring Officer, after consultation with the 
appropriate Chairman and Spokespersons, will consider whether all 
other avenues have been exhausted (if not he can use his discretion to 
determine the route the issue raised should now take e.g. Area Forum) 
or whether a CCfA can now be accepted and, If so, which Committee it 
should be considered by.  If the CCfA is rejected, the Councillor will be 
notified of the decision and the reason for it. 

 
7.6 The relevant Cabinet Member will be invited to attend the Committee 

meeting at which the CCfA is to be raised, together with a senior officer 
from the appropriate Department. 

 
7.7 When an item is raised at a Committee meeting, the Councillor bringing 

the CCfA or, in exceptional circumstances the substitute, will be invited 
to speak to the Committee about the issue and what outcome is being 
sought.  The Committee may: 

 
• Challenge the expected outcome if it feels that this is unreasonable 

or inappropriate 
• Seek further information from the Councillor bringing the CCfA 
• Invite the Cabinet Member or senior officer to respond to the issues 

raised by the Councillor 
• Decide to ask the Cabinet Member or senior officer to report back to 

a future meeting with further information, after investigating the 
issue raised 

• Decide whether to invite a representative of a partner or other 
organisation to attend a future meeting if the CCfA relates to an 
issue that is the responsibility of that organisation  

• Appoint a Panel to investigate the issue further and report back with 
recommendations 

• Recommend the Cabinet Member or Cabinet to pursue a particular 
resolution to the CCfA 

• Decide that it would be inappropriate to pursue the matter any 
further giving reasons 

• Refer it back to the Area Forum setting out the reasons why it has 
decided on this course of action 

  
7.7 If the Committee decides to submit a report and/or recommendations 

either to the Council or the Cabinet, it will provide the Councillor with a 
copy. 

 
7.8 The decision of the Committee on the CCfA shall be final. 
 
 
 
 

Page 221



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 192

 
 
8. *Definitions 
 
8.1 Any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable is 

excluded from CCfA 
 
8.2 ‘Vexatious’ is defined in guidance to the Freedom of Information Act 

as ‘Deciding whether a request is vexatious is a flexible balancing 
exercise, taking into account all the circumstances of the case.  There 
is no rigid test or definition and it will often be easy to recognise.  The 
key question is whether the request is likely to cause distress, 
disruption or irritation, without any proper or justified cause’. 

 
8.3 Issues around persistency are also implied in this definition.  However, 

a persistent request may be entirely valid where it relates to a 
systematic problem.  A request which some Councillors may regard as 
vexatious for political reasons may be entirely reasonable. 

 
8.4 ‘Discriminatory’ is defined in the Equality Act as ‘A person (“A”) 

discriminates against another person (“B”) for the purposes of this Part 
if on the grounds of the religion or belief of B or of any other person 
except A (whether or not it is also A’s religion or belief) A treats B less 
favourably than he treats or would treat others (in cases where there is 
no material, difference in the relevant circumstances’.  The definition 
can be applied to other forms of discrimination for reasons of sex, 
disability or race. 

 
8.5 ‘Not reasonable’ does not mean the same as unreasonable.  It is best 

considered as a qualifier to the word ‘vexatious’ i.e. a vexatious request 
is likely to be not reasonable and vice versa. 

 

Page 222



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 193

  
 
Petitions Scheme 
 
Types of petition 
 
Petitions can relate to any issue which the Council has powers, or shared 
delivery responsibilities with our partners. In addition they can relate to an 
improvement in economic, social or environmental well-being of the 
authority’s area to which any of its partner authorities could contribute.  
 
In order not to duplicate procedures where established processes exist for 
communities to have their say the following are excluded – 
 

• any matter relating to a planning decision, including about a 
development plan document or the community infrastructure levy 
applications under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005;  

• Petitions received in response to statutory consultation such as school 
closures, traffic orders, Compulsory Orders etc;  

• any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that 
individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of appeal 
conferred by or under any enactment.  

 
In this scheme there are 2 types of petitions 
 

• Petitions that must be considered by the Council – these must be 
signed by at least 3,000 people who live in the Borough.  

• Ordinary petitions (that just ask for action to be taken) -100 people who 
live in the Borough.  

 
Submitting a petition 
 
Petitions submitted to the council must include 
 

• a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It 
should state what action the petitioners wish the council to take the 
name and address and signature of any person supporting the petition;  

• the contact details of the petition organiser  
 
All petitions whether paper or electronic, will be monitored by the Head of 
Legal/Member services, in consultation with the Mayor (in the case of a 
petition to be discussed at the Council) and with the Leader (in the case of the 
others) and if considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate 
will be rejected.  
 
Issues such as data protection, libel and the statutory requirement as a public 
body to comply with equalities and anti-discrimination legalisation will also be 
taken into consideration at this time. If a petition is rejected the petition 
organiser will be informed of the reasons why it’s been rejected. 

Page 223



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 194

 
E- petitions 
 
The petition organiser will need to provide us with their name, postal address 
and email address. You will also need to decide how long you would like your 
petition to be open for signatures. Most petitions run for six months, but you 
can choose a shorter or longer timeframe, up to a maximum of 12 months. 
 
When you create an e-petition, it may take five working days before it is 
published online. This is because we have to check that the content of your 
petition is suitable before it is made available for signature. 
 
If we feel we cannot publish your petition for some reason, we will contact you 
within this time to explain. You will be able to change and resubmit your 
petition if you wish. If you do not do this within 14 days, a summary of the 
petition and the reason why it has not been accepted will be published under 
the ‘rejected petitions’ section of the website. 
 
When an e-petition has closed for signature, it will automatically be submitted 
to Member Services. In the same way as a paper petition, you will receive an 
acknowledgement within 14 days. 
 
A petition acknowledgement and response will be emailed to everyone who 
has signed the e-petition and elected to receive this information. The 
acknowledgment and response will also be published on this website. 
 
How do I ‘sign’ an e-petition? 
 
You can see all the e-petitions currently available for signature here [insert 
link]. 
 
When you sign an e-petition you will be asked to provide your name, your 
postcode and a valid email address. When you have submitted this 
information you will be sent an email to the email address you have provided. 
This email will include a link which you must click on in order to confirm the 
email address is valid. Once this step is complete your ‘signature’ will be 
added to the petition. People visiting the e-petition will be able to see your 
name in the list of those who have signed it but your contact details will not be 
visible. 
 
Procedure for dealing with a petition 
 
Once a petition has been received either electronically or in paper format 
under this scheme it must be acknowledged within 14 days to the organiser. 
 
This will explain what action is being taken. 
 
In response to the petition the Authority can take the following steps – 
 

• take the action requested in the petition;  

Page 224



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 195

• consider the petition at a meeting of the Council ;  
• refer the petition to the Cabinet, the Coordinating Committee or such 

other meeting as is appropriate;  
• provide a written response to the petition organiser setting out the 

authority’s views on the request in the petition;  
 
In the case of those to be considered by the Council, the Coordinating 
Committee, the petitioner will be advised of the date and time of the meeting. 
In the case of the Council the petitioner will be given the opportunity to 
address the meeting for 5 minutes and the petition will be discussed for a 
maximum of 15 minutes. 
 
The petitioner will be advised of the action to be taken. 
 
After the appropriate action has been taken the petitioner must be advised of 
the response and if it was submitted via the website the response must also 
be published there.  
 
 
 

Page 225



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 196

 
SCRUTINY CALL-IN GUIDELINES 

 
( To be agreed by the Co-ordinating Committee) 

 
(1)  FORM OF CALL-IN 
 
A call-in should conform to the requirements in Standing Order 35(1), i.e: 

• it should be submitted, on the prescribed form, to the Head of Legal 
and Member Services within five working days of the publication of the 
decision in question; 

• it should be signed by the appropriate member(s), namely a party 
leader or a deputy leader or any five members of the Council (but 
electronic signatures are acceptable); 

• the call-in notice should specify the reasons why the member(s) 
believe(s) that the decision should be considered by the Policy and 
Performance Committee. 

 
(2)  EFFECT OF CALL-IN  
 
On receipt of a valid call-in, the Head of Legal and Member Services will notify 
the chief officer concerned and all members of the Council.  No action will be 
taken to implement the Cabinet decision until the call-in procedure has been 
completed. 
 
(3)  SCHEDULING OF THE MEETING  
 
The meeting to consider the call-in must be held within 15 working days of the 
receipt of the call-in. The Head of Legal and Member Services is responsible 
for summoning the meeting. The Chief Executive or Director of Law, HR and 
Asset Management, in consultation with the Chair and Party Spokespersons 
on the Scrutiny Programme Board allocate the call-in to the appropriate Policy 
and Performance Committee, or to the Board for consideration. If it is not 
possible for agreement to be reached by the Group Spokespersons, the call-
in will be referred to the Scrutiny Programme Board for a decision on 
allocation. The date should be arranged in consultation with the Chair of and 
party spokespersons for the relevant committee. (Standing Order 26 deals 
with the calling of special meetings). Once the date of the meeting has been 
set, the relevant chief officer, Scrutiny Support Officers and all Council 
members will be notified of the date. 
 
If it is necessary to adjourn a meeting that is considering a call-in, it must be 
reconvened, and the scrutiny process completed, within 10 working days, 
provided that that is practicable (see also paragraph (7) below). 
 
(4)  PREPARATION FOR THE MEETING 
 
A suitable venue will be selected, taking into account the approximate number 
of members of the public that are likely to attend.  Where the Chair considers 
it appropriate, the meeting may be held elsewhere than the Town Hall. 

Page 226



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 197

 
A list of witnesses, and the order in which they are likely to be called, will be 
established and agreed with the Chair of the meeting. Witnesses may be 
nominated by both those submitting the call-in notice and the relevant Cabinet 
member. The complete list should be available in sufficient time give formal 
notice to each witness at least three working days before the meeting (though 
it is to hoped that they would have been given some indication beforehand).  
The Committee Services Section will co-ordinate the witness list and will 
formally invite those people to the committee meeting on behalf of the Chair. 
 
Since the terms of the O&S Rules indicate that the decision as to whether or 
not to seek the views of any person is a matter for either the Chair or the 
committee itself, it follows that it would be reasonable for the Chair or the 
committee to ascertain in advance the credentials of any person that has 
been proposed as a witness. The list of proposed witnesses should therefore 
include details of each witness’s particular expertise or knowledge in relation 
to the matter, and the members of the committee will then be able to prepare 
appropriate questions for them. 
 
The relevant Cabinet member and any council officer required to answer 
questions on the matter must attend the meeting when requested to do so by 
the Chair of the committee.  Other persons requested to attend as witnesses 
can choose whether or not to do so. 
 
(5)  SUGGESTED STRUCTURE FOR THE MEETING 
 
An example of a suggested procedure for the handling of a call-in item on a 
committee agenda is detailed in Appendix 1 of these Guidelines. 
 
(6)  PARTICIPANTS IN THE MEETING  
 
Only members of the committee (or designated deputies) will be able to ask 
questions of the witnesses or take part in the subsequent debate.  
 
A member of the committee can not also act as a witness. 
 
(7)  WITNESSES 
 
A witness must be given at least 72 hours notice (3 working days) that he/she 
is required to attend to give evidence. 
 
Witnesses should act under the direction of the Chair (i.e. not of the person 
that originally submitted their names).  Each witness, once called, can be 
questioned by any member of the committee, but all questioning should be 
conducted through the Chair. 
 
Witnesses may leave the meeting having given their evidence, but it is open 
to the committee to recall them (if necessary at a subsequent meeting) in 
order to establish points of information (if, for example, a later witness 
produces counter-evidence). 

Page 227



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 198

 
Where, in exceptional circumstances, a member or officer acting as a witness 
is unable to attend on the required date, the committee, in consultation with 
the member or officer, can arrange an alternative date to hear the evidence 
within a maximum of 15 working days from the date of the original request or 
their submission can be considered in writing. 
 
(8)  EXEMPT REPORTS 
 
There might be a call-in of a decision that followed the Cabinet’s consideration 
of an exempt report.  This could present problems in relation to the openness 
of the scrutiny process and to how much of the proceedings witnesses, and 
the public, can be admitted.  If the committee considers it necessary to 
exclude the public at any stage of the meeting (the term ‘public’ includes all 
witnesses except when they are invited in to give evidence), it will have to 
pass a specific resolution. 
 
The first question it should ask is whether all or any part of the report under 
consideration is still exempt.  Having done so, it would have the following 
options: 
 
(a)  It could exclude the public at the start and call witnesses into the meeting, 
one at a time, to be questioned; or 
the meeting could commence with an explanation, for the benefit of those 
present, of the implications of the report without divulging any of the exempt 
information, then carry on as above. 
 
(b)  If the meeting decides that the report should not remain exempt, then 
copies would have to be made available to the public, who can remain in the 
meeting.  It may be possible, though, to produce an edited version of the 
report, leaving out any paragraph that can definitively be said still to be 
exempt under the Access to Information Rules.  If the discussion shifts to the 
exempt information, the public could then be excluded temporarily. 
 
On balance the Committee should err on the side of openness. 
 
(9)  DECISION OF THE MEETING 
 
The meeting must conclude by agreeing to a recommendation.  The following 
points are taken mainly from paragraph 16 of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules: 
 
If the Policy and Performance Committee disagrees with the original decision, 
it may either ask the Cabinet to reconsider the decision, or refer it to the 
Council for consideration if it believes that the decision is contrary to the policy 
framework or not in accordance with the budget. The Chair of the Policy and 
Performance Committee will have the opportunity to explain its views to the 
Cabinet or Council, as appropriate. 
 
If the Policy and Performance Committee recommends that the matter should 

Page 228



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 199

be referred back to the Cabinet for reconsideration, all members who signed 
the call-in notice will be invited to the relevant Cabinet meeting. 
 
If the Policy and Performance Committee agrees with the decision, it will 
become effective immediately at the close of the committee meeting and the 
relevant chief officer may implement that decision.  If the committee proposes 
any variation to the decision, the matter will be referred back to the Cabinet 
for a final decision. 
 
(10)  MINORITY REPORTS 
 
If any political group does not agree with the majority decision of the 
committee, it may submit a written minority report for consideration by the 
Council at the same time as the minutes of the committee are being 
considered.  Any such report must be handed to the Head of Legal and 
Member Services in accordance with Standing Order 12(2). The Leader of the 
relevant group or his/her representative will have an opportunity to explain the 
minority report to the Council, and the Council may discuss and vote for or 
against such a report without prejudice to any decision already implemented. 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 
 
 
WIRRAL COUNCIL  
 
Agenda – xxx POLICY AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE - at 6.00pm on 
xxx 
 
Venue:  Committee Room 1. 
 
[DETAILS OF CALL-IN - duplicate wording from call-in form] 
 
 
1 Chair’s opening remarks 
 
2 Chair asks for any declarations of interest, including whether or 

not any whipping arrangements apply 
 

3 Explanation of the call-in by lead signatory 
 
4 Evidence from call-in witnesses: 
 
 1 
 2 
 3 
 4 
 5 
 6 
 etc. 

Page 229



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 200

  
5 Evidence from Cabinet member’s witnesses 
 
6 Summing up by mover of the call-in  
 
7 Summing up by Cabinet member:  
 
8 Committee debate 
 
9 Committee decision 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 201

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 4 POLICY AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE CALL-
IN PROCEDURE (Standing Order 35) 

 

Decision of Cabinet to be called in: 
 

Date of meeting  
Minute number  
Subject  
  
 

Reason(s) for call-in (use additional sheet if required): 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Called in by [signature(s) to be inserted]: 
 

 
Councillor        (Party Leader) OR 

 
Councillor        (Deputy Leader) 

OR 

Councillors: 

 (1)           

 (2)           

 (3)           

 (4)           

 (5)           

 

� 

Metropolitan 
Borough of Wirral 

Page 231



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 202

 

*Received by: 
 

Signature: 
 
On behalf of the Head of Legal and Member Services 

Date Time 

 

Referred to: 
 
 

Scrutiny Committee (      
  ) 

Date 
 

*This form must be received by the Head of Legal and Member Services by no later 
than  
5.00 pm on the fifth working day following notification that the minutes have been 
published. 

Page 232



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 203

 
Members’ Allowances Scheme 

 
MEMBERS ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
Wirral Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local 
Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, hereby 
makes the following scheme : 
 
1. This scheme may be cited as the Wirral Borough Council Members' 

Allowances Scheme, and shall have effect for the year commencing on 
1 April 2008 and subsequent years. 

 
2. In this scheme, 
 
 "councillor" means a member of the Wirral Borough Council who is a 

councillor; 
 

"total estimated allowances" means the aggregate of the amounts 
estimated by the Director of Finance, at the time when a payment of 
basic allowance and special responsibility allowances is made, to be 
payable under this scheme in relation to the relevant year, and for this 
purpose any election under paragraph 6 (Renunciation) shall be 
disregarded; 

 
 "year" means the 12 months ending with 31 March. 
 
3. Basic Allowance 
 
 Subject to paragraph 7, for each year a basic allowance of £8,712.45 

shall be paid to each councillor. 
  
(Reduced by 5% following a meeting of the Independent Panel on Members 
Allowances who made a recommendation re: this to Council in October 2012 
which was agreed) 
 
4. Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
 (1) For each year a special responsibility allowance shall be paid to 

those councillors who hold the special responsibilities in relation 
to the authority that are specified in schedule 1 to this scheme. 

 
 (2) Subject to paragraph 7, the amount of each such allowance 

shall be the amount specified against that special responsibility 
in that schedule. 

 
 (3) No councillor shall be entitled to receive more than one payment 

by way of special responsibility allowance. 
 
5. Childcare and Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance 
 
An allowance not exceeding £5.52 per hour shall be payable towards or 
in respect of actual expenses necessarily incurred in arranging for the 
care of a child or other dependant by virtue of a member’s attendance at 
a meeting of the authority, or any other meeting that is authorised by the 

Page 233



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 204

authority, or designated as an approved duty under this Scheme, 
provided that no such payment shall be made to a relative or a member 
of the claimant’s own household. 

Page 234



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 205

6. Renunciation 
 
 A councillor may by notice in writing to the Head of Legal and Member 

Services (or an officer authorised in that behalf) elect to forego any part 
of his/her entitlement to an allowance under this scheme. 

 
7. Part-year Entitlements 
 
 (1) The provisions of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate the 

entitlements of a councillor to basic and special responsibility 
allowances where, in the course of a year, this scheme is 
amended or that councillor becomes, or ceases to be, a 
councillor, or accepts or relinquishes a special responsibility in 
respect of which a special responsibility allowance is payable. 

  
 (2) If an amendment to this scheme changes the amount to which a 

councillor is entitled by way of a basic allowance or a special 
responsibility allowance, then in relation to each of the periods : 

 
  (a) beginning with the year and ending with the day before 

that on which the first amendment in that year takes 
effect, or 

 
  (b) beginning with the day on which an amendment takes 

effect and ending with the day before that on which the 
next amendment takes effect, or (if none) with the year, 

 
 the entitlement to such an allowance shall be to the 

payment of such part of the amount of the allowance under 
this scheme as it has effect during the relevant period as 
bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of 
days in the period bears to the number of days in the year 

  
 (3) Where the term of office of a councillor begins or ends otherwise 

than at the beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that 
councillor to a basic allowance shall be to the payment of such 
part of the basic allowance as bears to the whole the same 
proportion as the number of days during which his/her term of 
office subsists bears to the number of days in that year. 

 
 (4) Where this scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 

(2), and the term of office of a councillor does not subsist 
throughout the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) (a), the  
entitlement of any such councillor to a basic allowance shall be 
to the payment of such part of the basic allowance referable to 
each such period (ascertained in accordance with that sub-
paragraph) as bears to the whole the same proportion as the 
number of days during which his/her term of office as a 
councillor subsists bears to the number of days in that period. 

 
 (5) Where a councillor has during part of, but not throughout, a year 

such special responsibilities as entitle him or her to a special 
responsibility allowance, that councillor's entitlement shall be to 
payment of such part of that allowance as bears to the whole the 
same proportion as the number of days during which he/she has 

Page 235



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 206

such special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that 
year. 

 
 (6) Where this scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 

(2), and a councillor has during part, but does not have 
throughout the whole, of any period mentioned in sub-paragraph 
(2) (a) of that paragraph any such special responsibilities as 
entitle him or her to a special responsibility allowance, that 
councillor's entitlement shall be to payment of such part of the 
allowance referable to each such period (ascertained in 
accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the 
same proportion as the number of days in that period during 
which he or she has such special responsibilities bears to the 
number of days in that period. 

 
8. Travel and Subsistence 
 
(a) Travel Costs 
 

(1) Travel costs incurred by members in performing “approved 
duties” as specified in Schedule 2 to this Scheme shall be 
reimbursed at the prevailing public transport rates, 
provided that the use of taxis or members’ private motor 
vehicles may be permitted  where public transport is either 
not available, or the journey by public transport would be 
likely to result in unreasonable delay. 

 
 (2) Payment for the use of members’ private motor vehicles shall be 

made at the rate of 40 pence per mile. 
 
 (3) The allowance payable for the use of motor cycles or bicycles 

shall be in accordance with the rates prescribed by the scheme 
of conditions of service applicable to the authority’s employees 
generally. 

 
(b) Subsistence Payments 
 
 (4) Members necessarily absent from home for a period in excess 

of four hours (but not including absence overnight) shall be 
entitled to receive a payment in respect of the purchase of 
meals at the following rates relevant to the time of day:- 

 
 Breakfast allowance (before 11 a.m.)   £6.00 
 Lunch allowance (12 noon to 2 p.m.)   £9.00 
 Tea allowance (3 p.m. to 6 p.m.)    £3.00 
 Evening meal allowance (after 7 p.m.)   £11.00 
 
 (5) Notwithstanding the rates specified at (4) above, members shall 

be entitled to claim reimbursement of the actual cost of meals 
taken on trains provided this is reasonable and supported by an 
official receipt, subject to the following limitations: 

 

Page 236



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 207

  4-8 hours     cost of 1 main meal 
  8-12 hours     cost of 2 main meals 
  Over 12 hours    cost of 3 main meals 
 
 (6) In cases where a meal is provided free of charge by an outside 

organisation, the entitlement to a subsistence payment shall be 
reduced by an amount equivalent to the rate prescribed for a 
meal relevant to the time of day, namely: 

 
   Breakfast  £6.00   
   Tea   £3.00 
   Lunch   £9.00   
   Evening Meal £11.00 
 
 (7) Members absent from home for a continuous period of 24 hours 

or more (necessarily including an overnight stay) shall be 
entitled to claim, in respect of the purchase of meals and 
overnight accommodation, reimbursement of the actual costs 
incurred (where supported by receipts) up to a maximum of: 

 
   Standard rate     £110.00 
   Central London/LGA Annual Conference Rate £144.00 
 
  For the purposes of this section “Central London” is defined as 

the City of London and the London Boroughs of Camden, 
Greenwich, Hackney, Hammersmith and Fulham, Islington, 
Kensington and Chelsea, Lambeth, Lewisham, Southwark, 
Tower Hamlets, Wandsworth and Westminster. 

 
9. Payment of Allowances 
 
 (1) Allowances payable under this scheme shall be paid in equal 

monthly instalments of one-twelfth of the annual amounts 
specified in paragraph 3 hereof and Schedule 1 hereto. 

 
 (2) Payment of allowances and expenses under this scheme shall 

be made by the Director of Finance by Bankers’ Automated 
Clearing Services (or such other method of payment as may be 
acceptable to the Council) on the last Thursday of every month 
(except in December, when arrangements for earlier payment 
may be made). 

 
 (3) Where a payment of one-twelfth of the amount specified in 

this scheme in respect of a basic allowance or a special 
responsibility allowance would result in the councillor 
receiving more than the amount to which, by virtue of 
paragraph 7, he or she is entitled, the payment shall be 
restricted to such amount as will ensure that no more is 
paid than the amount to which he or she is entitled. 

 
 

Page 237



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 208

SCHEDULE 1 
 
 The following are specified as the special responsibilities in respect of which special 

responsibility allowances are payable, and the amounts of those allowances. 
 
Leader of the Council (see Note 1)  22,927 

Deputy Leader of the Council  11,463 
Deputy Leader of the largest group  11,463 
Leader of the largest opposition group (Cons.) 
Deputy Leader of the largest opposition group 
Leader of 2nd largest opposition group (Lib Dem) 
Deputy Leader of 2nd largest opposition group 
Mayor of Wirral  
Deputy Mayor of Wirral 
Cabinet Members: 
Children’s Services and Lifelong Learning 
Improvement and Governance 
Corporate Resources 
Culture, Tourism and Leisure 
Environment 
Finance 
Housing and Community Safety 
Regeneration and Planning Strategy 
Adult Social Care and Public Health 
Streetscene and Transport Services 

 13,756 
  6,878 
  9,171 
  4,585 
10,700 
  1,500 
 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
  9,171 
 

 
Policy and Performance Committee Chairs: 
Council Excellence 
Children and Young People 
Economy and Regeneration 
Health and Well Being 
Sustainable Communities 
Scrutiny Programme Board 

  
 
4,585  
4,585  
4,585  
4,585  
4,585  
4,585 
 

Other committees:   

Licensing, Health & Safety & General Purposes 
Employment and Appointments 
Pensions 
Planning 
Standards 
Audit and Risk Management 
 
Standards Committee – Independent Persons x 4 
a payment of £25 per meeting each 
 

 4,585 
2,751 
2,751 
4,585 
1,375 
4,585  
 

 
Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority 
representatives (£1834 x 2) 
 

                      
3,668 
 

NOTES: 
(1)  The Council has determined that the Leader has responsibility for the Finance portfolio, 

so no separate allowance appears in the budget 
 

Page 238



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 209

SCHEDULE 2 
 

APPROVED DUTIES 
 
Attendance at any of the following is designated as an approved duty for the 
purpose of the payment of travel and subsistence allowances:- 
 

(a) meetings of the Council, committees (including advisory 
committees), sub-committees, member panels or working 
parties; 

 
(b) meetings of associations of local authorities (including 

committees, special interest groups or working parties) of which 
the council is a member; 

 
 (c) meetings of the Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority; 
 
 (d) meetings (including annual site inspections) authorised from 

time to time by the Cabinet and to which representatives of more 
than one political group have been invited; 

 
 (e) formal site visits (organised in addition to the annual tour of 

inspection) by members of the Planning Committee; 
 
 (f) meetings by the Party Leaders or their nominees with 

Government Ministers where at least two political groups have 
been invited; 

 
 (g) meetings by the Party Leaders or their nominees at offices of 

the European Union in pursuit of Council policies (and when 
accompanied by officers); 

 
 (h) attendance by Cabinet members, Party Leaders or Deputies and 

Committee Chairs or spokespersons (or their nominees) at 
briefings or other meetings convened by a Chief Officer to deal 
with Council business; 

 
 (i) Court hearings (e.g. on Licensing or other matters) where the 

member is attending on behalf of the Council; 
 
 (j) Hearings of Industrial and Employment Appeal Tribunals by 

members of the Appeals Sub-Committee; 
 
 (k) Public Inquiries (when the member is representing the Council); 
 
 (l) Training courses for Councillors included in an approved 

programme; 
 
 (m) attendance at seminars or presentations within the Borough 

where this is authorised by a committee (for members of that 
committee only) or by the Cabinet if the invitation is to be 
extended to all members of the Council; 

 

Page 239



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 210

 (n) meetings of the following bodies to which the Council makes 
appointments or nominations:- 

 
(a)  CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING 
 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College Governing Body 
C E Gourley VC Endowment Fund 
Connexions (Greater Merseyside) Ltd 
Lower Bebington School Lands Foundation 
National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children 
Oaklands Centre Management Committee 
St Bridget’s Educational Trust 
University of Liverpool Court 
West Kirby Residential School 
Wirral Alternative School Programme (WASP) (formerly PRU) 
Wirral Metropolitan College Governing Body 
Wirral Play Council Executive Committee 
Wirral Play Partnership 
Meetings between spokespersons and headteachers and teacher/governors 
to improve communication with governing bodies 
Meetings of Governors within the area of the Authority specifically to appoint 
teaching staff 
 
(b)  CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 
4NW Regional Leaders Board (Nomination) 
Birkenhead Market Limited/Birkenhead Market Services Limited – Director 
Liverpool City Region Cabinet 
Local Government Association: General Assembly 
North Western Local Authorities Employers’ Organisation 
SIGOMA (LGA Special Interest Group of Metropolitan Authorities) 
West Kirby Charities 
 
(c) COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT 
 
Beechwood Play and Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
Charing Cross Play Youth and Community Centre Joint Management 
Committee 
Gautby Road Play & Community Centre Joint Management Cttee 
Greasby Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
Hoylake Youth and Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
The Lauries Centre 
Leasowe Play, Youth & Community Association Management Cttee 
Liscard Community Facilities Complex Joint Management Cttee 
Livingstone Street Community Centre Joint Management Cttee 
New Ferry Village Hall Joint Management Committee 
Overton Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
Seacombe Community Association (Council) 
Vale House Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
Westbourne Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
Wirral Multicultural Organisation  

Page 240



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 211

Woodchurch Community Centre Joint Management Committee 
 
(d)  CULTURE, TOURISM AND LEISURE 
 
Mayer Trust, Bebington 
Merseyside Cultural Forum 
Royal Liverpool Philharmonic Society 
Tam O’Shanter Cottage Trust 
 
(e)  ENVIRONMENT 
 
 
LGA Urban Commission 
Liverpool Airport Consultative Committee 
Mersey Port Health Authority 
Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority  
North Western Inshore Fisheries  and Conservation Authority 
 
(f)  FINANCE AND BEST VALUE 
 
Local Strategic Partnership Executive Board 
Strategic Partnership Authority 
 
(g)  HOUSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
Beechwood and Ballantyne Community Housing Association - Board  
Leasowe Community Homes Management Board 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority 
Merseyside Police Authority 
Merseyside Police Authority Appointments Committee 
Wirral Community Safety Partnership 
Wirral Council and Riverside Challenge Fund Working Group 
Wirral Partnership Homes – Board members  
Wirral Partnership Homes: Community Fund Working Group 
 
(h)  REGENERATION AND PLANNING STRATEGY 
 
Chrysalis (General Partner) Limited Director 
Conservation Area Advisory Committees 
Liverpool City Region – Employment & Skills Board 
Liverpool City Region – Environment & Waste 
Liverpool City Region – Housing & Spatial Planning Board 
Liverpool City Region – Improvement & Efficiency Board 
Liverpool City Region – Local Enterprise Partnership - Director  
Mersey / Dee Alliance  
Mersey Maritime Group Ltd 
Mersey Partnership 
North Birkenhead Development Trust – Director 
Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board 
Wirral Business Partnership 

Page 241



DRAFT – 8 APRIL 2013 

 212

Wirral Council For Voluntary Service - Management Committee  
Wirral Citizens’ Advice Bureau  
Woodchurch Neighbourhood Management Board 
 
(i)  SOCIAL CARE AND INCLUSION 
 
Age UK Wirral 
Arch Initiatives - Wirral Management Committee 
Bebington Day Centre Advisory Body 
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership Trust: Appointed Governor 
Joint Scrutiny Committee for Cheshire & Wirral NHS Partnership Trust  
Clatterbridge Centre for Oncology Foundation Trust 
John Lloyd Corkhill Trust 
Girtrell Court Residential Centre Advisory Body  
Heswall Advisory Body (Heswall ATC) 
Merseyside Society for the Deaf  
Riverside Centre Advisory Body 
Wallasey Day Centre Advisory Body 
Wirral Hospital Trust - Governors 
 
(j)  STREETSCENE AND TRANSPORT SERVICES 
 
Local Government Association Coastal Issues Special Interest Group 
Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority 
Merseyside Strategic Transportation Committee 
National Parking Adjudication Service Joint Committee 
Wirral Cycle Forum 
Wirral Pedestrian Forum  
   
Pensions 
 
Investment Advisory Panel (all members of Pensions Committee) 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 242



 1 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
18 APRIL 2013 
 
SUBJECT REVENUE MONITORING 2012/13 

MONTH 11 (FEBRUARY 2013) 
WARD/S AFFECTED ALL 
REPORT OF INTERIM DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES 

KEY DECISION YES 
 
1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out the revenue position for 2012/13 as at Month 11 

(February 2013). It identifies the latest financial projections and ongoing 
management actions to ensure any year end overspend is minimised. 

 
2 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Cabinet on 6 September 2012, when considering the Month 3 monitor, 

instituted a spending freeze in the light of a £17m projected overspend. Items 
within the freeze agreed by 18 October, 8 November, and 20 December 
Cabinets are included within the monitoring figures below. The outcome of 
weeks since then are reported within Appendix 7, attached. 

 
 OVERALL POSITION AT MONTH 11 (FEBRUARY 2013) 
 
2.2 The projected revenue forecast for the year, at Month 11 (February 2013), 

shows a potential General Fund overspend of £7.4m, down £0.2m on the 
M10 projection of a £7.6m overspend. This improvement is largely due to a 
reduced projected overspend within Children & Young People.  

 
Graph 1:  Wirral Council – 2012/13 General Fund Variance, by month 

2012-13 Projected Overspend £m

-

5

10

15

20

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Month

£m

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 243



 2 

 
2.3 A report examining issues regarding the level of debt which has previously 

been included within the Authority’s accounts and assumed was collectable is 
to be released in the near future. This may increase the size of the underlying 
projected 2012/13 overspend. The release of earmarked reserves to cover 
this cost have however been identified. 

 
CHANGES TO THE AGREED BUDGET AND VARIATIONS 

 
2.4 The Budget for 2012/13 was agreed by Council on 1 March 2012 and is 

detailed in Appendix 2; any increase in the Budget has to be agreed by full 
Council. Changes to the budget have occurred since it was set and these are 
summarised in the table below. These comprise variations approved by 
Cabinet / Council including approved virements, budget realignments 
reflecting changes to the departmental structure and responsibilities, and 
expenditure freeze decisions, as well as any technical adjustments. These are 
detailed in Appendix 3. 
 
Table 1:  2012/13 Original & Revised Net Budget analysed by Department 

 Original 
Net 

Budget 

Approved 
Budget 
Virements 
Mths 1-10 

Previous 
Freeze 

Decisions   

Approved 
Budget 
Virements 
Month 11 

Revised 
Net 

Budget 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Adult Social Services 66,660 571 -85 - 67,146 
Children & Young People 73,665 -195 -172 - 73,298 
Finance 24,610 -2,424 -493 - 21,693 
Law, HR & Asset Management 13,901 1,183 -54 -17 15,013 
Regeneration, Hsg & Planning 25,764 -768 -962 - 24,034 
Technical Services 59,478 178 -526 17 59,147 
Freeze Savings - - 2,292 - 2,292 
Efficiency Fund - 2,132 - - 2,132 
Net Cost of Services 264,078 677 0 0 264,755 

 Note 1: M11 virements reflect a review of energy prices which saw an adjustment for street 
lighting to Technical Services from Asset Management.  

 
2.5 A budget realignment exercise took place in January. This was conducted 

mainly on a departmental basis with departments allocating some monies to 
overspending areas such as employees and supplies and services from 
underspending budget lines, such as Transfer payments, Third Party 
payments and Recharges. A large number of individual virements have been 
made in the month. As the exercise was self funding this has not solved the 
overall forecast overspend but has moved a number of budgets closer in line. 

 
2.6 The main report will only comment on large variations (Red and Yellow items). 

The ‘variations’ analysis distinguishes between overspends and underspends 
and the proposed ‘risk band’ classification is: 
• Overspends - Red (over +£301k), Amber (+£141k to +£300k) 
• Acceptable - Green (range from +£140k to -£140k) 
• Underspends - Blue (-£141k to -£300k),  
• Yellow (over -£301k) 

Page 244



 3 

 
Table 2: RAGBY Classification of 2012/13 Departmental Projected 
General Fund Budget variations (Month 10 in brackets) 
 
 
Department 

Number 
of 

Budget 
Areas 

 
 

Red  

 
 

Amber 

 
 

Green 

 
 

Blue 

 
 

Yellow 

Adults 4 2 (2)  0 (0)  1 (1)  1 (1)  0 (0)  
Children & YP 7  2 (2)  1 (1)   0 (0)  2 (2)   2 (2)  
Finance 6  0 (0)  1 (1)  1 (1)  0 (0)  4 (4)  
Law, HR & AM 7 1 (1)  1 (1)  3 (3)  1 (1)  1 (1)  
Reg, Hsg & Plan 5 0 (0)  0 (0)   3 (3)  1 (1)  1 (1)  
Technical Servs 7 1 (1)  0 (1)  6 (5)  0 (0)  0 (0)  

TOTAL 36   6 (6)  3 (4)    14 (13)  5 (5)  8 (8)  
 
2.7 The reporting process identifies over or underspends and classifies them into 

risk bands. The projection is for a total potential General Fund overspend of 
£7.4m across the six Directorates for 2012/13, as set out in the table below, 
which records 4 departments as red and two yellow (unchanged from M10). 

 
Table 3: 2012/13 Projected General Fund Budget variations by 
Department 
Department Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

(Under) 
Overspend 
Month 11 

RAGBY 
Classific
ation 

Month 10 
(Under)/ 
Overspend 

Change 

 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 
Adults 67,146 78,540 11,400 R 11,200 +200 
Children & YP 73,298 75,998 2,700 R 3,100 -400 
Finance 21,693 17,544 -4,200 Y -4,200 - 
Law,HR & AM 15,013 16,246 1,200 R 1,200 - 
Reg, Hsg & Plan 24,034 23,053 -1,000 Y -1,000 - 
Technical Servs 59,147 60,813 1,700 R 1,700 - 
Freeze wks 2,292 - -2,300 n/a -2,300 - 
Efficiency Fund 2,132 - -2,100 n/a -2,100 - 
TOTAL 264,755 272,194 7,400  7,600 -200 

Note: DASS figures reflect Cabinet 7th February decision agreeing increased funding for 
2012/13 Care Home fees.  

 
2.8 Within the various departments there have been the following developments: 
 

• Adult Social Services there is a potential overspend of £11.4m, an 
increase of £0.2m since M10 partly due to an increase in agency staff and 
care costs. Cabinet on 7 February agreed an increase in 2012-13 
Residential and Nursing Home fees of £1.058 million.  

• Children and Young People there is a potential overspend of £2.7m, 
down £0.4m on M10 due to reductions in transport, training, foster care 
and agency costs  

• Law, HR and Asset Management there is a potential overspend of 
£1.2m, unchanged on M10.  

• Finance is projecting a £4.2m underspend, unchanged since M10.  
• Regeneration, Housing and Planning are forecasting a £1.0m 

underspend, unchanged on M10. 
• Technical Services forecast is a £1.7m overspend, unchanged on M10. 

Page 245



 4 

 
  Graph 2:  Department – 2012/13 General Fund Variance, by month 

Spend by Department

-6.0

-4.0

-2.0

-

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

Ju
n Ju

l
Aug

Sep
O

ct
Nov

Dec
Ja

n
Feb

M
ar

Months

£m

Adults

Childrens

Finance

Law

Reg, Hsg
& Plan
Tech
Servs

Note: DASS figure includes additional Care fees agreed by Cabinet 7 February 
 
2.9 To complete the analysis, the table below sets out the position by category of 

spend/income. The largest area of variance remains supplies and services 
which incorporates the cost of care for adults and children. 

 
Table 4:  Projected Departmental Variations by Spend and Income  

 Reported 
Budget 

Virement 
Month 11 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Varianc
e 

RA
GBY 

Change 
from 
Month 
10 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Gross Expenditure        
Employees 143,426 - 143,426 142,993 -433 Y -228 
Premises 19,211 -194 19,017 18,499 -518 Y 236 
Transport 7,378 - 7,378 8,727 1,349 R -14 
Supplies and Services 114,851 198 115,049 126,857 11,808       R 208 
Third Party Payments 73,483 - 73,483 73,594 111      G -160 
Transfer Payments 170,784 - 170,784 170,855 71 G 105 
Support Services 79,999 - 79,999 77,938 -2,061 Y -1 
Financing Costs 71,375 - 71,375 69,545 -1,830 Y 1 
Schools Expenditure 442,596 - 442,596 440,996 -1,600 Y - 
Total Expenditure 1,123,103 4 1,123,107 1,130,004 6,897  147 
        
Gross Income        
Schools Income 439,851 - 439,851 438,451 1,400 R - 
Government Grants 213,465 - 213,465 214,763 -1,298 Y 1 
Other Grants and 
Reimbursements 17,592 - 17,592 21,425 -3,833 Y 32 

Customer/Client Receipts 45,917 -4 45,913 41,160 4,753 R -175 
Interest 1,105 - 1,105 1,376 -271 B -39 
Recharge Other Rev A/c 140,418 8 140,426 140,636 -210 B -102 
Total Income 858,348 4 858,352 857,811 541  -283 
        
Net Expenditure 264,755 - 264,755 272,193 7,438  -136 

 

Page 246



 5 

 
2.10 Schools expenditure is funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant. As this 

grant is ringfenced any over/underspend will not impact on the General Fund 
financial position. 

 
 RAGBY REPORTING AND OTHER ISSUES 
 
2.11 The Red and Yellow RAGBY issues that are the subject of corporate focus 

are detailed in the following sections by Business Area (by Department 
identifying the service) and then by Subjective Area (by the type of spend / 
income). The Business Areas are defined as the high level Objective 
Summary as per the Council Estimates (Blue Book). 

 
2.12 Business Area Reds 

 
Adult Social Services: Two of the Department’s Business Areas remain 
reported as red (unchanged from month 10); Personal Assessment and 
Planning; and Personal Support. A forecast overspend of £11.4 million is 
forecast for the department (including an increase in care fees of £1.058 
million) agreed by Cabinet on 7th February 2013. The issues mainly involve 
underlying pressures in Community Care, shortfall in 2011/12 reprovision and 
unachieved income which totals £6.55 million. There is slippage across a 
number of savings targets including market review £1.6 million, corporate 
EVR/VS £1.35 million and £0.7 million relating to staff savings targets.  
 
Children and Young People: Two of the Department’s Business Areas are 
flagged as red (unchanged from month 10) with a £2.7 million overspend 
forecast for the department. The red areas are Childrens Services and the 
Integrated Transport Unit.  Childrens Services pressures relate in the main to 
social care costs and case numbers, and remain unchanged. Transport is 
provided by the department on behalf of all departments and the projected 
overspend has reduced by £100,000 to £1m. 
 
Finance: No Business Areas are flagged as red.  
 
Law, HR and Asset Management: One area remains flagged red (no change 
on month 10) with a forecast overspend of £1.2m. The red area is Asset 
Management, which continues to report issues regarding the non-
achievement of savings across a number of activities. These include facilities 
management, office rationalisation and asset disposal savings. Human 
Resources has dropped from a red to amber rating, although business 
transformation and terms and conditions within Human Resources will not 
achieve their 12/13 savings target. 
 
Regeneration, Housing and Planning: No Business Areas flagged as red. 
 
Technical Services: Only one area is flagged as red (unchanged from month 
10). Engineers, where shortfalls in car parking income and income relating to 
inspection and alteration of highways are significantly below target, remains 
red. 

Page 247



 6 

 
Schools: The authority remains in discussion with the Department for 
Education regarding the possible loss of £1.4 million of grant for schools. 
Table 4 reflects a potential loss of grant with a corresponding reduction in 
schools expenditure. 

 
2.13 Business Area Yellows 

 
Adult Social Services: No Business Areas are flagged as yellow.  
 
Children and Young People: Two areas remain flagged as yellow, LEA 
School Costs and Non-School Costs. LEA School Costs reflect the receipt of 
additional refund of deducted grant and fees in respect of Academies plus 
general expenditure savings. The non school variance is due to savings 
relating to Connexions expenditure and receipt of a Troubled Families Grant. 
 
Finance: Four areas are flagged as yellow (unchanged from Month 10). 
Financial Services reflects savings on Treasury Management; lower 
borrowing costs will provide benefit of £1.7m. Benefits and Revenue Services 
are forecast to provide a further £1m of savings from additional grant receipts 
and £0.5 million relating to staffing savings through vacancy control. IT 
Services are forecast as yellow mainly due to savings on equipment costs. 
Customer Services is forecast as yellow due to savings on staffing costs.  

 
Law, Human Resources and Asset Management: One area, Regulatory 
Services, is flagged as yellow (unchanged from Month 10). The variation is 
due to higher than anticipated income  for Community Patrol services and the 
Fair Trading scheme, combined with an underspend within Environmental 
Health transport costs and controls on expenditure.  
 
Regeneration, Housing and Planning: One area is flagged as yellow 
(unchanged from Month 10). A freeze on grant payments is contributing to the 
underspend in Strategic Development. Housing and Regeneration Services 
has moved from a yellow to blue rating.  

 
2.14 Subjective Area Reds 

 
Transport: The Integrated Transport Unit is managed by Children & Young 
People and the budget continues to be under pressure as a consequence of 
the demands in respect of Adults Services and Special Education Needs.  
 
Supplies and Services: The variation is mainly comprised of pressures 
within Adult Social Services and Children & Young People relating to care 
service costs. An element of the overspend in expenditure is funded from 
health grants which show as a corresponding over achievement of income 
within the other grant income line.  
 
Schools Income: Discussions have taken place with the Department for 
Education regarding potential loss of schools grant. Any shortfall will be met 
by a corresponding decrease in schools expenditure. 

Page 248



 7 

 
Customer and Client Receipts: This mainly reflects likely income shortfalls 
within a number of departments. Areas forecasting to underachieve budget 
include car parking, Cultural Services, cemeteries and crematorium fees, 
highways inspection and alteration fees, building control and planning and 
social services fees. The forecast outturn position reflects the need to write off 
a sizeable amount of irrecoverable income relating to a court case regarding 
New Road and Street Works Act invoices. 
 
As outlined above in paragraph 2.3 a major risk has been identified regarding 
levels of collectable debt which will have a substantial financial impact upon 
the authority’s finances. Officers have urgently put in place a system to 
ensure ongoing income is recovered by implementing agreed policy. The 
further release of earmarked reserves has been identified to cover the costs.  

 
2.15 Subjective Area Yellows 

 
Employees: Employee costs have now moved into the yellow category. This 
partly reflects savings made from the recruitment freeze, restrictions in 
agency and overtime expenditure and the non-filling of vacancies ahead of 
service restructuring. 
 
Premises: The major reasons for the projected saving are the restrictions to 
highways and parks expenditure, which is classed within this category, 
together with projected savings on authority rates bills and a number of 
spending freeze decisions. Offsetting this is the delivery of savings under the 
rationalisation of office accommodation which is not progressing in 
accordance with the expected timetable. 
 
Support Services Costs: The variation within this area is mainly due to the 
abolition of the Efficiency Fund. For reporting purposes the £2.1m unused 
budget has been left within the report totals rather than shown as a transfer to 
General Fund balances. 
 
Financing Costs: Lower borrowing costs arising from slippage and 
reductions to the capital programme will realise savings of £1.7m in this area. 
 
Schools Expenditure: The underspend in this area reflects reductions to 
compensate for a potential loss of grant within the year. There are some 
further savings in relation to asset costs. 
 
Government Grants: The Authority is forecasting an increased level of 
Housing and Council Tax Benefit grant receipts. 
 
Other Grants and Reimbursements: This includes additional monies 
received in respect of Academy funding, plus monies from health which are 
partly funding the increased community care costs within the supplies and 
services line. 
 

Page 249



 8 

 
MANAGEMENT ACTIONS 

 
2.16 The Departmental Directors and the Executive Team continue to seek to 

identify actions to keep spend within the Budget allocated – these actions are 
detailed in Appendix 4. Besides the normal Management actions to address 
the financial pressures, the spending freeze was implemented by Cabinet on 
6 September 2012 and agreed decisions are reflected within the tables above.  

 
2.17 A number of items have been identified as recurring issues, such as the 

inability to meet income targets in a range of service areas. An exercise has 
been undertaken to review the accuracy of budgets, in order to: 

 
• Identify short-term funding for 2012/13, if there is a net increase in cost;  

and,  
• As part of compiling next year’s budget, propose growth or savings to 

ensure that the budget inaccuracies are corrected and budgets are 
soundly based.  

 
A parallel review of Earmarked Reserves has been undertaken together with 
a review of the requirements of the 2012/13 policy options. Cabinet 8 
November also agreed to remove the Efficiency Fund base budget and 
replace with a self replenishing fund initially funded from reserves. 

 
2.18 A series of actions are being undertaken to produce a further reduction in the 

overspend. Departments have a number of control measures in place with 
spend being authorised at senior levels, vacancy control measures and 
restrictions in the use of overtime and agency staff. 

 
 FREEZE PROCESS AND OUTCOMES 
 
2.19 The Freeze process was agreed on September 6 and developed further as 

reported in the month 5 monitor. Adjustments of £2,291,867 have been 
incorporated into the current monitoring forecast representing decisions made 
by Cabinet on 18 October and 8 November. No additional items have been 
rejected in the month. 

 
2.20 The purpose of the exercise is to reduce the projected overspend which, by 

Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003, is the duty of the Council, that 
is, all its Members. No items have been recommended under the freeze 
process this month. 

 
2.21 An analysis by department of the freeze items so far agreed is detailed in the 

following table:- 
 

Table 5:  Freeze savings analysed by department 
Description DASS CYP Finance LHRAM RHP Tech Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
To 28/02 85,038 171,871 492,900 54,158 961,586 526,314 2,291,867 
 

Page 250



 9 

 
3 RELEVANT RISKS 
 
3.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget will be mitigated by the 

monthly review by Chief Officers, charged with improving performance. There 
are a number of risks that may impact adversely on the forecast expenditure 
for the remaining months of the year including:- 
 
• Individual budgets may turn out to be unsound. A review of codes has 

been put in place with the aim of reducing the numbers of budget codes 
and improving management control. The revised coding structures will be 
reflected within the 2013/14 budgets; 

 
• Increased demand for services, particularly within Adult and Children’s 

Social Care Services, where greater than forecast numbers coming into 
care services can impact significantly on financial forecasts. Cabinet on 7 
February agreed  a proposed increase in nursing and residential care 
home fees at a cost up to £1,058,000 per annum;  

 
• The impact of the economic downturn significantly affects both the 

demand for services and also levels of income, such as fees and charges 
and arrears collection. This report already forecasts a potential under 
recovery of fees and charges which may need to be revised if the 
economic downturn was to worsen; 

 
• The Council’s arrangements for the implementation of a new pay and 

grade structure under Single Status are progressing and an earmarked 
reserve for the costs of implementation has been established. There 
remains uncertainty as to the likely final costs; 

 
• There are budget saving options still to be delivered and these are detailed 

in Appendix 5. Those yet to be delivered are reflected in the forecast 
overspends of the Departments; 

 
• There are a number of significant issues regarding outstanding debt owed 

to the Council which may result in increased costs if the costs are deemed 
to be irrecoverable. 

 
4 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 Options are included for Cabinet to consider on increasing the level of the 

General Fund balance. 
 
5 CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report. 

Page 251



 10 

 
6 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 
 
6.1 As yet there are no implications for voluntary, community or faith groups. 
 
7 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL, IT, STAFFING AND ASSETS 
 
7.1 The agreed minimum level of General Fund balance was set at £6m as part of 

the March 2012 budget decision. The November 29 Cabinet revised the policy 
level so that it is set in relation to the risks the Council faces. For 2012/13 it 
has been calculated at £12.5m, and for 2013/14 at £21.1m. Cabinet 18 
February 2013 agreed a revised 2013/14 General Fund balance risk 
calculation of £13 million. This reflected increased certainty regarding a 
number of funding sources and measures regarding implementation of budget 
savings. However there are a number of areas which could result in adverse 
future pressures on the budget and the General Fund Balance, in particular 
the issues regarding fees and charges income. 

 
Table 7: SUMMARY OF THE PROJECTED GENERAL FUND BALANCES 

Details £m £m 
Projected balance 31 March 2013 when setting the Budget 2012/13  +8.8 
Add :  Increase following completion of 2011/12 accounts 
Add :  Council Tax re-imbursement met in 2011/12 rather than budgeted 
          2012/13 

+2.0 
+3.9 

 
+5.9 

Sub total  +14.7 
Less : Cabinet decisions since the 2012/13 Budget was agreed 
Add :  Cabinet decision September 6 to release Earmarked Reserve 
          Cabinet decision November 29 to further release Earmarked 
          Reserves 

-0.7 
+7.0 

+10.5 

 
 

+16.8 

Less : Potential overspends, at M11 (includes Efficiency Fund removal)  -7.4 
Projected balance  31 March 2013  24.1 

 
7.2 The current levels of Earmarked Reserves are shown in Table 8 with a full 

listing included at Appendix 6. 
 

Table 8:  Earmarked Reserves 2012/13 

 
Balance at  
1 April 2012  

 Movement 
in year  

 Current Balance  
     28 Feb 2013  

 £000 £000       £000 
Housing Benefit Reserve 11,155  (2,000)   9,155  
Insurance Fund 9,635  (543)   9,092 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund 7,959  (7,073)   886  
Debt Restructuring Fund 7,941  -   7,941  
Grant Reserves 1,884  (296)   1,588  
Management of other risks 32,530  (9,550)   22,980  
School Balances and Schools Related 15,144  (280)  14,864  
Total Reserves 86,248  (19,742)  66,506  

 
Note: Cabinet on 6 September 2012 agreed to release £7m of an Earmarked 
Reserve (Working Neighbourhood Fund), and on 29 November 2012 agreed to 
release various additional reserves, totalling £12.505m. 

Page 252



 11 

 
7.3 The predicted year end overspend position means very careful consideration 

will need to be given to any proposed adjustments from departments which 
increase earmarked reserves and provisions. The reporting of the final 
accounts position normally includes details and reasons behind the 
continuation or creation of any earmarked reserves and provisions. Additional 
verification will be required as part of the 2012/13 closure of accounts process 
to ensure that the control of the revenue budget overspend continues to have 
the highest priority. The year end processes will also continue to include 
extensive sampling arrangements as agreed with the authority’s external 
auditors to ensure that expenditure and income is accounted for in the correct 
financial year in accordance with proper accounting practice. 

 
8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The entire report concerns the duty of the Council to avoid a budget shortfall 

as outlined at paragraph 2.20. This is not just an academic exercise in 
balancing the books. The Chief Finance Officer is under a personal duty 
under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 section 114A to make a report 
to the executive if it appears to him that the expenditure of the authority 
incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely 
to exceed the resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that 
expenditure. 

 
8.2 If the Chief Finance Officer reports that there are insufficient resources to 

meet expenditure, the Council is prevented from entering into any new 
agreement which may involve the incurring of expenditure at any time by the 
authority, until the report is considered, and if the problem is ongoing until it is 
resolved. It is remarkably broad in its prohibition of new agreements, no 
matter what their scale. It would not only prevent the authority from hiring new 
staff or letting new construction contracts, but from ordering minor office 
supplies. 

 
9 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment is attached to this report. Although this 

report is essentially a monitoring report which reports on financial 
performance, any budgetary decisions, including freeze recommendations, 
need to be assessed for any equality implications. 

 
10 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 
 
11 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report. 

Page 253



 12 

 
12 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
12.1 Cabinet is asked to note that: 
 

a) at Month 11 (February 2013),  the full year forecast projects a potential 
General Fund overspend of £7.4m; 

 
b) there were no rejected freeze items in the month; 
 
c) a major risk continues to exist concerning the reliability of fees & 

charges income going back many years. Corrective action is being 
taken to maximise recovery. A separate report regarding the 
background and recommendations relating to this issue is to be 
produced.  

 
13 REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
13.1 The Council, having set a Budget at the start of the financial year, needs to 

ensure that the delivery of this Budget is achieved. This has to be within the 
allocated and available resources to ensure the ongoing financial stability of 
the Council. Consequently there is a requirement to regularly monitor 
progress so that corrective action can be taken when required which is 
enhanced with the monthly reporting of the financial position. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Molyneux 
     Chief Accountant 
     Telephone (0151) 666 3389 
     Email  petemolyneux@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 Revenue Monitoring and Reporting Timetable 2012/13. 
Appendix 2 General Fund Revenue Budget for 2012/13 agreed by Council. 
Appendix 3 Changes to the Budget 2012/13 since it was set. 
Appendix 4 Management actions 
Appendix 5 Progress on delivering agreed savings 2012/13 
Appendix 6 Earmarked Reserves – General Fund 
Appendix 7 Freeze outcomes 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY 
 
Council Meeting  Date 
Revenue monitoring reports have previously been 
submitted as part of the Performance & Financial 
Review presented to Cabinet on a quarterly basis and 
from September 2012 are being submitted monthly. 

 

 

Page 254



APPENDIX 1 
 

REVENUE MONITORING AND REPORTING TIMETABLE 2012/13 
 

  Budget Monitoring Timetable 2012/13  
      
Period 
Number 

Reports 
Available For 
The Executive 

Team 

Reports 
Available For 
Cabinet 

Reports 
Available For 
Council 

Excellence 
Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Month General 
Ledger 

Updated and 
Reports 

Available To 
Be Produced 

Monthly Monthly Quarterly 
1 April 06-May   - - 
2 May 11-Jun   - 04-Jul 
3 June 06-Jul 23-Aug 06-Sep 01-Oct 
4 July 07-Aug 04-Oct 18-Oct - 
5 August 07-Sep 04-Oct 18-Oct - 
6 September 05-Oct 25-Oct 08-Nov 27-Nov 
7 October 07-Nov 29-Nov 20-Dec - 
8 November 07-Dec 10-Jan 24-Jan - 
9 December 08-Dec 24-Jan 18-Feb (rev) 26-Mar 

10 January 07-Feb 28-Feb 14-Mar - 
11 February 07-Mar 28-Mar (Virtual) 5-April - 
12  Outturn 

(Provisional) 
08-Apr 30-May 13-Jun 3-Jul 

 

P
age 255



APPENDIX 2 
 
GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2012/13 
 
AGREED BY COUNCIL ON 1 MARCH 2012 
 
Department Current Budget 
Expenditure £000 
Adult Social Services 66,660 
Children & YP (plus Schools) 73,665 
Finance 24,610 
Law, HR and Asset Mgt 14,151 
Regeneration, Housing and Planning 25,764 
Technical Services 59,905 
Merseytravel 29,060 
Local Pay Review + Low Pay 248 
EVR/VS Scheme (290) 
Council Tax Reimbursement 3,990 
Contribution from Balances (10,282) 
Budget Requirement 287,481 
  
Income  
Government Grant 144,737 
C/Tax Freeze Grant 6,573 
Local Services Grant 1,805 
Council Tax 132,911 
Collection Fund 1,455 
Total Income 287,481 
  
Statement of Balances  
As at 1 April 18,405 
Contributions from Balances (9,605) 
Balances 8,800 

Page 256



APPENDIX 3 
 
CHANGES TO THE BUDGET AGREED SINCE THE 2012/13 BUDGET WAS SET 
 
RELATING TO THE COMPLETION OF THE 2011/12 ACCOUNTS 
 

Cabinet Items £m 
21 Jun 2011/12 Financial Outturn report resulted in an improvement 

in balances due to a net underspend in the year 
-5.9 

 OVERALL IMPACT OF THESE DECISIONS -5.9 
 
VARIATIONS TO THE APPROVED BUDGETS 2012/13 
 

Cabinet Items £m 
29 Mar Pacific Road Theatre – Law/Technical Services Increase 

budget  
 

+0.6 
12 Apr Streetscene Contract Review - Increase budget +0.1 
 OVERALL IMPACT OF THESE DECISIONS 0.7 

 
 
VIREMENTS BELOW LEVEL REQUIRING CABINET APPROVAL 
 

Cabinet Items £m 
The following adjustments have no bottom line impact on the authority budget: 
n/a Adjustment of Community Asset Transfer capital financing 

budget from LawHRAM to Finance 
 

0.077 
n/a Employee budget transferred from LawHRAM to HRP  0.034 
n/a Employee budget transferred from Technical Services to 

LawHRAM  
 

0.035 
n/a Technical Services reallocation of Internal Savings Targets 

within budget lines 
 

1.400 
n/a Reallocation of Home Insulation Works within Regeneration, 

Housing and Planning between Supplies and Services 
category and Third Party payments  

 
 

1.100 
n/a Movement of posts between departments relating to 

Building Control, Welfare Rights and Community Services 
personnel. 
The housing benefit review increase claims (transfer 
payments) and associated grant of £7.3 million, the 
reclassification of DASS transport recharge from transport to 
support services and adjustments for financing costs and 
grant receivable relating to regeneration schemes. 

 

n/a Budget realignment within departmental budgets. Net 
increase of £870,000 expenditure funded from net increase 
of £870,000 Income. Net nil. 

0.870 
 

 

Page 257



APPENDIX 4 
 
MANAGEMENT ACTIONS 
 
ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE EXECUTIVE TEAM / DEPARTMENTAL DIRECTORS 
TO REDUCE SPEND / INCREASE INCOME 
 

Department Items £000 
   
Children Connexions – Further reductions in the contract costs (in 

excess of the agreed savings target) 
500 

 Troubled Families –Successful submission for 
Government Grant which will help meet some of the 
existing costs. 

250 

 Academies – Increased income being achieved through a 
review of charges to academies for services provided. 

100 

 Academies – additional  monies received from refund of 
‘top slice from Department for Education 

150 

All Reviews of on going expenditure across all departments Tbc 
All Review of budgets to improve monitoring through 

realignment 
Tbc 

DASS Review of all voluntary sector contracts Tbc 
DASS Overarching commissioning strategy developed Tbc 
All Spending freeze (including Policy Option Review) 2,292 
All Abolition of Efficiency Fund 2,200 
DASS Restrictions to overtime rates Tbc 
DASS Review of use of agency staff on case by case basis Tbc 
 Independent review tea to ensure packages are 

proportionate to need 
TBC 

 Total savings from these actions 5,492 
 

Page 258



  17 

APPENDIX 5 
 
PROGRESS ON DELIVERING THE AGREED SAVINGS 2012/13 £000’s 
 

Department 16,457  Comments / progress on 
implementation 

RA
GB
Y 

4,799 260 11,398 

 100%   29.2 1.6 69.3 

 DASS    R A G 

Commissioning Of 
Services 

1,600 This saving will not be delivered in 
2012-13. 

R 1,600   

Prevention Services 500 This saving will be delivered in 
2013-14 on the assumption that the 
proposed underfunded budget 
adjustment of £0.638m is made 

R 500   

Employee Budgets 2% 400 This saving will not be delivered. R 400   

Procurement 26 This saving will not be delivered in 
2012-13. 

R 26   

Austerity – Supplies 24 This saving will not be delivered in 
2012-13. 

R 24   

EVR Scheme 17 This saving will not be delivered in 
2012-13. 

R 17   

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE    

Early Intervention Grant 1,000 Has been achieved G   1000 
Employee Budgets 2% 750 Progress remains difficult, with 

pressures on Social work. 
R 750   

EVR Scheme 386 Staff who left were from self funded 
areas, so no budget saving possible. 

R 386   

Connexions contract 250 Achieved, with a further £700k 
contract saving. 

Y   250 

Schools Intervention 
Funding 

250 Achieved G   250 

Procurement 246 Allocated across Social Care R 246   
Austerity – Supplies 16 Will be achieved within expenditure 

controls 
G   16 

 
FINANCE       

Efficiency Investment 
Budget 

2,500 The Efficiency Investment Budget 
has been reduced 

G   2,500 

Housing Benefit 1,200 This has been built into HB budgets G   1,200 
IT and Printing Services 550 This is part of the departments 

strategic savings target 
G   550 

Employees Budget 2% 520 This is part of the departments 
strategic savings target 

G   520 

EVR Scheme 343 This is part of the departments 
strategic savings target 

G   343 

Procurement 189 This is part of the departments 
strategic savings target 

G   189 

Austerity – Supplies 8 This saving has been built into 
departmental budgets 

G   8 

LAW,HR,ASSET MGT       

Facilities Management 500 £250k achieved through the 
reduction in Maintenance budgets, 
balance will not be achieved in year.  

R 250  250 
 

Page 259



  18 

Business Transformation 300 Target will not be achieved 2012/13 R 300   

Employee Terms & 
Conditions 

300 Target will not be achieved 2012/13 R 300   

Employee Budgets 2% 260 Currently on target to be achieved in 
year. 

A  260  

Office Rationalisation 260 Achieved  G   260 
Disposal of Assets 100 Achieved. G   100 
Procurement 33 Budgets reduced to reflect these 

savings. 
G   33 

Austerity – Supplies 6 Budgets reduced to reflect these 
savings. 

G   6 

REG,HSG & PLANNING    

Broadband Facility 1,075 Achieved G   1,075 
Home Insulation 
Programme 

1,000 Achieved G   1,000 

Employee Budgets 2% 160 On target to achieve G   160 
Supporting People 
Contracts 

150 Achieved G   150 

Merseyside Info Service 50 Achieved G   50 
EVR Scheme 13 Achieved G   13 
Austerity – Supplies 8 Achieved G   8 
TECHNICAL SERVICES    

Procurement 745 Currently anticipated to be achieved. 
Biffa contract part of this 

G   745 

Employee Budgets 2% 380 Currently anticipated to be achieved. G   380 

EVR Scheme 150 Currently anticipated to be achieved. G   150 

Street Lighting 100 Currently anticipated to be achieved. G   100 

Highways Administration 80 Currently anticipated to be achieved. G   80 

Austerity – Supplies 12 Currently anticipated to be achieved. G   12 

 

Page 260



  19 

APPENDIX 6 
 
EARMARKED RESERVES - GENERAL FUND 
 
Earmarked Reserves Balance Movement Current 
  1 April In Year Balance 
  2012  28 Feb 13 
       £000        £000 
 
Schools Balances 11,767 - 11,767 
Housing Benefit 11,155 (2,000) 9,155 
Insurance Fund 9,635 (543) 9,092 
Working Neighbourhood Fund 7,959 (7,073) 886 
Debt Restructuring 7,941 - 7,941 
Minimum Revenue Provision 4,400 (4,400) - 
Community Fund Asset Transfer 3,301 - 3,301 
Intranet Development 3,161 - 3,161 
Local Pay review 2,641 - 2,641 
One Stop Shop/Libraries IT Networks 2,119 - 2,119 
Supporting People Programme 1,505 (400) 1,105 
Cosyhomes Insulation 1,244 (800) 444 
School Harmonisation 1,241 - 1,241 
Stay, Work, Learn Wise 908 - 908 
Schools Capital Schemes 777 - 777 
Matching Fund 558 (558) - 
20 MPH Zones 550 (500) 50 
Home Adaptations 537 - 537 
West Wirral Schemes 530 (300) 230 
Merseyside Information Service 500 (500) - 
ERDF Match Funding 500 - 500 
Strategic Asset Review 495 - 495 
Planned Preventative Maintenance 483 - 483 
Heritage Fund 420 (300) 120 
Schools Automatic Meter Readers 415 - 415 
Children's Workforce Development Council 399 - 399 
Schools Contingency 370 - 370 
Business Improvement Grant 342 - 342 
Local Area Agreement Reward 322 4 326 
Primary Care Trust Physical Activities 300 - 300 
Schools Service IT 294 - 294 
Schools Summer Term 280 (280) - 
Homeless Prevention 271 - 271 
Other Reserves   8,928 _(2,092)   6,836 
  86,248 (19,742) 66,506 
 
Note : Cabinet on 6 September 2012 agreed to release £7m of an Earmarked 
Reserve (Working Neighbourhood Fund), and on 29 November 2012 agreed to 
release various additional reserves, totalling £12.505m. 
 

Page 261



 20 

Appendix 7 

FREEZE OUTCOMES 

 

     

  

No freeze items submitted for 

consideration were rejected during the 

period      

        

 

P
age 262



 21 

 

 

                                                           
 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit (from 
May 2012) 
 

Section 1: Your details: Peter Molyneux 

 

EIA lead Officer: Peter Molyneux 

Email address: petemolyneux@wirral.gov.uk 

Head of Section: Tom Sault 

Chief Officer: Peter Timmins 

Department: Finance  

Date: 19 March 2013 

 

 

Section 2: What Council proposal is being assessed?  
Revenue Monitoring (including freeze proposals) 
 
 

Section 2b: Will this EIA be submitted to a Cabinet or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee?  

 

Yes   If ‘yes’ please state which meeting and what date  

 Cabinet 18 October 2012  

 Please add hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be published on the 

Council’s website http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-

living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010/finance 

Page 263



 22 

 

Section 3: Does the proposal have the potential to affect…… (please tick 

relevant boxes) 

 

ü Services 

ü The workforce 

ü Communities 

ü Other (please state eg: Partners, Private Sector, Voluntary & Community Sector) 

 

If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 4. 

¨ None (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to 

 email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 

 

 

Section 4: Does the proposal have the potential to maintain or enhance the 

            way the Council …….. (please tick relevant boxes)                               

                   

¨ Eliminates unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

¨ Advances equality of opportunity 

ü Fosters good relations between groups of people 

If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 5. 

 

¨ No (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 

 

Page 264



 

 

 

Section 5: Could the proposal have a positive or negative impact on any of the protected groups (race, gender, disability, 
gender reassignment, age, pregnancy and maternity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, marriage and civil 
partnership)? 

 
 You may also want to consider socio-economic status of individuals. 

                     Please list in the table below and include actions required to mitigate any potential negative impact. 
 
 

Which 
group(s) of 
people could 
be affected 

 
Potential positive or negative impact 

 
 
 

 
Action required to 

mitigate any potential 
negative impact 

 
 

 
Lead person 

 
Timescale 

 
Resource 
implications 

All groups 
 
 
 

Budgetary overspends will result in 
requirement to reduce expenditure in year 
with consequences on communities and staff. 
Rational decision making to tackle issues will 
enhance good relations and minimise 
negative impacts 
 

Budgetary control including 
regular monitoring, freeze 
procedures and budgetary 
reviews will assist in limiting 
impact  

Peter 
Timmins 

On Going Budgetary 
overspends 
would require 
funding from 
resources 

 
All groups 
 
 

Reduction in expenditure from freeze 
proposals could impact on services delivered 
to communities 
 

Freeze process includes 
exemptions for critical 
service areas. Process 
allows for business case to 
be submitted to exempt 
expenditure from freeze 

Peter 
Timmins 

On Going Freeze 
proposals will 
assist enabling 
control of 
expenditure 

P
age 265



 

Section 5a: Where and how will the above actions be monitored? 

Monthly monitoring report to Cabinet. This will include recommendations for approval of spending freeze decisions 

 

 

Section 5b: If you think there is no negative impact, what is your reasoning behind this? 

 

 

Section 6:  What research / data / information have you used in support of this process? 

 

Budgetary forecast information 

 

 

Section 7: Are you intending to carry out any consultation with regard to this Council proposal? 

 

Yes / No – (please delete as appropriate) No 

 

If ‘yes’ please continue to section 8.  

 

If ‘no’ please state your reason(s) why: Urgent decisions required to tackle budgetary position. Freeze proposals undergo review 

process and involve officers and members 

(please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 

 

P
age 266



 

 

Section 8: How will consultation take place and by when?  

                       
Before you complete your consultation, please email your preliminary EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer in order for the 
Council to ensure it is meeting it’s legal requirements. The EIA will be published with a note saying we are awaiting outcomes from a 
consultation exercise. 

 
Once you have completed your consultation, please review your actions in section 5.  Then   email this form to your Chief Officer who 
needs to email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for re-publishing. 

  

 
Section 9:  Have you remembered to: 

 
a) Add appropriate departmental hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be published (section 2b) 
b) Include any potential positive impacts as well as negative impacts? (section 5) 
c) Send this EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer? 
d) Review section 5 once consultation has taken place and sent your completed EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief 

Officer for re-publishing? 

 

 

P
age 267



Page 268

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
18 APRIL 2013 
 
SUBJECT CAPITAL MONITORING 2012/13 

MONTH 11 (FEBRUARY 2013) 
WARD/S AFFECTED ALL 
REPORT OF INTERIM DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES 

KEY DECISION YES 
 
1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report informs Members of the current position regarding the Council’s 

2012/13 to 2014/15 Capital Programme and reflects the position at 28 February. 
It now takes account of the 2013/16 programme as approved by Cabinet on 18 
February 2013 together with any subsequent growth or slippage items.  The 
report therefore reflects: 

 
§ The re-profiled 2012/13 capital programme budget which incorporates 

previous decisions made by Cabinet to amend the programme. 
§ The expenditure to date, which continues to be less than it should be. 
§ Request for a revision to the capital programme to reflect additional 

slippage of £3.152 million of schemes into the 2013/14 financial year. 
§ A reduction in the estimated funding required for the Think Big Investment 

Fund of £0.121 million. 
§ The projected outturn figures for 2012/13, which suggest an underspend 

of £0.690 million on the revised programme. 
 
2. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 
2.1 Cabinet on 6 September 2012, when considering the Month 3 monitors instituted 

a spending freeze, in the light of significant forecast revenue overspend and 
acknowledgement that unsupported capital financing contributes to revenue 
costs.  Up to the report on 14 March 2013 Cabinet had considered the outcome 
of the first twenty two weeks of the freeze. 

 
2.2 Cabinet on 29 November 2012 approved the report into the review of the capital 

programme which reduced the overall three year programme by £30.7 million. 
 
2.3 Cabinet on 18 February approved the 2013/16 capital programme including 

£37.464 million for 2013/14 and £12.195 million for 2014/15. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 269



 2 

 
2.4 The Council’s capital programme is subject to a fortnightly review by a senior 

group of officers who form the Capital Steering Group, each project will be 
scrutinised as follows: 
• Project approvals for financing, delivering corporate outcomes and delivery 

timetable; 
• Financial appraisals for funding and ongoing revenue costs, 
• Spend profiles against delivery timetable, 
• End of project reviews; 
• Delivery of Asset Management Plans and overall strategy. 

 
2.5 ORIGINAL AND PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 2012/13 
 
2.5.1 The capital budget for 2012/13 is subject to change. The Period 10 monitor 

detailed slippage of £34 million carried forward from 2011/12 plus an additional 
overall in year reduction of £35.4 million reflecting changes to slippage and 
revised programme approvals. Table 1 summarises the overall movement 
between that already approved and changes to Period 11 that require approval. 

 
Table 1: Revised Capital Programme 2012/13 Period 11 (February) £000’s 

 

Capital 
Strategy 

 

Changes 
approved by 

Cabinet  

Changes to be 
approved 
by Cabinet 

Revised 
2012/13 Capital 

Programme 

Adult Social Care 2,750 -2,650 0 100 
Children's & Young People 21,481 -3,533 -1,781 16,167 
Finance 0 597 -457 140 
Law, HR & Asst Mgt 4,000 -187 80 3,893 
Reg, Housing & Planning 6,079 1,898 -453 7,524 
Technical Services 7,668 2,436 -683 9,421 
Total Expenditure 41,978 -1,439 -3,294 37,245 

 
2.5.2 a summary of the significant changes to be approved by Cabinet for Period 11 is 

provided below: 
 
 Request for slippage to the 2012/13 Programme 
 

The major items refer to: 
 
 Children and Young People 

• An additional £1.000 million for Condition/Modernisation schemes. The 
receipt of one year allocations has resulted in slippage since there is a need 
for consultation, design, scoping and procurement before commencement. 

• Replacement vehicles within ITU will now be acquired in 2013/14 - £0.158 
million. 

• Remaining balance of targeted funding to upgrade school kitchens - £0.125 
million. 

• The final retention costs in respect of Birkenhead Girls Academy, which is 
now completed - £0.117 million. 

• Unallocated Family Support schemes - £0.115 million. 

Page 270



 3 

 
 Regeneration, Housing and Planning 

• Clearance programme where there are delays between site acquisition and 
assembly - £0.543 million. 

• Significant progress has been made in implementing the Disabled Facilities 
adaptations programme whereby slippage can now be reduced by £0.500 
million. 

• Applications for grant assistance continue to be made in the current year but 
payments will not be made until 2013/14. As a result there has been 
additional slippage for Home Improvements of £0.250 million. 

• An assessment of the Think Big Investment Fund indicates that not all 
funding will be required and consequently slippage can be reduced by 
£0.075 million. 

 
 Technical Services 

• Expenditure on the bridge maintenance programme will now be less than 
anticipated resulting in slippage of £0.600 million. 

• Coast protection schemes are being developed however the likely 
implementation date is now 2013/14 – £0.200 million. 

 
 Finance 

• The IT Investment is linked to the review of office accommodation and 
following a further review of IT requirements has been re-profiled to 2014/15 
- £0.457 million. 

 
Request to increase the 2012/13 programme 

 
Law, HR and Asset Management 
• The scheme to improve Liscard Hall has commenced as is being funded by 

an insurance contribution of £0.080 million received as a result of fire 
damage in previous years.  

 
 Regeneration, Housing and Planning 

• The impact of the reduced slippage regarding the Disabled Facilities 
adaptations programme, which is referred to above, is additional expenditure 
in 2012/13 of £0.500 million. 

 
Technical Services 
• Additional grants totalling £0.117 million have been received which are for 

specific projects covering three parks and play areas or a number of parks 
and play areas. 

 
2.6 ACTUAL SPEND TO DATE – IS THE PROGRAMME BEING DELIVERED TO 

PLAN? 
 
2.6.1 The actual capital expenditure at Period 11 is £27.9 million, which represents 

75% of the revised capital programme budget, with 92% of the financial year 
having elapsed. 

Page 271



 4 

 
 Table 2: Spend to date April to February (11/12 = 92%)  
 

 Spend to date Comments on variation 
 £000's %  
Adult Social Care 55 55.0 Not significant 
Children's & Young People 13,141 81.3 Acceptable 
Finance 30 21.4 Not significant 
Law, HR & Asset Management 3,162 81.2 Acceptable 
Regeneration, Housing & Planning 6,657 88.5 Acceptable 
Technical Services 4,894 51.9 Affected by weather – may slip 
Total Expenditure 27,939 75.0  

 
2.6.2 The Period 11 figures include an additional £2.631 million of expenditure 

incurred during the month. The level of expenditure however continues to be less 
than anticipated with only 75.0% of the programme expended after 11 months.  
An element of this can be explained by the time lag between work being 
completed and invoices then being raised by contractors and then paid by the 
authority. The reduction in the programme agreed by Cabinet of 29 November 
2012 has reduced the gap between the profiled percentage and actual 
percentage spend figure.  

 
Chart 1: Capital Programme spend below line of best fit 

Capital Programme 2012-13

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

M1 M2 M3 M4 M5 M6 M7 M8 M9 M10 M11 M12

Months

£m

Revised Programme

Projected Spend

Actual Spend

 
 

2.6.3 The likely outturn would be in the region of £36.6 million, not the £37.2 million 
planned.  Table 3 sets out the variations derived from returns submitted from 
Departments. 

Page 272



 5 

 
 Table 3: Projected Outturn compared to Revised Budget £000’s 
 

 Revised  Projected Variation 
 Budget Outturn  
Adult Social Care 100 100 0 
Children's & Young People 16,167 16,167 0 
Finance 140 140 0 
Law, HR & Asset Management 3,893 4,036 143 
Regeneration, Housing & Planning 7,524 7,524 0 
Technical Services 9,421 8,588 -833 
Total Expenditure 37,245 36,555 -690 

 
2.7 FINANCING OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
2.7.1 Table 4 summarises the financing sources and changes made to Period 11. The 

major changes since the capital programme was approved in March 2012 are 
slippages of funding following closure of the 2011/12 programme, changes in 
grant funding as reported in previous Cabinet reports, re-profiling of financing to 
2012/13 and the decision of Cabinet on 29 November 2012 to reduce or cease 
£30.755 million of schemes from the programme. The period 11 amendments 
reflect requested slippage from 2012/13 to 2013/14 and increases in the 
programme referred to in paragraph 2.5.2 above. 
 
Table 4: Revised Capital Programme Financing 2012/13 £000’s 
 
Capital Capital Changes Budget changes Revised 
Programme Strategy approved to be approved  2012/13 
Financing  by Cabinet by Cabinet Programme 
Unsupported Borrowing 9,035 -16 -1,689 7,330 

Grant – Education 20,181 -4,242 -1,380 14,559 
Grant – Integrated Transport 1,155 5 0 1,160 
Grant – Local Transport Plan 2,958 0 0 2,958 
Grant – Local Sustainable 
Transport Fund 

 
0 

 
676 

 
0 

 
676 

Grants – Other 5,349 380 184 5,913 
Capital Receipts brought 
forward 

3,000 0 0 3,000 

Reserve Contributions 300 1,758 -409 1,649 

Total Financing 41,978 -1,439 -3,294 37,245 
 
2.7.2 Where there is a “cocktail” of funding to a scheme, the Council maximises the 

use of grant and other external resources before using its own receipts and 
borrowing. Capital receipts are used to minimise the impact on the revenue 
budget by being applied to schemes which would require a relatively significant 
minimum revenue provision to be made.  The final allocation between 
unsupported borrowing an capital receipts will be determined at year end, 
therefore the figures in the above table maybe subject to change. 

Page 273



 6 

 
2.8 PROJECTED LONGER TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
2.8.1 Funding for the forecast 2012/13 to 2014/15 capital programme is shown in 

Table 5. This now reflects the relevant extract from the 2013/16 capital 
programme approved by this Committee on 18 February 2013.  It also reflects 
decisions previously taken by this Committee regarding further slippage and 
approval of additional grant resources.  Both the 2012/13 and 2013/14 financing 
forecasts have also been updated to reflect the variations requested for approval 
in Table 1 and paragraph 2.5.2. The financing for 2013/14 has been increased 
by £6.22 million primarily to reflect the impact of slippage from 2012/13, which is 
subject to this Cabinet’s approval. 

 
Table 5: Capital Programme Financing 2012/13 to 2014/15 £000’s 
 
 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15  
Capital Programme Financing Revised 

Estimate 
Revised 
Estimate 

Revised 
Estimate 

Total 
Programme 

Unsupported Borrowing 7,330 15,773 5,238 28,341 
Grant – Education 14,559 12,219 1,607 28,385  
Grant – Integrated Transport 1,160 1,155 1,155 3,470 
Grant – Transport Local 2,958 3,386 2,978 9,322 
Grant – Local Sustainable 
Transport Fund 

 
676 

 
676 

 
676 

 
2,028 

Grants – Other 5,913 13,698 700 20,311 
Capital Receipts brought forward 3,000 1,053 120 4,173 
Reserve Contributions 1,649 1,841 0 3,490 
Total Financing 37,245 49,801 12,474 99,520 

 
2.8.2 The Capital Strategy needs to be made more affordable by delivering the 

planned capital receipts. The above table has been adjusted since the capital 
programme was approved in order to maximise available capital receipts which 
could then be used to fund any future capitalisation. 

 
2.8.3 The use of capital receipts have been revised from previous assumptions as 

there will be an application to the Government for the capitalisation of 
redundancy costs in early 2013/14. If this is approved then this capitalisation will 
be funded by capital receipts.  Table 5 (and Table 7) have been revised to show 
that this could be accommodated. 

 
2.9 SUPPORTED AND UNSUPPORTED BORROWING AND THE REVENUE 

CONSEQUENCES OF UNSUPPORTED BORROWING 
 
2.9.1 The cost of £1 million of Prudential Borrowing would result in additional revenue 

financing costs of £100,000 per annum.  As part of the Capital Strategy 2012/13 
to 2014/15 the Council has included an element of prudential borrowing. At 
Period 11 there is a sum of £23.6 million of new unsupported borrowing included 
over the next three years, which will result in approximately £2.4 million of 
additional revenue costs detailed at Table 6, if there is no change in strategy. 

Page 274



 7 

 
Table 6: Revised Unsupported Borrowing Forecasts & Revenue costs 
£000’s 
 
 2012-13 2013/14 2014/15 2015-16 Total 
 Estimate 

New Unsupported borrowing 7,330 15,773 5,238 - 28,341 
Cumulative Annual Revenue 
repayment costs  

 733 1,577 524 2,834 

 
2.9.2 Given the predicted revenue overspend previously reported, it is important to 

reduce the revenue costs of capital. A pause of two months in the start to new 
unsupported capital schemes was agreed by Cabinet on 6 September 2012. The 
reductions and cessation of schemes approved by Cabinet on 29 November 
2012 have reduced future financing costs by £2.6 million and this has been 
reflected within the above tables. 

 
2.10 CAPITAL RECEIPTS POSITION 
 
2.10.1 The capital programme is reliant on the Council generating a limited amount of 

capital receipts to finance the future capital programme schemes. The Capital 
Receipts Reserve at 1 April 2012 contained £9.2 million of receipts. The current 
capital programme assumes that £3 million a year will be drawn from this reserve 
over a two year period with a further £2.8 million required in 2014/15. Table 8 
below, summarises the current allocated and projected capital receipts position 
across 2012/13 to 2014/15. This shows a reduction from £2 million to £1 million 
following a review of possible sites that could be sold. 

 
Table 7: Projected capital receipts position – funding requirement £000’s 
 
 2012/13  2013/14  2014/15  
Capital Receipts Reserve 9,237 7,286 7,733 
Receipts Assumption 1,049 1,500 7,450 
Funding assumption (3,000) (1,053) (120) 
Closing Balance 7,286  7,733  15,063  

 
2.10.2  Any projected receipts will be reviewed in future periods, along with other 

strategic site availability, to maximise the offset of unsupported borrowing and so 
reduce future revenue growth. There are also options for using a greater 
proportion of the reserve to generate savings in borrowing. Any decision however 
also needs to take account of savings that can be achieved from using capital 
receipts against schemes which would otherwise incur a high minimum revenue 
provision charge. 

 
2.10.4 There is a high level of risk in these projections as they are subject to changes in 

legislation, property and land values, the actions of potential buyers and being 
granted planning permission on sites. 

Page 275



 8 

 
2.11 FREEZE PROCESS AND OUTCOMES 
 
2.11.1 The freeze process was agreed on 6 September 2012 and developed further as 

reported in the Month 5 monitor.  As at the end of February £0.9 million has been 
slipped into 2013/14. 

 
2.11.2 The whole point of the exercise is to reduce the projected overspend, which by 

Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003, is the duty of the Council, that is, 
all its Members.  No items have been frozen during the period. 

 
3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
 
3.1 The possible failure to deliver the Capital Programme will be mitigated by the 

monthly review by a senior group of officers, charged with improving 
performance. They will also be able to improve the affordability of the 
programme. 

 
4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5.0 CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 
 
6.1 As yet, there are no implications for voluntary, community or faith groups. 
 
7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The whole report is about significant resource implications. 
 
8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no legal implications. 
 
9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 An Equality impact assessment is attached to this report. 
 
10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 None. 
 
11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None. 

Page 276



 9 

 
12.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
12.1 That Cabinet is asked to: 

a) Agree the revised Capital Programme of £40.539 million. 
b) Agree additional slippage in the programme of £3.152 million from 

2012/13 to 2013/14. 
c) Agree the increase in the programme for 2012/13 of £0.697 million 
d) Note the reduction in funding of £0.121 million required for Think Big 

Investment Fund. 
e) Note the spend to date at Month 11 of £27.939 million, which represents 

75% of the revised capital budget, with 92% of the financial year having 
elapsed. 

f) Note the work of the Capital Steering Group to detail the schedule of sites 
to validate the estimate of capital receipts. 

 
13.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
13.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of the capital programme will enable 

decisions to be taken faster which may produce revenue benefits and will 
improve financial control of the programme. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Reg Huyton 
  Group Accountant 
  Telephone:  0151 666 3403 
  Email:   reghuyton@wirral.gov.uk 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY 
 
Council Meeting Date 
Capital monitoring reports have previously been 
submitted as part of the Performance & Financial 
Review presented to Cabinet on a quarterly basis and 
from September 2012 are being submitted monthly. 

 

Page 277



 10 

 
 

                                                           
 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 
(from May 2012) 
 
 

Section 1: Your details: Reg Huyton 
 
EIA lead Officer: Reg Huyton 
 
Email address: reghuyton@wirral.gov.uk 
 
Head of Section: Tom Sault 
 
Chief Officer: Peter Timmins 
 
Department: Finance  
 
Date: 26 March 2013 
 

 

 

Section 2: What Council proposal is being assessed?  
 
Capital Monitoring (including any freeze proposals) 
 
 

 

Section 2b: Will this EIA be submitted to a Cabinet or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee?  

 
Yes   If ‘yes’ please state which meeting and what date  
 Cabinet 18 April 2013 
 
 Please add hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be published on the 

Council’s website http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-
living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-
2010/finance 

 

Page 278



 11 

 

 
Section 3: Does the proposal have the potential to affect…… (please tick relevant 

boxes) 
 
ü Services 
 
ü The workforce 
 
ü Communities 
 
ü Other (please state eg: Partners, Private Sector, Voluntary & Community Sector) 
 
If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 4. 
 
¨ None (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to  email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 

Section 4: Does the proposal have the potential to maintain or enhance the 
   way the Council …….. (please tick relevant boxes)     
  
¨ Eliminates unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 
¨ Advances equality of opportunity 
 
ü Fosters good relations between groups of people 
If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 5. 
 
¨ No (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to  email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 

Page 279



 12 

 
 

Section 5: Could the proposal have a positive or negative impact on any of the protected groups (race, gender, disability, 
gender reassignment, age, pregnancy and maternity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, marriage and civil 
partnership)? 

 
 You may also want to consider socio-economic status of individuals. 
                     Please list in the table below and include actions required to mitigate any potential negative impact. 
 

 
Which 
group(s) of 
people could 
be affected 

 
Potential positive or negative impact 

 
 
 

 
Action required to 
mitigate any potential 
negative impact 

 
 

 
Lead person 

 
Timescale 

 
Resource 
implications 

All groups 
 
 
 

Budgetary overspends will result in 
requirement to reduce expenditure in year 
with consequences on communities and 
staff. Rational decision making to tackle 
issues will enhance good relations and 
minimise negative impacts 
 

Budgetary control including 
regular monitoring, freeze 
procedures and budgetary 
reviews will assist in limiting 
impact  

Peter 
Timmins 

On Going Budgetary 
overspends 
would require 
funding from 
resources 

 
All groups 
 
 

Reduction in expenditure from freeze 
proposals could impact on services delivered 
to communities 
 

Freeze process includes 
exemptions for critical 
service areas. Process 
allows for business case to 
be submitted to exempt 
expenditure from freeze 

Peter 
Timmins 

On Going Freeze 
proposals will 
assist 
enabling 
control of 
expenditure 

P
age 280



 13 

 

 

Section 5a: Where and how will the above actions be monitored? 
 
Monthly monitoring report to Cabinet. This will include recommendations for approval of spending 
freeze decisions 
 
 

 

Section 5b: If you think there is no negative impact, what is your reasoning behind 
this? 

 
 

 

Section 6:  What research / data / information have you used in support of this  
                         process? 
 
Budgetary forecast information 
 
 
 

Section 7: Are you intending to carry out any consultation with regard to this 
Council proposal? 

 
Yes / No – (please delete as appropriate) No 
 
If ‘yes’ please continue to section 8.  
 
If ‘no’ please state your reason(s) why: Urgent decisions required to tackle budgetary position. 

Freeze proposals undergo review process and involve officers and members 
 
(please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 

Section 8: How will consultation take place and by when?  
 
Before you complete your consultation, please email your preliminary EIA to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer in order for the Council to ensure it is 
meeting it’s legal requirements. The EIA will be published with a note saying we are 
awaiting outcomes from a consultation exercise. 

 
Once you have completed your consultation, please review your actions in section 5.  Then   

email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk 
for re-publishing. 

  

Page 281



 14 

 
 

Section 9:  Have you remembered to: 
 
a) Add appropriate departmental hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be  published 

(section 2b) 
b) Include any potential positive impacts as well as negative impacts? (section 5) 
c) Send this EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer? 
d) Review section 5 once consultation has taken place and sent your completed EIA to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer for re-publishing? 
 
 

Page 282



 1 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
18 APRIL 2013 
 
SUBJECT PLANNING THE BUDGET PROCESS FOR 

THE NEXT BUDGET ROUND, 2014-17 
 

WARD/S AFFECTED ALL 
 

REPORT OF INTERIM DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES 

KEY DECISION YES 
 

 
 
 
1 Purpose 
1.1 To propose a budget process,  during 2013-14,  to deliver a revenue and capital 

budget for 2014-15,  for agreement by Council in early March 2014. 
 
1.2 To also deliver forecast budgets for the following two years 2015-17, and refresh 

the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS),  taking into account the 
Chancellor’s Budget of March 20th 2013. 

 
   
2 Recommendations 
 Cabinet agree: 
 
2.1 The strategy of taking decisions earlier than in the last budget round, so that 

timely implementation will reduce risk and increase savings and therefore reduce 
the level of spending reductions needed. 

 
2.2 That decisions will be taken in two phases,  the first prior to Christmas and the 

second in January;    
 
2.3 That from April to mid-August, based upon the current Corporate Plan, the 

Corporate priorities, major projects and options for improvement are identified, 
primarily in the light of the new significant changes planned by the Government 
(and rehearsed at 4.1 and 4.2). 

 
2.4 A revised Corporate Plan be discussed and agreed at a Policy Council in 

November to provide the basis for the 2013/14 budget. 
 
 
3 Timetable 
3.1 The timetable at Annex 1 sets out,  in broad terms,  the proposed blocks of 

Agenda Item 6

Page 283



 2 

activity to deliver the 2014-15 budget.  Briefly,  the blocks are: 
 

• Preparation (April to mid-August) – ensuring we have captured the task we 
have to accomplish – the services will have to envisage the effect of three 
types of change,  legislative,  demographic,  and economic – a change 
example is set out at Annex 2.  We then have to identify the lines of enquiry to 
give us the best solutions that will meet those tasks;     

 
• Budget Calculations (mid-August to mid-October) – the next stage is convert 
that picture into figures,  to produce a range of options that exceed the 
eventual solution,  so giving Members options and choices.  They will be 
stratified into ease of implementation,  in all senses,  to produce a range of 
options from which to chose the best outcome; 

 
• Consultation 1 (mid-September to end-November) – the major public 
consultation will then occur, which will help inform the decisions taken.  This 
will be the full list of ‘officer options’,  so that residents are fully informed of the 
choices that face the Council.   After November,  Consultation 2 will follow but 
focussed more on implementation and individual need, rather than the 
primary choices; 

 
• Decisions (December and January) – the Cabinet will recommend to two 
separate Council meetings, packages for adoption and implementation; 

 
• End (late-February) – the Council meeting in late-February will set the Council 
Tax and address matters that have arisen,  usually from processes that run to 
a later timetable,  such as the final grant announcement by the Government.  
The earlier date will help ensure timely implementation.  

 
3.2 The timetable will develop,  as later information becomes available.  It currently 

shows the interlink to the closure of the 2012-13 accounts and the in-year 2013-
14 monitoring.   We are planning to add a line for Shared Services. 

 
 
4 Effect of March 20 Budget  
4.1 The March 20 Budget proposes a further reduction in Government departmental 

spending limits,  equivalent to 1%,  as follows: 
 

• 2013-14  £1.1bn, but not directly affecting local government (LG); 
• 2014-15  £1.2bn,  but the effect on LG is not clear but likely to add to Wirral’s 
Budget gap. The Autumn Statement has already removed 2% from the LG 
spend; 

• 2015-16   Make savings of £11.5bn in department and other budgets, and 
move £3bn a year from revenue to capital; 

• 2016-17and 2017-18 - No figures,  but spending falling in real terms as in  
SR2010. 

 
4.2 The sector changes set out in the Budget, include: 
 

Page 284



 3 

• People - Whole Place Community Budgets and What Works Centres from 
2015-16 to deliver “co-designed public service transformation”; 

• People – Dilnot proposals on adult social care funding from 2016, which is ‘an 
even more challenging timetable’;   

• Places – Single Local Growth Fund from April 2015 – devolving £70bn via 
Local Growth Deals. 

 
4.3 The changes set out at 4.2 are in addition to significant changes that will occur 

from April 2013 onwards.  The interaction of the changes,  in ways that are not 
yet clear,  may increase the level of debt owed to the Council.  That is why there 
is a consensus that 2013 will be a year of greater risk than hereto before.  The 
changes include: 

 
 For individuals 

• The bedroom tax, increasing the rental for households for which smaller 
accommodation is not available in the short or medium term; 

• Council Tax benefit reduction,  an increased cost for households,  many who 
have never paid Council Tax; 

• The conversion of disability living allowance to personal independence 
payments with 500,000 no longer in receipt; 

• Reduced availability of crisis loans;  
• Rent direct,  whereby tenants can make a choice as to where to apply their 
rent benefit,  which may result in arrears and evictions; 

• The removal of legal aid for advice on benefits, housing, divorce,  debt,  
education and employment,  with a predicted increase in self advocacy in the 
courts,  and slower turnaround times; 

 
For the Council 
• National Insurance employers increase; 
• Pension Fund Revaluation; 
• Individual Voter Registration; 
• Business rate income less than planned. 

 
 
5 Next Steps 
5.1 The detailed timetabling is beginning to be developed,  so that meetings are 

properly aligned,  and the lessons from the last budget round are incorporated.  
Work will begin from the middle of April. 

 
 
6 Relevant risks 
6.1 The increase in the level of risk is explored in section 4 above.   
 
7.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
7.1 None. 
 
8.0 CONSULTATION 
8.1 The dates shown at Annex 1 for the Overview and Scrutiny Committees are 

those in the existing publicly available Calendar.  Not yet formally adopted are 

Page 285



 4 

proposals to enhance the consultation process with specific Budget Consultation 
O&S Committees.  The draft dates are: 

 
November   - Monday 4th, Tuesday 5th and Wednesday 6th 
December - Monday 2nd, Tuesday 3rd and Wednesday 4th 
January - Monday 27th, Tuesday 28th and Wednesday 29th 
February - Tuesday 11th, Wednesday 12th and Thursday 13th. 

 
9.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 
9.1 As yet, there are no implications for voluntary, community or faith groups. 
 
10.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
10.1 The whole report is about significant resource implications. 
 
11.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no legal implications. 
 
12.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
12.1 An Equality impact assessment is attached to this report. 
 
13.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
13.1 None. 
 
14.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
14.1 None. 
 
 
15.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
15.1 As set out at 1.1 and 1.2 above.  
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Timmins 
  Director of Finance Interim 
  Telephone:  0151 666 3491 
  Email:  petertimmins@wirral.gov.uk 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY 
 
Council Meeting Date 
Executive Team 
 
 

March 28, April 4 

 
F: 130326 V4 April 10

Page 286



 5 

Annex 1 Draft Timetable  (at April 10th) 
 
Strategy budget timeline for 2013-14 Wirral Council

2013 2014
April May June July August September October November December January Feb March

Budget 2013-14 + 2 years
Phase 1 End

Preparation Decision Game
Planned events - Cabinet Sp 18th Awayday

S 25 Statement - robustness of the estimates & the adequacy of the proposed reserves 
Tax Base btwn Dec 1 & Jan 31
Collection Fund as @ Jan 15
Prudential Indicators Jan
Treasury Management - statement on the cashflow and borrowing required 
MTFS  
Capital
Set Council Tax before March 11th. Govt

Scrutiny - Children & Young People 4 23 18 21 17
Scrutiny - Economy & Regeneration 5 3 13 15 6
Scrutiny - Health & Well Being 17 9 4 13 11
Scrutiny - Sustainable Communities 20 17 20 27 19
Scrutiny - Excellence Overview 3 1 27 29 25
Closing 2012-13

Approved by June 30th          Preparation for closing

Finalisation of accounts in accordance with 
latest SORP;  good working papers
Agreement by full Council,  signed

Impact on curent and future years (bad budgets)

Housing Benefit Housing Benefit

Monitoring 2013-14 April to Feb Monitors

M 2 May M 4 July M 6 September M 8 November M 10 January
M 1 April M 3 June M 5 August M 7 October M 9 December M 11 February

April May June July August September October November December January Feb March
F: 130314 V4

Options/Business/Efficiency S
ec
ia
l C
ou
nc
il

S
pe
ci
al
 C
ab
in
et

Policy, Council, 
Corporate Plan, 

Savings 
proposals

C
ou
nc
il 
T
ax

Audit & VfM by External Audit - Grant 
Thornton UK LLP by Sept 30

Phase 2 
Decision

Budget calculations

Major Projects

M
em
be
r 
ag
re
em
en
t &
 b
rie
fin
gs

Announcement

Consultation 1 Consultation 2

Corporate priorities
Medium Term Plan - service/cost and corporate focus
  Outcomes:- Timetable, Spend priorities, cash limits
  And agree new Corporate Plan
Guidelines on budget preparation

Produce base budget,
Corrections, inflation, 
savings and growth
Gross/net & 
subjective/objective

Answer queries on working 
papers

File with DWP by May 31st External Audit- Grant Thornton UK 
LLP sign off by Nov 30

Timetable
Work allocation
Briefings

 

P
age 287



 6 

Annex  2 - Changes to the External Audit regime 
 
 
The Government proposals around the appointment of external auditors will not impact the Council for a 
number of years as Grant Thornton have a contract to 2016/17 as the External Auditor of Wirral Council. 
(Section 3 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 empowers the Audit Commission to appoint an auditor to 
audit the accounts of the Local Authority. That auditor can be an officer of the Commission or a firm of 
accountants). 
 
Background Information 
On the 5 March 2012 the Audit Commission announced the award of contracts for the work currently 
undertaken by the Audit Practice for the period 2012/13 to 2016/17. The government envisages the 
retention of the Audit Commission as a small residuary body until the end of those contracts, to oversee 
them and to make any necessary changes to individual audit appointments. Thereafter, the government 
proposes that a new local audit regime will apply. 
 
The draft Local Audit Bill abolishes the Audit Commission and repeals the Audit Commission Act 1998. It 
also makes provision for the transfer of the Audit Commission’s property, rights and liabilities on closure.  
 
On closure, the current audit contracts that the Audit Commission has with private sector firms for 
carrying out the audit of local bodies will be transferred to another body. The current contracts were let in 
2012 and will run until 2017 (with the possibility of extension until 2020). As it is envisaged that the 
Commission will have been abolished before that date, the contracts will transfer so they can run for their 
full duration. The Government is currently exploring options for where the contracts might transfer to be 
managed after the Audit Commission closes. 
 
The key milestones table below,  sets out the implementation dates of the new framework: 
 
Financial Year Key Milestones in implementing the new framework 
2014/15 Final Year of Audit Commission Framework 

 
Residual Audit Commission closes (before April 2015, subject to Parliamentary 
timetable) 

2015/16 New regulatory regime is introduced 
 
Outsourcing contracts are transferred to another body to run their remaining two years 

 
2017/18 

 
Local bodies appoint their own auditors from the start of the financial year 

 
 
Appointment of the External Auditor 
Only when the Local Audit Bill is enacted will local authorities be able to appoint their own auditors, after 
convening an independent audit panel to give advice on such an appointment. Local Authorities will have 
a statutory duty to appoint their external auditors from a register of local public auditors. 
 
Appointments will be made by Full Council following the advice of an Independent Audit Appointment 
Panel – this panel can be shared across local bodies to facilitate joint procurement exercises. The Audit 
and Risk Management Committee can be used instead of a separate Independent Audit Appointment 
Panel as long as the Audit Committee has a majority of independent committee members. 
 
Audited bodies must run a procurement exercise for their external audit appointment at least every five 
years, although there would be no bar on the reappointment of the incumbent audit firm (for a maximum 
of one five-year term). EU procurement regulations will need to be adhered in the tendering process for 
the external contract when it is due. 
 
Auditors must be appointed by 31 December of the year prior to the relevant financial year. Failure to 
implement the required external appointment process will lead to the Secretary of State directing the local 
public body to appoint an auditor or making the auditor appointment directly.  
 

Page 288



 7 

Audited bodies will be able to remove their auditor, but only after due process, involving the independent 
audit appointment panel and culminating in a public statement of the reasons for the decision. 
 
The draft Bill requires bodies to publicise appointments, the advice of the auditor panel and, if that advice 
has not been followed, the reasons why. 
 
Complaints about individual auditors/current audit provider 
If the Council has a problem with a particular auditor they should contact the provider (Grant Thornton) 
direct. General complaints about the provider, for example, not discharging their responsibilities, should 
be discussed with the Audit Commission.  
 
If the Council required a particular individual to undertake a piece of audit work, they can make the 
request, providing a reasonable explanation for doing so. 
 
Financial Implications 
The existing auditors were procured through a national framework process, that maximised discounts, as 
a result of ‘bulk buying’.   Unless similar arrangements are put in place, the change to a small local 
procurement will,  most likely, result in an increase in cost.  The Council should press for a regional 
approach to procuring its next external auditor. 

Page 289



Page 290

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

       
 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit (from May 
2012) 
 

 

Section 1: Your details:  

 

EIA lead Officer: Peter Molyneux 

 

Email address: petemolyneux@wirral.gov.uk   

 

Head of Section: Tom Sault 

 

Chief Officer: Peter Timmins 

 

Department: Finance  

 

Date: 5 April 2013 

 

 

 
Section 2: What Council proposal is being assessed?  
 
Planning the Budget Process for the Next Budget Round 2014-17 
 

 
Section 2b: Will this EIA be submitted to a Cabinet or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee?  

 

Yes   If ‘yes’ please state which meeting and what date  

 Cabinet 18 April 2013  
 
 Please add hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be published on the 

Council’s website http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-

living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010/finance 
 

Page 291



 2

Section 3: Does the proposal have the potential to affect…… (please tick relevant 

boxes) 

 

ü Services 

 

ü The workforce 

 

ü Communities 

 

ü Other (please state eg: Partners, Private Sector, Voluntary & Community Sector) 

 

If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 4. 

 

¨ None (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to  email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 

 

 

 

Section 4: Does the proposal have the potential to maintain or enhance the 

            way the Council …….. (please tick relevant boxes)                               

                   

¨ Eliminates unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

 

¨ Advances equality of opportunity 

 

ü Fosters good relations between groups of people 

If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 5. 

 

¨ No (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 

 

Page 292



Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

 

 

Section 5: Could the proposal have a positive or negative impact on any of the protected groups (race, gender, disability, 
gender reassignment, age, pregnancy and maternity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, marriage and civil 
partnership)? 

 
 You may also want to consider socio-economic status of individuals. 

                     Please list in the table below and include actions required to mitigate any potential negative impact. 
 
 

Which 
group(s) of 
people could 
be affected 

 
Potential positive or negative impact 

 
 
 

 
Action required to 

mitigate any potential 
negative impact 

 
 

 
Lead person 

 
Timescale 

 
Resource 

implications 

All groups 
 
 
 

Local authorities on a national basis are 
facing significant financial challenges.  These 
include providing future services with reduced 
resources. This will very likely require 
changes to the level of services provided, the 
way they are provided and potentially how 
they are paid for.  This may impact on all 
groups of residents and employees. 

Robust and comprehensive 
budgetary planning and 
consultation arrangements 
are required to ensure that 
decisions are made with as 
much knowledge of impacts 
as possible. This report lays 
out the process as to how 
this will be achieved.  
Separate reports will deal 
further with the detailed 
consultation process and 
the impact of proposed 
decisions as they arise. 

Peter 
Timmins 

On Going Within existing 
resources. 

 
 
 

 
 

    

P
age 293



Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

 
Section 5a: Where and how will the above actions be monitored? 

 

As per timetable annex 1 to the report and regular review by senior officers and Cabinet. 

 

 

 
Section 5b: If you think there is no negative impact, what is your reasoning 

behind this? 

 

There is no negative impact from the report itself. There may be negative impacts from 

budgetary proposals but these will be reported with mitigation as they are brought forward 

in separate reports.  A robust budget planning and consultation process will assist in 

reducing the level of negative impacts. 

 

 
Section 6:  What research / data / information have you used in support of 

this                process? 

 

None applicable 

 

 

 

 
Section 7: Are you intending to carry out any consultation with regard to 

this Council proposal? 

 

Yes / No – (please delete as appropriate) No. If ‘yes’ please continue to section 8.  

 

If ‘no’ please state your reason(s) why: This report lays out the framework for the 

budget process. Consultation will take place as the budget process framework is operated   

 

(please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 

equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 

 

Page 294



Please keep footer at this size to allow Committee Services to paginate 

 

Section 8: How will consultation take place and by when?  

                       
Before you complete your consultation, please email your preliminary EIA to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer in order for the Council to ensure it is 
meeting it’s legal requirements. The EIA will be published with a note saying we are 
awaiting outcomes from a consultation exercise. 

 

 
Once you have completed your consultation, please review your actions in section 5.  
Then   email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for re-publishing. 

  

 
 
Section 9:  Have you remembered to: 

 
a) Add appropriate departmental hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be 

published (section 2b) 
b) Include any potential positive impacts as well as negative impacts? (section 5) 
c) Send this EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer? 
d) Review section 5 once consultation has taken place and sent your completed 

EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer for re-publishing? 

 

 
 

Page 295



Page 296

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Revisions to the Constitution
	Revisions to Constitution Appendix 1
	Revisions to Constitution Feedback Appendix 2
	APRIL 2013 DRAFT CONSTITUTION

	4 Financial Monitoring 2012/13 - Revenue (Month 11)
	5 Financial Monitoring 2012/13 - Capital (Month 11)
	6 Planning the Budget Process for the next Budget Round 2014-17
	EIA Planning the Budget Process 2014-17


